As we celebrate our 80th anniversary, we
must appreciate the fact that we were once
a penny bank, and have since grown into the
prestigious financial institution that we are
today. Despite the economic challenges we
celebrate our accomplishments which have
not only allowed us to survive in this world but
to prosper as a bank. We have grown from a
single branch, to a multi-branch complement,
comprising well over one hundred staff
members, all striving for excellence. As we
look to the future, we shall embrace the
growing challenges, by employing new
strategies, investing in technology and our
staff to enhance service delivery and build
lasting relationships, to maintain our position
as the 1st choice financial services provider on
the island.

Kon nou ka sélébwé Katwiven lanné
anivèsè, nou ni pou apwésyé konmkwé
nou té an Bank katsou èk nou ja pofité pou
wivé an institisyon finasyal ki wèpèstab kon
nou yé jòdi. Magwé chalanj ékonmik, nou
ka sélébwé sa nou akonpli ki pa sèlman kité
nou sové an latè-a mé pou pòspéwé kon an
Bank. Nou ja agwandi kon an sèl bwanch
pou plizyè bwanch èk nou ni plis ki yon san
(100) twavayè ka goumen pou èksèlans.
Kon nou ka gadé an tan ki ka vini, nou
kay anbwasé chalanj ki ka agwandi pa ka
enployé stwatigi nèf, envèsté an tèknologi
èk twavayè nou, avansé sèvis nou épi bati
wilasyon ki kay diwé pou tjenbé posisyon
nou kon Bank pwenyé chwa pou sèvis
finansyal an péyi-a.

VISION STATEMENT
In 2018, 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
is the first choice financial services provider,
ranking in top three in profitability in the
OECS; and an outstanding corporate
citizen with empowered staff and visionary
leaders.

MISSION STATEMENT
To create sustainable value for shareholders
by providing high quality financial solutions
and services to the global market whilst
contributing to national development.

CORE VALUES
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DÉKLAWASYON DI VISYON
An Dé mil dizwit (2018) Pwenmyé Bank
Sent Lisi sé pwenmyé chwa pou ofè sèvis
finasyal ki anpami twa sé Bank-la ki la
tèt pou fè pofi an sé péyi OECS-la; èk an
fòmidab sitwayen entenpwiz ki ka bay
twavayè yo pouvwa èk visyon kondwité.

DÉKLAWASYON DI MISYON
Pou podwi valè sòstenab pou moun
ki ni Pa an Bank-lan pa ka ofè pli ho
kalité solousyon finasyal èk sèvis pou
makèt mòdyal pandan ka kontwibité pou
dévèlòpman nasyonal.

VALÈ PWENSIPAL

Integrity

Onèté

Confidentiality

Konfidansyèl

Accountability

Wèskonsabilité

Professionalism

Pwofèsyonèl
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The Journey Begins

Voyaj-la koumansé

1938-1958
Excerpt from the Voice
Newspaper “... The St.
Lucia Co-operative Bank
Limited opened it’s doors
yesterday and was given a
good send off by the public
who immediately opened
accounts.” “..it’s presence
is not only welcomed but
is a necessity, especially
for those labourers and
others who cannot afford
the deposit required for the
larger Bank.” “....The Board
of Directors comprise men of
integrity in their community.”

Ékwiti hòd papyé jounal
Voice-la “…La Bank Kopéwativ
ovè lapòt-li yè èk I té byen
aksèté pa piblik-la ki ovè kont
an Bank-lan imidiyètman.”
Pwézans-li pa sèlman byen
wisivyè mé sé an nésisité
patikilaman pou labouwè
èk lézòt ki pa ni kapasité-a
pou météé lalonm lajan-a
ki méwité pou sé pli gwan
Bank-lan. Bòd Diwèté-a sé
nonm onèté an konmin yo.

George Palmer

J.B.D Osbourne

Clive Beaubrun

J.Q. Charles

Joseph Devaux

John Pilgrim

Sir Allen Lewis

Riverside Castries,
6
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The composition of the
Board presented a fair
cross-section of the
business community.
None of the Directors
were related to each
other, nor were they
members of the same
business concern. None
had previous banking
experience.

Konposisyon Bòd-la sé
ka pwézanté an bon
sèsyon bizis péyi-a. Pyes
sé Diwèté-a sé fanmi
èk yonalòt, oben yo sé
manm an menm bizis. Yo
pyès pa té ni espéyans an
twavay Bank.

Sir K. Dwight Venner
“That in 1938, a group
of citizens of this
country could dream
that they could aspire
to manage money, in
trust for others and to
make loans, required
courage beyond
what we presently
contemplate.”

Sir K. Dwight Venner “
An Mil nèf san twantwit
an gwoup sitwayen an
péyi sa-a sa wévé ki yo sa
aspiwé pou manajé lajan
an konfyans pou lézòt èk
pou pwété lajan, méwité
kouwaj anho sa nou ka
katjilé pwézanman”.

St. Lucia, W.I.
1st National Bank Annual Report 2018
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Notice is hereby given that the Eighty-First Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 1st National Bank
St. Lucia Limited will be held at the Finance Administrative Centre, Pointe Seraphine, Castries, on
Thursday, 30th May, 2019 at 5:30 p.m.

AGENDA
1. Tabling of Proxies.
2. To confirm the Minutes of the 80th Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on 30th May, 2018.
3. Review of Matters arising out of the Minutes.
4. To consider and adopt the 2018 Report of the Board of Directors.
5. To consider and adopt the Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders for the year ended 31st
December, 2018.
6. To consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2018.
7. To re-appoint the Independent Auditor for the year ending 31st December, 2019.
8. To sanction the payment of a dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors.
9. To elect three Directors.
i. In accordance with Section 4.6 of the Bank’s By-Law No. 1, the following directors retire by rotation:
• Mr. Johnson Cenac – who will not be seeking re-election.
• Mr. Adrian Augier – who will not be seeking re-election.
ii. To fill the vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Mr. Derek George.
NOTE
•

Nominations may be made either in writing or on the prescribed forms and must reach the Bank’s
Corporate Office in Rodney Bay, Gros-Islet at least five (5) days before the day of holding the meeting
(viz. by Friday, 24th May, 2019).

NOMINATION OF CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR OF
1st NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED
NOTE
Every director shall be the holder in his or her own right of at least one hundred unencumbered shares in the capital
of THE COMPANY.
No one (other than a retiring director) shall be eligible to be a director unless notice in writing that he or she is a
candidate for such office shall have been given to THE COMPANY by two other shareholders of THE COMPANY at the
Corporate Office of THE COMPANY in Rodney Bay, Gros-Islet at least five days before the day of holding the meeting
at which the election is to take place.

We, the undersigned Shareholders of the above Bank nominate .................................................................................of
..................................................................................................................... as a candidate for election as a Director of
the Bank at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders ............................................................................................................

Candidate’s Contact No. ...............................................

Email Address ...............................................................

A Shareholder entitled to attend the meeting and vote may appoint a proxy to vote in his/her place.
A person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be
in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, or if such
appointer is a corporation, either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or authority
so authorized. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any
under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at
the Corporate Office of THE COMPANY in Rodney Bay, Gros-Islet not less than forty eight hours before
the time for holding the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote and in
default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

Signed:............................................................................

Signed:............................................................................

........................................................................................
Print Name

........................................................................................
Print Name

Date: ...............................................................................

Date: ...............................................................................

NOTICE is also hereby given that the Share Transfer Book of the Bank will be closed from 15th May, 2019
to 30th May, 2019 both dates inclusive.

Tele. Contact No. ............................................................

Tele. Contact No. ............................................................

Email Address .................................................................

Email Address .................................................................

NOTE

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Henri-Jacques Mangal
Corporate Secretary & Legal Officer
2nd May, 2019
8
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Please refer to pages 10-11 for the Guidelines on minimum criteria for determining fitness for Directorship.
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GUIDELINES ON MINIMUM CRITERIA FOR DETERMINING FITNESS FOR
DIRECTORSHIP are outlined in Section 97 of the Banking Act No. 3 of 2015
Every person who is, or is likely to be a director of the Bank, must be a fit and
proper person to hold the particular position. In general determination of
this status, regard shall be had to the following:(a) the person’s probity, competence and soundness of judgement for
fulfilling the responsibility of a Director;
(b) the academic or professional qualifications or effective experience
in banking, finance, business or administration or any other relevant
discipline of the person concerned;
(c) the diligence with which that person is likely to fulfill the
responsibilities of the position;
(d) whether the interests of depositors or potential depositors of the
Bank are, or are likely to be, in any way, threatened by the person
holding the position;
(e) whether the person is a significant shareholder, director or officer
or holds any position of authority in any licensed financial institution
locally or elsewhere whose licence has been suspended, or revoked or
otherwise than as a result of an amalgamation or voluntary liquidation
or which has been or is being wound up or compulsorily liquidated;
(f) whether the person has failed to satisfy any judgment or order of a
court locally or abroad including the repayment of a debt;
(g) whether the person is an un-discharged bankrupt or has been
declared a bankrupt locally or abroad; and
(h) whether the person has been removed or suspended by a regulatory
authority from serving as a director or officer in a licensed financial
institution or any body corporate locally or abroad.

Continued Overleaf

10
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In addition to the general provisions above, regard must be had to the
previous conduct and activities in business or financial matters of the person,
and in particular, to any evidence that the person nominated as a candidate
has:(a) committed an offence involving fraud or other dishonesty or violence;
(b) contravened any provision made by or under an enactment designed
for protecting members of the public against financial loss due to
dishonesty, incompetence or malpractice by persons concerned in the
provision of banking, insurance, investment or other financial services
or the management of companies or against financial loss due to the
conduct of a discharged or un-discharged bankrupt;
(c) engaged in any business practices appearing to the board to be
deceitful or oppressive or otherwise improper (whether unlawful or
not) or which otherwise reflect discredit on the person’s method of
conducting business;
(d) an employment record which leads the board to believe that the
person carried out an act of impropriety in the handling of his
employer’s business; or
(e) engaged in or been associated with any other business practices or
otherwise conducted himself in a manner as to cast doubt on his
competence and soundness of judgment.
Further, a person nominated as a candidate for Directorship must:
(a) be current in his/her financial commitments and other obligations to
the Bank and other financial institutions; and
(b) not be a member of either the Board, Management or Staff of
institutions involved in business of a financial nature including banking
business.
Note : All Nominees for Directorship are required to complete a Questionnaire provided by the
Bank. Due Diligence will also be conducted by the Bank with respect to all nominees.

1st National Bank Annual Report 2018
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APPOINTMENT OF PROXY

Note
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, or of his or her
attorney duly authorised in writing, or if such appointer be a corporation either under its common seal
or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. A proxy shall have the same rights as the

CORPORATE DATA
Corporate Office

Vieux-Fort Branch

Rodney Bay Marina Sub Branch

Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
P. O. Box 168
Castries, St. Lucia
West Indies
Tel: (758) 455 7000
Fax: (758) 453 1630

Commercial street
P. O. Box 342
Vieux Fort
Tel: (758) 454 6213
Fax: (758) 454 6137

Rodney Bay Marina, Gros Islet
Tel: (758) 455 7050
Fax: (758) 458 4982

Marigot Bay Sub Branch

shareholder appointing him or her as defined in Sections 138 and 145 of THE COMPANIES ACT 1996

Castries Branch

(Rev. 2001). A proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or any adjournment

21 Bridge Street
P. O. Box 168
Castries, St. Lucia
West Indies
Tel: (758) 455 7000
Fax: (758) 453 1630

thereof.

The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any under which it
is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the Corporate
Office of THE COMPANY in Rodney Bay, Gros-Islet not less than forty-eight hours before the time for
holding the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default the

Bureau de Change

Rodney Bay Branch
J.Q.’s Mall
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
Tel: (758) 455-7000
Fax: (758) 452 8884

Marina Village
Marigot Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 455-7302
Fax: (758) 458 3638

George F.L. Charles Airport
Vigie, Castries
Tel: (758) 455-7207
Fax: (758) 451 8482

SWIFT: LUOBLCLC

Choc Bay Sub Branch

Email: manager@1stnationalbankslu.com
Website: www.1stnationalbankonline.com

Mercury Court
Choc Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 455 7042
Fax: (758) 453 0943

instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

A person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SOLICITORS
Floissac, Fleming & Associates

Nigel A. Fulgence
President

AUDITOR
KPMG Barbados & Eastern Caribbean

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
1st Vice President

REGULATOR
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
2nd Vice President

AFFILIATIONS

I............................................................................... of ..................................................................................
being a shareholder of the above company, hereby appoint .......................................................................
of ................................................................................ or failing him/her .......................................................
of .......................................................................my proxy to vote for me and on my behalf at the meeting
of shareholders of the above company to be held on .........................................the .......................... day of
....................................................................., 20 .......... and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof.
Signed this ...................................................................day of ............................................... 20...................
Signed:....................................................................................
.............................................................................................................................
Print Name
12
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Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds
Adrian Augier
Richard Monplaisir
Jennifer Remy
Agosta Degazon
Johnathan Johannes
Managing Director
Henri-Jacques Mangal
Corporate Secretary & Legal Officer

Caribbean Credit Card Corporation (CCCC)
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage (ECHMB)
Caribbean Association of Banks (CAB)
Eastern Caribbean Institute of Banking (ECIB)
Caribbean Association of Audit Committee
Members Inc. (CAACM)
St. Lucia Chamber of Commerce, Industry and
Agriculture (SLCCIA)
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE)
St. Lucia Employers Federation (SLEF)
St. Lucia Hotel & Tourism Association (SLHTA)
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Supporting Saint Lucian Culture

Ka sipòpté kilti Sent Lisi

1958-1979
1959-1979
As an indigenous bank we
are guided by the philosophy
of the founding fathers, that
we need “to contribute to
national development” and
in everything we do, always
be “an outstanding corporate
citizen”. As such it is vital
that we support, develop
and encourage homegrown
creative talent.

14

Kon an bank natal nou ka
twavay pa gid filozofi sé zonmla ki koumansé Bank-la, ki wè
nésiste-a pou kontwibuté
pou dévèlopman nasyonal èk
an tout sa nou ka fè, toujou
fè’y kon an bon sitwayen
etenpwiz. Kon sa I enpòtan
pou nou sipòté, dévòpé èk
kouwajé talan lakay.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Bòd Diwètè

GROSS INCOME

17%

EARNING
PER SHARE

RETURN
ON EQUITY

155%

ASSETS

14%

138%

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars
Year
Operating results
Gross income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Other income
Other operating expenses
After tax income
Balance sheet data
Customer deposits
Common shareholder equity
Total shareholder equity
Total Assets
Common shares issued & paid ('000)
Weighted average shares
Performance
Dividends declared
Earnings per share
Book value
Return on average assets
Return on average equity
Net interest margin
Productivity
Average # of employees
16
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Nigel A. Fulgence
President

2018
$ ' 000

2017
$ ' 000

2016
$ ' 000

2015
$ ' 000

2014
$ ' 000

51,445
38,341
10,997
27,344
13,104
21,882
9,929

43,869
32,960
10,995
21,965
10,909
20,311
3,545

38,821
29,340
10,557
18,783
9,481
17,241
1,457

40,055
30,976
12,374
18,602
9,079
17,274
1,028

42,165
34,796
14,055
20,742
7,369
16,841
481

580,957 540,515 506,388
20,000
7,971
7,971
84,712 77,289 76,006
671,688 626,269 588,367
6,372
5,000
5,000
5,410
5,000
5,000
$
$
$
0.20
0.11
0.10
0.66
0.29
0.21
13.29
15.46
15.20
0.55%
0.24%
0.18%
4.38%
1.90%
1.36%
3.38%
3.09%
3.26%
61.8%
61.0%
62.4%
158
138
126

470,299
7,971
75,185
551,458
5,000
5,000
$
0.00
0.10
15.04
0.09%
0.64%
3.90%
59.9%
125

645,178
20,000
92,930
764,567
6,372
6,372
$
0.25
1.56
14.58
1.38%
11.8%
3.81%
54.1%
166

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Vice President

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
2nd Vice President

Johnson Cenac
Director

Tedburt Theobalds
Director

V. Adrian Augier
Director

Richard Monplaisir
Director

Jennifer Remy
Director

Agosta Degazon
Director

Johnathan Johannes
Managing Director
1st National Bank Annual Report 2018
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Wapò Bòd Diwètè
I have the honour and pleasure, on behalf of
the Board of Directors, to report that the year
2018 was of major historical significance for
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, not only for
the celebration of 80 years since its founding
but for its strong overall performance and
achievements. The Bank posted drastically
improved financial results during the year, while
introducing unique new products and initiatives
that helped cement its reputation as a most
responsive, socially responsible and customercentric financial institution.
Income after tax more than doubled to $9.9
million from the $3.5 million recorded in 2017,
thus further consolidating the growth trend
experienced since 2014. Indeed, it has been a
remarkable, sustained turnaround from the
$0.2 million loss recorded in 2013. This was
achieved through strong income, asset growth
and effective cost controls that underscored
the commitment and focus of our integrated
team of directors, management and staff. Solid
overall asset growth, new customer acquisition,
enhancements to both our digital and in-branch
customer experience, successful corporate
outreach and educational interventions are
all accomplishments during our 80th year
with which we are delighted. This, of course,
positively impacts shareholder value and should
set the Bank firmly along the Board’s recently
adopted strategic pathway that aims to move it
from merely good to truly GREAT.

Nigel A. Fulgence
President

18
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“

“

Leadership is the capacity to translate
vision into reality

We are proud of the Bank’s distinction as the
nation’s first indigenous bank and even more
gratified by the innovativeness of our new
products such as the first-ever 100% financed
mortgage, introduced to commemorate our

Mwen ni lonnè-a èk plézi-a an non di Bòd di
Diwèté-a pou wapòté ki, lanné Dé mil dizwit
(2018) sé té yonn ki té ni anpil signifikans pou
1st National Bank Sent Lisi, pa sèlman pou
sélébwasyon katwiven (80) lanné dépi I établi,
mé pou achivman’y ki té fòmidab. Bank-lan
pòsté pli mèyè wésilta finans pou lanné-a
pandan ka entwodwi pwodwi nèf èk initiativ
ki endé konsolidé wépétisyon’y kon an bank
ki pli fò an wéaktif, wèkonsabilité sosial èk
enstitisyon finasyal Klian.
Benéfis apwé tax sé té plis ki dé fwa pou
$9.9 milyon sòti an $3.5 milyon an dé mil
sèz (2017), ka montwé pofitman ki Bank-lan
ka èspiyansé dépi Dé mil katoz (2014). Sa sé
an pèfòmans wimakab kon Bank-lan sòti an
pèdant di zéwo pwen dé milyon ($0.2M) an
Dé mil twèz (2013). Sa té achivé pa fò benèfis,
pofitman an pwopyété èk kontwòl dépans
pa konmitman Bòd Diwètè, manajman èk
twavayè. Solid pofitman pwopyètè, klian
nèf, siksé an endikasyon, tout akonpli an
katwenven (80) lanné ki té fè nou plézi. Sa té
ni impak positiv asou valè jan ki ni lo an Banklan. Sa siposé fè bank-lan alé adan an chimen
pou sòti an bon pou antwé an fòmidab.
Nou kontan épi distinsyon Bank-lan kon
pwenmyé bank natal péyi-a èk pli an jèwté
pou inovasyon épi pwodwi nèf kon San pousan

1st National Bank Annual Report 2018
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT Cont’d
80th year of operations. This unparalleled
campaign has been well supported by our
existing and new customers and reinforces our
founding principles of being a pioneer in the
development of products and services to improve
the lives of Saint Lucians. The Bank was founded
on the simple philosophy of people looking after
people and has distinguished itself over the
past two decades for its exceptional corporate
social responsibility initiatives that empower
communities and enrich lives.

(100%) finans pou kay entwodwi pou katwiven
lanné opéwasyon’y. Kanmpénn sa-a ja byen
sipoté pa klian nou èk sa ka enfòsi pwensip nou
ki fè nou an pyonné an dévlopman pwodwi
èk sèvis pou ògmanté lavi Sent Lisen. Banklan té établi asou an filozòfi; mounn ka gadé
pou mounn èk ja fè kò’y pou plizyè tan pou
wèkosabilité sosial ki ka fè lavi mounn mèye.

business. Having the local knowledge allows us
the flexibility to adapt our policies and procedures
to match economic realities and understand
this small, highly competitive and challenging
domestic market. Whilst the current economic
environment did not appear to hinder our Bank’s
performance, we can surely imagine what we can
accomplish as the St. Lucian economy becomes
more buoyant.

The year was not however, without its challenges
and setbacks. Unforeseen problems during
construction delayed the relocation of our Vieux
Fort Branch from Commercial Street to New
Dock Road, thereby deferring the expected
improvement in our in-branch customer
experience and possibly affecting new customer
acquisition. We are nevertheless pleased to
report that the move was completed in February
2019 and our new location is offering a much
more comfortable setting for both our customers
and staff. The ribbon cutting ceremony for the
Vieux Fort Branch was held on 10 February and
the Branch opened for business the following day
on 11 February.

Lanné-a pa té san poblenm kanmenm.
Poblenm ki pa té antisipé diwan konstwiksyon
bwanch VieuxFort nou sòti an lawi konmèsyal
pou Chimen New dock. Sa anpéché nou tové
pli klian. Kanmenm nou kontan pou di pojé
sa-a fini an Féviyé dé mil disnèf (2019) èk
lokasyon-an konfòtab pou Klian èk twavayè.
Séwimoni-a pou koupé wiban-an an Vieux-Fort
té pwan kou li dis Févwiyé èk bwansh-lan ouvè
lapòt-li li denmen li wonz Févwiyé

Notwithstanding our success, this is no time to
be complacent. We ushered in a new strategic
plan that aims to further transform the Bank
from good to GREAT. This 2019-21 strategic plan
retains the previously adopted mission statement
but embraces a new vision that sees 1st National
Bank in 2025 as, “… a prudent, innovative,
customer centric, technologically driven and
socially responsible employer of choice that is the
Caribbean’s leading financial services provider,
ranking in the top three in profitability”. It is
indeed a tall order to achieve but given the current
trajectory of growth and overall performance,
the Board is confident that with the expertise,
commitment and drive of its sterling team of
management and staff, the vison will be attained.

We were also affected during the year by the
ongoing correspondent banking issue that
has hindered the Bank from offering letters of
credit to our commercial clients. Although a
permanent solution to this conundrum does not
seem imminent, we remain hopeful that ongoing
efforts at the political and diplomatic levels will
result in a breakthrough in the not too distant
future. Fortunately, however, this delay and
other challenges did not prevent the Bank from
recording one of our best overall performances
to date. This is a testament to the resolve of
our people as well as the commitment of our
highly motivated staff to our customers and their
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Nou té osi tové afèté pa zafè correspondent
banking ki anpéché nou ofè lèt di kwédi pou
klian konmèsyal nou. Magwé an solousyon
pa pwé nou ka kwè sa kay wézoli toswit.
Kanmenm sa èpi lòt poblenm pa apéché nou
achivé pli mèyè pèfonmans pou tout tan. Sa
sé testanman pou fòs pèp nou èk konmitman
pèsonèl Bank-lan pou biznis klian nou. Konm
nou konèt enfomasyon lokal I ka kité nou awanjé
biznis nou an ling di ekonomi laplas domètik.
Pandan lantman enkonomi péyi-a paté tjenn
pefonmans Bank-lan dèyè, ou sa katjilé ki sa

Our Board of Directors’ outlook for 2019
is understandably optimistic, as the Bank
consolidates its performance and moves
confidently towards achieving its vision of being
the most profitable bank in the Caribbean. We
anticipate a sustained growth momentum, based
on our new strategies as well as the projected
growth for the country and projections for
robust increases in both deposits and loans,
which are critical to the continued growth of our
asset base and profitability. In order to achieve
this growth, our primary focus will remain on
customer related initiatives which enhance
customer delivery excellence. Additionally, we

Bank-lan té kay akonpli si enkonomi-a vini pli
bwigan.
Magwé gwan siksé nou, sa pa té lè pou nou
té asiz. Pou sa nou koumansé plan nèf pou
twansfonmé Bank nou pou sòti an bon pou
fòmidab. Plan stwatigi 2019-21 ka tjenn misyon
nou ki nou ja ni, mé I ka enbwasé a visyon nèf.
Bòd Diwètè-a ni konfyans ki épi konmitman
manajman `ek pèsonèl yo kay achivé visyon nèf
la.
Pèspektiv Bòd Diwètè Bank-lan pou Dé mil
disnèf (2019) twé bon kon Bank-lan ka konsòlidé
pèfomans li èk twavay pou achivé visyon’y pou
bank ki pli pofitab an pèyi kawayib la. Nou ka
antisipé biznis Bank-lan kay pofité menm kon
péyi Sent Lisi èk deposit èk loan kay ògmanté
ki èpotan pou pofitman. Pou achivé sa, nou
kay tjenn antansyon nou asou aktivité klian pou
délivyé sèvis èksèlan.
An plis, an lanné finansyal nèf la, nou kay
gadé pou òpòtinité ki kay pofité Bank-lan. An
pwépawasyon pou voyaj sa-a Bank-lan kay
kontinèlman gadé stwatigi’y pou kontinué
wézilans èk bati an planché pou pwan
népòt òpòtinité sèvis èksèlan èk pofitman
an popiyété.
Nou ja plané pou ògmanté
kontwibisyon nou pou enkonomi-a, pa ka mété
antansyon asou Piti épi Mwayen entenpwiz
(SME’s). Sa sé manyè-a pou pousé pofitman
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will pursue synergistic opportunities that will continue
to grow the Bank. In readiness for this journey, the Bank
is continuously reviewing its processes and strategy to
maintain resilience and build the platform for capitalizing
on the many available opportunities for service
excellence and asset growth. We plan to increase our
contribution to the economy by giving micro, small and
medium enterprises (MSME’s) considerable attention.
These are touted as a strong means to boost economic
growth in the country, with capacity to generate
revenue, employment and improve standards of living.
Consequently, we have continued our partnership
with the German Savings Bank to make this a reality
in 2019 by planning the establishment of an MSME
Competency Centre, specifically to cater to the needs
of this growing sector. We are excited about continuing
to invest in new technology, which will redound to
excellent service delivery, and have made it a priority for
2019 by allocating a total of $2 million for this purpose.
Coupled with our marketing strategy, we expect profits
to increase by more than single digits in 2019. We also
expect return on equity (ROE) to be as strong as that of
2018 and are committed to ensuring sustained dividend
growth and distribution to shareholders.
Financial soundness and adherence to our statutory and
regulatory obligations is important to the Bank and we
will continue to work closely with the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) and the Ministry of Finance on
measures to strengthen the domestic and regional
financial systems, within the context of international
transparency, sound risk and compliance practices
and corporate governance. Indeed, we have recently
engaged the Board of Directors and senior management
in corporate governance training, as well as compliance
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enkononi péyi-a pou genéwé pofi, twavay èk
ògmantasyon lavi. Pou sa nou ka kontiné kanmawad
nou épi German Savings Bank pou fè sa an wiyalité an
2019 pa ka établi an MSME Competency Centre pou
bay sa sèktè-a méwité.
Nou èksité pou ka kontiné envèsti an tèknologi nèf
ki kay bay sèvis èksèlan. Nou ja fè alokasyon pou an
total di Dé milyon dola ($2M) pou pojé sa-la. Épi
stwatigi sa-la nou ka antisipé pofi kay ògmaté adan
an gwan manyé an Dé mil diznèf (2019). Nou osi ka
antisipé ROE kay fò kon 2018 èk nou komité pou asiwé
pofitman dividend pou klian ki ni lo an Bank-lan.
Solidité finansyal èk ka obéyi 0bligasyon wégoulè
enpòtan pou bank-lan, èk nou kay kontiné twavay
pwé épi ECCB èk Ministè Finans asou wèg pou afosi
sistenm finansyal domestic èk wijonal adan an manyè
twaspawan entennasynal, twavay konplyans èk
govenans entenpwiz. Nou ja engajé Bòd Diwète.èk
Manajman pou entwenman an govenans entenpwiz,
konmplyans, asèsman èk nou ka posédé épi
entwenman Manajman Wisk entenpwiz. Kon nou
ka pwogwé, nou wékògnizé ki enfòsman gouvenans
Bank-lan kwitik; kon sa nou kay konsentwé an ka
atwakté talan an analizé wis kwédi, enfonmasyon
tènologi èk dévèlòpman wésòs pèsonèl pou asiwé pli
gwan sévélans pou ka fè disizyon ki enfèktiv. An sa

assessments and we are moving ahead with extensive
enterprise wide risk management training.
As we progress, we recognize that further
strengthening of our governance framework is critical
and so the focus will be on attracting talent in credit
risk analysis, information technology and human
resource development to ensure broader oversight for
effective decision making. In so doing, we will enhance
the customer experience and service delivery to our
clients, by working with our regulators to minimise
systemic risks as we seek to improve our corporate
outreach to forge a better society and by extension
build a stronger nation.
In consolidating our position as a leader in corporate
social responsibility, social and economic inclusiveness
will be a top priority for 1st National Bank St. Lucia
Limited. Building on the remarkable performance of
2018, in 2019 and beyond, the Bank will continue to
distinguish itself as the bank of and for Saint Lucians.
It will roll out more community empowerment
programmes by supporting selected cultural, sporting,
educational and environmental preservation initiatives
that uplift the lives of ordinary people.

nou kay ògmanté èspéyans klian-nou èk sèvis nou èk
twavay épi kontwòlè-a pou diminwé wis sistenmatic
kon nou ka éséyé pou vini on pli mèyè sosiyété èk bati
an nasyon ki pli fò.
An ka konsolidé posisyon nou kon an lida an
weskonsabilité entenpwiz sosial, sosial èk tout bagay
enkonomik, kay piyòwité 1st National Bank of St. Lucia
Limited. Ka bati asou pèfonmans wimakab an 2018, an
2019 èk lanné ka vini, Bank-lan kay kontiné gadé kò’y
kon Bank di Sent Lisi pou Sent Lisien. Bank-lan kay
fè pli pogwanm enfòsman pou konmin pa ka sipoté
spò, kilti, endikasyon èk enviwanman pou ògmanté
lavi mounn. Nou kay wété vwéman pou mandat nou
pou potjiwé bon pofi asou envèsman klian nou. An
sa, nou kay ògmanté èspéans èk sèvis klian nou pa ka
Twavay épi wègoultè pou minimizé wisk kon nou ka
éséyé pou enpouvé twavay entenpwiz pou an mèyè
soséyété èk pou bati an nasyon ki pli fò.

Nigel A. Fulgence
President
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The Board of Directors and the respective Committees met regularly
over the 2018 financial year, so as to better position the Bank in the
dynamic Banking Industry. The Table below illustrates the attendance
for the various meetings held during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE - 2018

BOARD

9

9

8

1

8

3

3

8

8

1

8

3

4

BOARD & COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Directors

Nigel Fulgence

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

Johnson Cenac

Tedburt Theobalds

V. Adrian Augier

Richard Monplaisir

*Martin Satney

5

1

2
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Jennifer Remy

*Agosta Degazon

*Derek George

3

As part of the Bank’s Commitment to keep its Directors
up to date with the ever-changing developments
within the banking industry, 1st National Bank St.
Lucia Limited embarked on an extensive training
schedule to ensure that our Directors were properly
equipped to handle the oncoming challenges.
Two Directors were trained in Effective Credit Risk
Management, while the entire Board was trained
in Corporate Governance, IFRS 9, Anti-Money
Laundering (AML) and Strategic Planning and
Execution using the Balanced Scorecard. In addition
to the above, a Director’s Resource Library was
created comprising the following publications: Bank
Director Survival Guide, Basics for Bank Directors,
The Bank Director’s Handbook, and The Handbook
of Corporate Governance.

9

BOARD TRAINING

Johnathan Johannes

On 2nd July 2018, Mr. Derek George tendered his
resignation from the Board of Directors resulting in
a vacancy being created.

*Mr. Martin Satney retired from the Board of Directors on 30th May, 2018.

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on
30th May 2018, three Directors namely Mr. Nigel A.
Fulgence, Mrs. Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel and
Mr. Martin Satney retired by rotation. Mr. Martin
Satney did not seek re-election. Mr. Nigel A.
Fulgence and Mrs. Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel were
re-elected to the Board of Directors. They were
joined by newcomers Mr. Agosta Degazon and Mr.
Derek George.

*Mr. Agosta Degazon and Mr. Derek George were appointed to the Board of Directors on 30th May, 2018.

BOARD CHANGES

*Mr. Derek George resigned from the Board of Directors on 2nd July, 2018.

BOARD & BOARD COMMITTEE
MEETINGS 2018
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Celebrating the Youth of St. Lucia

Sélébwasyon jennès Sent Lisi

1980-2000
1980-200
The
Bank’s
contribution
to sports and promoting a
healthy lifestyle is embedded
in its Core Values.
The
Bank has been credited
for
encouraging
World
Renowned Olympic Finalist
and World Number 5 ranked
High Jumper Levern Spencer
by giving her the opportunity
to compete at the 1st National
Bank 14 and under Track and
Field Championships during
her formative years.
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Kontwibisyon Bank-la pou spò
èk ka pwomoté bon santé,
fon adan valè pwensipal-nou.
Bank-lan ja konèt kon yonn ki
ka kouwajé Levern Spencer ki
sé limowo senk (5) an gwan
soté mòdial pou ka bay chansla pou’y patisipé an Track
and Field sipòté pa Bank-la
pou manmay katoze zan èk
mwens.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S
REPORT
Wapò Diwètè
A.

Achievements

Notwithstanding the prolonged sluggish domestic
economy and the increasingly intense competition
for customer credit among commercial banks in Saint
Lucia, 2018 was indeed a momentous and record
performing year for 1st National Bank. As the first
indigenous commercial bank in Saint Lucia, I am, of
course, elated about our profitability accomplishments
and just as pleased with our improvement in
customer satisfaction and bank soundness ratings.
Additionally, we have consolidated our reputation for
incomparable corporate social responsibility and have
added public educational initiatives to engender more
informed debate and discussion on pertinent national
development issues. We wish, therefore, to reassure
our shareholders that our Bank is sound, profitable
and well poised to build on our excellent service
delivery, customer retention, staff development and
people empowerment standards, as we continue the
journey from Good to GREAT.

Johnathan Johannes
Managing Director

Financial Performance
In nominal terms, we enjoyed an extraordinary aftertax profit of $9.9 million, being the highest since
the impact of the global meltdown which occurred
approximately ten years ago. This performance
was 180% higher than that achieved for 2017. This
remarkable achievement is attributable to year on year
growth in all major revenue streams while effecting
stringent cost controls without compromising service
delivery and productivity. In 2018, we witnessed a rise
of 16% in interest income with a resultant net interest
income growth of 24% over the prior year. Similar
gains were achieved in other income. Customer
deposits grew by 11% year over year, fuelling a 14%
rise in total assets to $765 million and well within
reach of the targeted $810 million for the end of 2019.
I am pleased to note that our key performance
indicators (KPI’s) for 2018 improved. It has truly been
a remarkable 80th anniversary year. The outstanding
financial performance solidified the Bank’s profitability
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A.

Akonplisman

Magwé enkonomi domèstik Sent Lisi té lantman
pou anpil tan èk konpétisyon fatigan kwedi klian
anpami bank konmèsyal an péyi-a, Dé mil dizwit
(2018) sé an lanné koté Pwenmyé Bank Nasyonal
(1st National Bank) té pèfomé fonmidabman. Kon
an bank konmèsyal natal Sent Lisi, mwen kontan
anpil pou gwantman pofi ki nou akonpli èk kontan
osi pou satisfaksyon klian nou èk manyè bank nou
solid. An plis, nou ja konsolidé wépitasyon nou pou
wèkonsabilité sosial ki enkonpawab èk nou ja ajouté
endikasyon piblik pou éfonmé, déba èk diskisyon
asou bagay ki ka konsené developman nasyonal.
Nou vlé bay asiwans pou moun ki ni lo an bank nou
konmkwé Bank-lan solid, ka fè pofi èk pawé pou bati
asou sèvis èksèlans nou, tjenn klian nou, dévèloman
pèsonèl bank-lan èk enfosi moun kon nou ka kontiné
navijé soti an bon pou fonmidab.

Pèfonmans Finansyèl
An tènm nominal, nou jwi pofi èstwòdinè apwé
tax an neuf pwen neuf (EC$9.9) milyon dola ki sé
pli ho an katwiven (80) lanné listwa nou, ki sé yan
san katwiven pousan (180%) pli ho ki Dé mil disèt
(2017). Achivman wémakab sa-a té vini pa lanné
asou lanné pofitman an tout koté lajan ka genéwé
pandan ka kontwòlé dépans san déwanjé sèvis
nou èk pwodòktivité. An Dé mil diswit (2018) nou
témwené a hosman pa sez pousan (16%) benéfis
lantéwé ki wésilté an benéfis pofitman pou venkat
pousan (24%) èk menm gany an lòt benéfis pandan
ka tjenn dépans menm a nivo Dé mil disèt (2017).
Lajan dépozit klian pofité pa wonz pousan (11%)
lanné asou lanné, ka fè an katoz pousan (14%)
hosman an tout pwopyété pou Sèt san swasant cinq
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and competitiveness thrust, as evidenced by a marked
increase in return on equity (ROE) from 4.38% in 2017
to 11.18% in 2018. Earnings per share jumped from
$0.66 in 2017 to $1.56 in 2018 and return on assets
from 0.55% to 1.38%. Further, the capital adequacy
ratio, (although slightly lower than the 19% recorded
in 2017), is indicative of the improved management
of the Bank’s assets and is comfortably higher than
the acceptable industry standard of 10% to 12%. This
is an indication that the Bank is sound.
Our net loans and advances portfolio grew from $385
million to $502 million, representing a 30% year on
year jump. This growth figure is unheard of in the
market and places 1st National Bank as one of the
fast-growing banks in the sub region. This is truly a
significant achievement for Saint Lucia’s first and only
locally owned bank. With hard work, commitment and
a deliberate focus on becoming the lender of choice
for a growing number of individuals and businesses
on island, we produced excellent growth results.
Aggressive growth must be pursued responsibly and
the accomplishments of our Sales, Credit Assessment
and Recoveries Teams must also be commended, as
we continued to see our non-performing loans (NPL)
ratios reduce from 15.6% in 2016, to 12.6% in 2017

CONT’D

milyon dola ($765M) èk pwé tagèt Wit san dis milyon
dola ($810M) pou bout lanné Dé mil diznèf (2019).
Mwen kontan pou di ki wésilta Dé mil dizwit (2018)
plasé 1st National Bank (Pwenmyé Bank Natsyonl)
plis davans an tout set KPIs an twa (3) lanné
stwatigi nou. I té véwitabman an lanné wimakab.
Péfòmans èksèsyonèl Bank-lan solidifyé pofi’y èk fòs
konpitisyon’y kon I èvidan an ògmantasyon pofi asou
pa Bank-lan (ROE) sòti an Kat pwen twantwit pousan
(4.38) an Dé mil disèt (2017) pou wonz pousan dis
wit (11.18%) an Dé mil dizwit (2018) èk pofi asou
pa soté; soti a zéwo pwen swasant sis dola ($0.66)
an Dé mil disèt pou Yan dola senkant sis ($1.56) an
Dé mil dizwit (2018) èk pofi asou popyétè sòti zéwo
pwen senkant senk pousan (0.55%) pou yon pwen
twent wit pousan (1.38%). An plis capital adequacy
ratio, magwé timiyet pli ba ki diznèf pousan (19%)
an Dé mil disèt (2017), ka montwé pwogwé an
manajman popyété Bank-lan ki konfòtabman pli ho
pasé standa aksèptab l’endòstwi-a ki sé dis (10%)
pou douz pousan (12%). Sa ka montwé ki Bank-lan
solid.

and a further reduction to 8.65% in 2018. Our focus
continues to be on improving the quality of the credit
portfolio by registering good loans onto the books,
improving our management efforts and customer
consultations to ensure that those clients exhibiting
signs of early credit strain are assisted in a timely
manner that would curtail future delinquencies. As
a business, we remain committed to achieving and
surpassing the ECCB’s NPL guideline of no greater than
5% and will continue using this metric as one of the
key measures of our banking soundness rating. It is
not often that the functions of a Finance Department
are celebrated, and I must add that, to their
detriment, many companies still tend to view Finance
as a financial reporting function. At 1st National Bank,
we view our Finance team as key strategic partners
charged with driving our overall profitability through
productive spending. I am most proud of the banking
efficiency ratio that we have been able to achieve
this year, coming in at 54.1%, down from 57.7% in
the prior year. The bank efficiency ratio is a quick and
easy measure of a bank’s ability to turn resources
into revenue. The lower the ratio, the better, with
50% generally regarded as the optimal ratio.

Non-Financial Performance
Whilst profit growth continues to be a key performance
target for our business, we have also identified
return on equity, customer satisfaction and banking
soundness ratings as mission critical key performance
indicators. As part of our 80th anniversary celebrations
we introduced a 100% financed mortgage product,
which was a first for our industry. The offer was
limited to the first 80 Saint Lucians to qualify and it
was well received by the general public. I would like
to thank our teams in Finance and Credit Assessment
for conducting the much-needed research and
analysis, which provided the requisite information to
allow us to make the decision to roll out this product
as well as our Marketing Team for crafting a world
class marketing campaign to support this product for
80 new homeowners. The response to date has been
overwhelming and whilst our goal of creating 80 new
St. Lucian homeowners has not yet been achieved,
due primarily to the length of time it takes to find the
right property or to design and build, I am happy to
report that we are working closely with well over 100
potential borrowers to make their home ownership
dreams a reality.
Achieving these significantly improved results in our
80-year history is by no means an easy task and I
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Lalònm loan nou ògmanté sòti a Twa san katwiven
senk milyon
dola ($385M) pou Senk san kat milyon ($502M) ki sé
twant pousan (30%) plis ki lannè avan. Nòmalman ou
pa ka tan sé pawòl pofitman sala apami Bank èk sa
plasé 1st National Bank kon bank-lan ki ka pofité pli vit
and wijon-an. Sa sé vwéman an achivman wimakab
pou pwenyé Bank lokal Sent Lisi. Épi twavay wèd,
konmitman èk konsentwé entensyonel pou ka vini
bank chwa pou moun èk biznis pou pwété lajan, nou
ja pwodwi wézilta ki fòtifyan. Nou ni pou konplimanté
pèsonèl Bank-lan ki ka twavay an asèsman kwédi pou
bon job-la yo ka fè-a kon nou wè loan ki pa ka péfòmé
(NPL) désann sòti an kenz pwen sis pousan (15.6%)
an De mil sèz (2016) pou douz pwen sis pousan
(12.6%) an Dé mil disèt (2017) pou wit pwen swasant
senk pousan (8.65%) an Dé mil dizwit (2018). Nou
ka konsentwé asou kontiné ògmanté santé potfolio
kwédi nou pa ka pòté bon loan an Bank nou èk ka
òmanté éfò nou pou bay klian nou gid pou anpéché
sa ki kay ni poblenm an payé loan yo pou bésé asou
délika Bank-lan. Kon an biznis nou kay kontiné éséyé
achivé èk pasé gid ECCB asou loan ki pa ka péfomé
pa plis ki senk pousan (5%) èk nou kay kontiné sèvi
mizi sa-la pou miziwé fòs Bank nou. Sé pa suovan
nou ka sélebwé Dépatman Finans, èk mwen pou
ajouté pou lapenn yo koté anpil konpani ka gadé
Finans kon yon ki ka wapoté sèlman. An 1st National
Bank nou ka gadé pèsonèl Finans nou kon moun ki
ka kondwi pofi nou pa dépans podòtiv. Mwen ni la
chagès di banking efficiency ratio ki nou achivé pou
lanné isi ki sé senkant kat pwen yan pousan (54.1%)
pli ba ki lanne pasé ki té senkant sèt pwen sèt pousan
(57.7%). Mizi Bank efficiency ratio sé an manyè ou
sa miziwé vitman èk fasilman, abilté Bank-lan pou
tounen wésòs an benéfis.

Pèfonmans ki pa Finansyal
Pandan òmantasyon an pofi ka kontiné wété òbjètiv
pèfomans biznis nou, nou ja osi identifyé Return
on Equity; Satisfaksyon klian èk Banking Sounding
ratings kon sa ki ka montwé pèfomans nou. Kon pat
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am especially proud of the collective effort of our
entire team. In our small island economy with its
limited production possibilities, relative resource
constraints and constricted market size, the journey
from Good to GREAT is not for the faint hearted.
At the end of 2017, we set some very aggressive
and ambitious performance goals for our business
and, by extension, for every member of our team.
We were determined to make 2018, our 80th year
of operation, “The Best Year Ever”. In so doing, we
set about creating a culture of being comfortable
with discomfort. It is understandable that given
the daunting tasks required for attaining such a
challenging goal, along with our inherent fear of
failure, we might resist setting such high targets.
However, it is my humble view that comfort is
overrated. It doesn’t lead to GREATNESS. It makes
us lazy and often leads to self-absorption, boredom,
and discontent. Discomfort is a catalyst for growth
and makes us yearn for something more. It forces us
to change, expand our perspective, stretch beyond
erstwhile limits, and adapt. Discomfort is a sign of
progress. We have all heard the expression, “no
pain, no gain.” When you push yourself to grow, you
will experience discomfort, but it will be worth it.
This is the belief that drives our vision and compels
us to stay the course in pursuit of excellence. I am
honoured to report that our team has bought into
this message and did not shrink from discomfort
but rather allowed it to guide us all to the
accomplishments of 2018. 2018 may not have been
our best year ever in terms of profit after tax, but it
has certainly signalled that we are on the right path
on our journey.

Corporate Social Responsibility
We are on a journey from good to GREAT and
what this entails is growing in a profitable and
SUSTAINABLE manner. For our 80th anniversary
in 2018, the focus was on brand awareness whilst
educating our customers and the citizenry. In
pursuit of that distinct brand positioning, a series of
innovative media campaigns, advertisements, and
sponsorship deals were unfurled throughout the
year with the “To us it’s personal” tagline receiving
regular television rotation and reassuring feedback
from the general public. This, along with the 100%
financed mortgage offer, has helped to attract
new customers to the Bank and burnish its image
as the “Bank of and for Saint Lucians”. In seeking
to contribute towards a more informative public
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di sélébwasyon katwiveném anivèsè Bank-lan, nou
entwodwi san pousan (100%) lajan pwété pou fè
kay ki té pwenyé an l’industwi nou. Ofè sa-la té pou
pwemyé katwiven (80) Sent Lisien ki kalifyé pou loanlan èk té byen wisivè pa piblik-la. Mwen vlé wimèsyé
pèsonèl dipatman Finans èk asèsman kwédi pou
ka fè wichès ki potjiwé enfòmasyon ki fè nou pwan
disizyon pou entwdwi pwodwi sa-la. Moun byen
wisivwè sé loan sa-la. Pandan nou vlé bati katwiven
kay bay Sent Lisen, sa poko fèt kom I ka pwen tan
pou jwenn tè pou bati sé kay-la. Mwen kontan pou
wapoté nou ka twavay pwé èpi plis ki yon san (100)
entèpwinè pou fè wèv kay yo vini on wiyalité.
Ka achivé pli mèyè wésita an katwiven (80) lanné
listwa nou pa té fasil èk mwen ni logè’y pou éfò kolètif
sé pèsonèl Bank-lan fè. Adan ekonomi Ti péyi nou-an
ki posibilité pwodòsyon limité èk an piti laplas sòti
an bon pou fòmidab sé pa pou chè fèb. An bout Dé
mil disèt (2017) nou établi pèfòmans òbjètiv ki té twè
agèsif pou biznis nou épi pou pèsonèl Bank-lan. Nou
ditèminè pou fè katwiven lanné opéwasyon nou “Pli
mèyè Lanné nou”. An sa nou ka établi an kilti ki ka fè
nou konfontab an malè. Nou ka kopann konmkwé
an twavay difisil sa-a èk pèwès pèdant nou pétèt kay
wigisté taget ho sa-la. Kantmenm sé lidé mwen si kon
fò pli ho pa li dwatèt I pa kay wivé pou fòmidab. I ka
fè nou fèyan èk souvanman annwi èk malè. Malè ka
motivé pofitman èk I ka fè nou vlé fè pli. Malè sé an
sinn pwogwé. Nou ja tan pawòl-la “pa ni penn pa ni
gany”. Lè ou pousé kò’w pou pofité ou kay éspéyansé
malè. Mé I kay méwité’y. Sa sé sa kwayans-lan ki ka
kondwi visyon nou èk ka oblijé nou wété an chemen
pou touvé èksèlans. Sé divwa mwen pou wakonté
pèsonèl nou ja anbwasé mèsaj sa-a èk yo pa té étwési
pa malè mè kité’y gidé nou tout pou akonplisman Dé
mil diswit (2018). Démil diswit (2018) pé pa pli mèyè
lanné an pofi apwé tax mé I ja vwéman montwé nou
asou bon chimen voyaj nou.

Wèskonsabilité entenpwiz sosial
Nou adan an chimen sòti an bon pou fòmidab èk sa
ka fè nou pofité an pofi adan an manyè ki sòstenab.

discourse on significant, albeit controversial, subject
matters of relevance to national development,
Marijuana and the Banking industry was the lead
topic at the Bank’s Annual Stanley French Education
Forum. The choice of topic was deliberate, as the
Bank sought to provide a forum for intelligent,
informed discussion on an issue that, although still
divisive emotionally at the domestic, regional and
international level, could significantly impact the
prospects for sustained growth and development in
our small, resource-challenged economy. Another
well received educational interface, that decorated
the 80th anniversary celebrations, was the panel
discussion between a former Managing Director G.
Carlton Glasgow and the current Managing Director
Johnathan J. Johannes. This was a most informative
exchange that sought to recount the Bank’s journey
from 1938 to 2018. It reviewed the myriad challenges,
setbacks, triumphs and accomplishments during that
period and helped to contextualize the import of the
Bank’s continuing existence as well as the significance
of its recent achievements. This was complemented
by a commemorative supplement in the Voice
Newspaper entitled “The Journey”, which chronicled
the Bank’s 80 years of operations, the events and
accomplishments that punctuated that time and the
people who made them happen. Fittingly, during
2018, the Bank also launched its redesigned website,
which contained current information on products
and services, an online banking portal, an outline of
its history as well as its corporate social responsibility
activities in the areas of sports, education, community
outreach, culture, health and wellness. Additionally,
a relaunched television programme dubbed, “1st
National Bank Notes” was designed to lend to the
national financial literacy effort and is also featured
on the upgraded, user friendly website.

B.

Challenges

Given our current correspondent banking
relationships, for which we are truly grateful and on
which we continue to build, some key trade financing
products are currently unavailable to our clients.
We continue to grapple with the implications of the
de-risking issue that has affected the Bank’s ability
to offer letters of credit to our commercial clients.
Our inability to provide this service saw the loss of
opportunities to win the business of some major
corporate clients who rely heavily on this service
for their continued operation. This is obviously a
major concern, as the inability to facilitate letters of

Pou katwiven (80) anivèsè’y an Dé mil dizwit
(2018), antonsyon-an té asou konsyans mak Banklan, pandan ka endiké klian nou èk pèp-la. An sa
nou établi an kolèsyon piblicité èk sponsor diwan
lanné-a èk an slogan “To us it’s personal” (pou nou
I pèsonèl). Sa té konstanman asou télévisyon èk ka
asiwé enfonmasyon rétounen pa piblik-la. Sa épi san
pousan (100%) finans kay endé Bank-lan anmennen
klian nèf èk kléwé imaj li kon “ Bank di èk pou Sent
Lisien”. An ka gadé pou kontwibouté pou an piblik
ki enfòmé, konvèsasyon asou sijé ki enpotan pou
dévèlopman nassyonal kon Marijauna an l’endèstwi
Bank sé té sijé ki té pli fò an Stanley French Education
Forum ki ka pwen kou tou le lanné. Sijé-a té espwé
kon Bank-lan ka éséyé enkouwajé diskisyon asou an
sijé ki moun ni diféwan opiyon domètik, wigonal
èk entonnasyonal ki sa impakté asou dévèlopmn
Ti enkonomi péyi nou. An lòt sijé endikasyon ki té
dékowé katwiven (80) anivèsè Bank-lan sé té an
diskisyon ant Diwètè an tan avan G. Carlton Glasgow
épi Diwètè pwésan Johnathan J. Johannes. Sé Dé
Diwètè-a gadé voyaj bank-lan koumansé lanné Mil
nèf san twant-wit (1938) pou Dé mil dizwit (2018).
Sé Zonm-lan pale di -difikité, siksé akonplisman
diwan péwiòd sa-la ek akoplisman wisenman. Sa té
konplimanté pa an ékwiti an papyé jounal “Voice”
“The Jouney” ki gadé katwiven lanné opéwasyon
Bank-lan èk sé moun-lan ki fè twavay-la maché.
Bank-lan koumansé Website li ki ni enfonmasyon
asou produi’y épi sèvis, listwa’y èk wèkosabilité
entenpwiz sosial li an spò, edikasyon, kilti èk santé.
An plis Bank-lan wikomansé pwogwam Télévisyon’y
lonmen “1st National Bank Notes” ki ka endiké pèp
Sent Lisi asou finans.

B. Difikilté
Épi wilasyon Bank kowèspondan kouwan pou ki
nou byen kontan ék nou ka kontiné bati asou’y;
dévès pwodwi apwézan avalib pou klian nou. Nou
ka koniné goumen épi implikasyon derisking ki ka
afèté abilté Bank-lan pou ofè lèt di kwédi (Letters of
Credit) pou klian konmèsyal nou. Konm nou pa té
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credit (LoC) gives a distinct advantage to the more
established international banks that provide that
service.
Another major challenge is the small scale of our credit
card portfolio. While we enjoyed phenomenal credit
card penetration in 2018, our credit card portfolio
remains relatively small and this lack of critical mass
has prevented us from developing and deploying a
rewards program. A chicken and egg argument can
be made that developing and deploying a rewards
program will lead to greater penetration rates and,
as such, this initiative should be pursued bearing in
mind that the rewards program requires a minimum
portfolio size. Nonetheless, we will continue to
aggressively grow this segment with the aim of
achieving our target. In so doing this would allow
us to introduce rewards and benefits attached to
our credit card offering and to compete successfully
within an already established market.
As a Bank, we did not suffer any significant internal
setbacks in 2018. Having said that, we must continue
to recognize and find creative ways to mitigate the
challenges of being a small indigenous Bank. We are
also challenged in attracting some of the world class
talent that would be pivotal in our ongoing quest
toward excellence. The world of banking has changed
and keeping up with new technology, innovation and
increasingly stringent global banking transparency
and reporting requirements necessitates adding
new skills to our current employee mix. Our future
success lies in attracting new talent and making
sure that once hired, they are trained to be the next
generation of banking executives. At the forefront
of a solid recruiting strategy is generating interest
in our Bank and getting skilled applicants excited
about what we offer. It goes without saying that a
key challenge will continue to be our ability to offer
competitive compensation packages to ensure that
we continue to attract limited available but critical
best talent.
There is also the issue of rapidly rising technology
costs related to both product development and
process improvement as well as cyber security, which
is becoming more challenging due to increasingly
regular threats to information systems and digital
databases from international cyber criminals.
Privacy and security of personal information is
understandably critical to customer satisfaction
and assurance. Thus, it is an increasingly important
indicator of competitiveness among financial
institutions.

C.
34
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sa bay sèvis sa-la, nou mantjé chans-lan pou ganyen
biznis klian entenpwiz nou ki ka dépan asou sèvis
sa-a pou koniné opéwasyon yo. Sa sé an go kòsènn
kon nou pa sa bay lèt di kwédi. Sa ka bay sé bank
entonnasyonal-la plis lavantaj ki ka ofè sèvis sa-a. An
lòt pwoblem sé ti gòsè kat kwédi nou. Pandan nou
jwi plis kat kwédi an 2018, pòtfolio kat kwédi nou
twò piti pou nou bay wékonpans ki sa ògmanté Klian
nou. Pwogwanm wékopans méwité an minimonm
gòsè; la nou kay kontiné pofité segman sa-la ki kay
kité nou vini oyal di laplas pou nou bay benéfis pou
klian ki ka sèvi kat kwédi.
Nou pa té soufè pyès twakasman an Dé mil diswit
(2018) mè sé pou nou jwenn a manyè pou anpéché
difikité kon an Ti Bank lokal. Nou osi ni difikiité pou
atwakté talan mòdial ki kay endé nou vini èksèlan.
Lavi Bank ja chanjé èk tèknologi nuovo. Nouvoté èk
twaspawan an bank èk wékwanman wapò nisèsité
pèsonèl ki ni talan nèf. Siksé nou an tan ka vini méwité
talan èk entwenman pou bankè lèt jennéwasyon-an.
An ka enplòyé moun ki ni talan èk lantéwé an bank
nou, sé fo nou sa péyé yo bon salè.
La ni osi sitwiasyon-an koté pwi tèknologi ka òmanté
pou dévèlopman pwodui èk améliasyon twavay épi
sikouwité entònèt ki ka vini pli difisil, pou wézon di
ògmantasyon nennas pou sistenm enfomasyon pa
kwiminèl cyber entonnasyonal. Sékwè èk sikouwitè
enfomasyon pwivé enpotan pou asiwans èk
satifaksyon klian.

C. Pèspèktiv
Fon Monité Entonnasyonal (IMF) pwidikté an piti
lantman an enkonmi mòdial sòti an twa pwen sèt
pousan (3.7%) an 2018 pou twa pwen senk pousan
(3.5%) an Dé mil diznèf (2019). Wézon sé La Chin/
Anméwik konmès tawif ògmatasyon. Magwé pli
Touwis antwé an Sent Lisi, ekonomi-an té lantman
an 2018. Kantmenm, IMF la pwojèté twa pwen dé
pousan (3.2%) pofitman pou Sent Lisi ki pli ho ki
denyé senk lanné-a.

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects a
slight slowdown in the world economy from 3.7%
in 2018 to 3.5% in 2019 because of the continuing
China/USA trade tariff increases. While not as robust
as expected, this is still a buoyant enough projection
for global growth. Notwithstanding indications of an
increase in tourism arrivals, the St. Lucian economy
continued to experience slow growth in 2018.
However, the IMF also projects a 3.2% growth for
Saint Lucia, which is higher than the sluggish growth
of the last five years.
The Bank’s outlook for 2019 is positive. We expect
a similar level of growth overall as that of last year,
based on our strategies as well as the forecasted
growth for the country. Deposit growth which drives
the business, is anticipated to grow by 10% and
loan growth by 15% to give rise to a balance sheet
position growth of 10%, taking the Bank to $810
million at the end of 2019.
To achieve this growth, our primary focus will
remain on enhanced customer delivery services.
An additional focus for the new financial year is the
pursuit of synergistic strategies that will grow the
Bank. This will include, where feasible, acquisitions
and strategic alliances domestically and within
the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU) to
assist in attaining much needed critical mass and
operational efficiencies. Investment in technology
is another priority for 2019 and a total of $2 million
has been allocated for this purpose. Coupled with
our marketing strategy, we expect profits to increase
by more than single digits in 2019. We anticipate
ROE will be as strong as that for 2018 to delight
shareholders with sustained dividend growth. We
plan to contribute to the economy by giving SME’s
greater attention.
Risk and governance will remain an area of focus for
the Bank. The Tier 1 capital ratio will be managed to
remain strong and above 12%, actual ratio being 17%
at this reporting date. Credit risk will be managed
downwards, evident in the planned NPL ratio of 7%
for the year 2019 as we aim to meet the regulatory
ratio of 5% by 2020. The Bank will complete
the implementation of an enterprise wide risk
management system to give assurance to customers,
regulators and the public at large that their funds are
secure and that the Bank is well managed to remain
a going concern for the future.

pasé. Sa sé silon pofitman pwojeté pou péyi-a. Nou
ka antisipé ki Lajan deposé ki ka kondwi biznis la kay
ògmanté pa dis pousan (10%) èk pofitman an loan
pa kenz pousan (15%) ki kay fè Bank-lan ni valè di
wit san dis milyon dola ($810M) an bout 2019.
Pou achivé pofitman sa-a antansyon nou kay wété
asou ògmatasyon sèvis pou Klian. An antansyon
anplis pou lanné finasyal nèf la sé gadé pou
sinègi ki kay fè Bank-lan pofité Sa kay enkludé
alayans domètik èk Eastern Caribbean Currency
Union (ECCU) pou asisté ni pli klian pou pli mèyè
opéwasyon. Envesman an tènologi sé an lòt piòwité
an 2019 èk an total di Dé milyon ($2M) ja aloké pou
sa. An plis ki swatigi maketing nou antisipé pofi nou
kay ògmanté an 2019. Osi ROE pou fò kon 2018
pou fè moun ki ni pa an Bank-lan kontan pou jwenn
lajan dividend. Nou ka plané pou kontwibouté
pou enkonmomi-a pa ka mété antansyon assou
piti èk mwayen Entenpwiz. Pou sa, nou ja kontiné
kanmawad épi German Savings Bank pou fè sa an
wiyalité an 2019 pa ka planè an SME Competency
Centre pou bay sèkté-a sa yo méwité.
Wisk èk gouvenas kay kontiné ni antansyon banklan. Nou kay manajé Tier 1 capital ratio pou’y wété
fò anho Douz pousan (12%), kon I Diset pousan
(17%) mètnan. Nou kay fè wisk kwédi désann,
èvidaman nou plané NPL ratio ki sis pousan (6%)
pou fè’y désann pou senk pousan (5%) an Dé mil
ven (2020). Bank –lan kay fini enplimanté sistenm
wisk manaman enenpwiz pou bay asiwans pou
klian’y, wégulaté èk piblik-la jenawèlman konmkwé
lajan yo asiwé èk Bank–lan ka byen manajé.

Johnathan Johannes
Managing Director

Pèspèktiv Bank-lan pou Dé mil diznèf (2019) ka gadé
positiv. Nou ka antisipé menm pofitman kon lanné
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Executive Management Team

From left to right, Mozel Isaac, Aurea Lafeuillee, Denise Holden-Pierre,
Sylvia Alcee, Robert Fevrier, Johnathan Johannes, Peter Aimable,
Prisca Eristhee-Delice, Valery Marshall-St. Omer, Clarette Auguste-Taylor,
Henri-Jacques Mangal
Premier John Compton in a 1975
special supplement of the “Voice
of St. Lucia” - “...The St. Lucia Cooperative Bank Limited ... is an
excellent example of growth from
modest beginnings... It’s value to
the economy of the State may be
measured by the fact that over the
years hundreds (perhaps thousands)
of ordinary people who would not
have been accommodated by the
regular commercial banks, have
been assisted with loans to tide
them over difficult situations....”

Adan an atik spésyal an papyé jounal
“Voice di Sent Lisi” an Mil nèf san
swasant kenz (1975), Pwemyè John
Compton di…. Bank Kopéwativ Sent
Lisi sé an bon èkzanmp pou pofité,
ka koumasé piti… valè pou ekonomi
péyi-a misiwé pa plizyé san èk pitèt
mil pèsonn òdinè ki pa té ka touvé
sevis an sé bank komèsyal-la mé
jwenn asisté épi lajan pwété pou
endé yo an sitwasyon difisil.
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS

Gross revenue

The Statement of Income
Strong growth in the Bank’s statement of financial position has resulted in similar growth in profit for
the year ended December 31, 2018. Indeed, we are pleased to report a profit after tax of $9.9 million,
representing growth of 180% over the position at December 31, 2017. This result comes on the heels of
deliberate action in deploying our strategies to return the Bank to its usual past financial performance.

Description
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Other income
Non interest expenses
Profit before provision allowance
Provision allowance
Profit befor tax
Tax
Profit befor tax

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
$,m

$,m

38.34
(11.00)
27.14
13.10
(21.88)
18.57
(4.72)
13.84
(3.91)
9.93

32.96
(11.00)
21.96
10.91
(20.31)
12.56
(7.70)
4.86
(1.32)
3.55

Variance
$,m
5.38
(0.00)
5.38
2.19
(1.57)
6.00
(2.97)
8.98
(2.59)
6.38

%
16%
0%
24%
20%
-8%
48%
39%
185%
197%
180%

Total revenue exceeded that reported in 2017 by an impressive 17% or $7.6 million, notwithstanding the generally
lower interest rates on loans and advances and investments. The table below illustrates that the highest value
growth was reported in loans and advances, accounting for 49% of the increased revenue. The contribution by
other income was also significant at 29% of the total variance, deriving from bad debts recovered, subsequent
upon the deployment of a different strategy. It is worthy to note that increases were recorded for all broad
revenue categories illustrated below.

Revenue

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities
Credit Card Interest
Other Income
Total

31,526,905
430,645
5,938,522
445,123
13,103,946
51,445,141

27,843,520
270,829
4,493,881
351,899
10,909,169
43,869,298

Variance
%
13%
59%
32%
26%
20%
17%

Variance
$
3,683,385
159,816
1,444,641
93,224
2,194,777
7,575,843

COMPOSITON OF GROSS REVENUE
other income 26%
credit card interest 1%
investment securities 11%

We promised our stakeholders improved performance in our 2017 Prospectus and we delivered. The
enhanced result was driven by the commitment of management and staff to post better results, strengthened
by an improving economy, a revised strategy to diversify income streams for loans and advances, inclusive of
our business development strategy.
Competition in the market was keen and 1st National Bank was a player to be reckoned with, bolstered by
our desire to enhance our brand and ultimately shareholder wealth. We hasten to add that there remains
continued uncertainty surrounding the global, political and macroeconomic environment and how these
may affect our small open states.
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Deposits with banks 1%
Loans and Advances 61%

The chart above illustrates that for yet another year, the Bank was successful at
diversifying its revenue streams, ensuring that revenue from interest from loans
and advances comprised less than 70% of gross revenue.
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Net interest income
Having regard to the foregoing, net interest income
increased by 24% or $5.4 million, increasing at a
faster rate than the prior year. It was imperative that
management contained the interest expense, having
regard to reduced interest rates on loans and advances
in the market. The chart below demonstrates that
the strategy employed was successful.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS Cont’d

NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest expense
An important component of the Bank’s results is the management of the interest expense. The interest
expense growth was marginal (0.0% or $1,842), having regard to the signficant growth in deposits of the
Bank of $64.2 million or 11% over the prior year. This is an excellent result.

Interest expense
Time deposits
Saving deposits
Demand deposits
Total

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

2,663,665
8,201,934
131,474
10,997,073

3,612,588
7,308,168
74,475
10,995,231

Variance
%
26%
-12%
-77%
0%

Variance
$
948,923
(893,766)
(56,999)
(1,842)

The chart below demonstrates the generally downward trajectory for interest expenses for the last five years,
with that expense increasing slightly in 2017 and 2018.

INTEREST EXPENSE

$ 000

15,000

12,374

10,557

10,995

10,997

2016

2017

2018

10,000

5,000
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The Bank’s non-interest expenses before impairment
losses increased by 8% or $1.6 million over the 2017
results. The growth in this expense group was not
as high as that recorded last year (18%) and the
difference was mainly attributable to efforts to
attain our strategic initiatives outlined in the ensuing
paragraphs.

Other operating Expenses

14,055

2014

Non-interest expenses

2015

Excellent customer service delivery remains a priority for
the Bank and the decision to increase personnel dedicated
to the management of our people and IT resources as
well as to engender an improved risk and service culture,
propelled the growth of staff expenses by 15% or $1.1
million over the prior year.
Significant increases in costs were recorded in card
services and computer expenses of 23% ($0.41 million)
and 51% ($0.52 million) respectively. The former variance
represented increased expenses related to increased
activity for debit and credit cards. The latter variance
derived from increased costs of software upgrades,
additional software procured to improve the monitoring
of risk, compliance and audit initiatives, investment in
software to improve our customer experience with our
mobanking and card products.
A significant variance was also recorded for advertising and
promotions, which increased by 252% or $0.50 million.
This variance was due to a fairly inactive prior year, based
on a decision to curb spending. However, during 2018,
the Bank embarked on an intensive marketing campaign
to deliver on its initiative to improve brand awareness,
incorporating various facets of the business. The concept
of our 100% mortgage financing was born out of this
marketing initiative. The need to herald in our heritage
and indigenousness was key for us this year and our
message was conveyed via radio and television broadcasts,
the press and our calendars. We welcomed the return
of Bank Notes in a big way to deliver our messages and
remodeled our website to provide the fresh look that our
staff, customers and the general public enjoy.
Despite the negative variances alluded to above, the Bank
was able to curtail some expenses related to security,
premises and Directors’ expenses. A noticeable positive
variance of $1.3 million was registered in other professional
expenses, following a deliberate decision to review the
functional co-operation initiatives implemented in 2017
to ensure that they were well embedded in the Bank’s
culture.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS Cont’d

with total assets growing by an impressive 14% from $672
million recorded at December 31, 2017. This excellent
result derived mainly from strong growth in net loans
and advances of 30% or $117.3 million and supported by
customer deposit growth of 11% or $64.2 million.

Total Assets

PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

DUE FROM BANKS

The Bank adopted International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS) 9 in 2018 with transitional arrangements
at January 1, 2018. As a result, the expected credit loss
expense (ECL) at December 31, 2018 was $4.9 million,
approximately 37% or $3 million less than that posted at
December 31, 2017.
With regard to the ECL for investments, the total provision
amounted to $0.41 million for 2018 (comprising less than
1% of the total investment portfolio), resulting in a credit
to the bad debts expense account for 2018.
The Sales, Credit Risk and Recoveries Departments
continue to work diligently to improve the quality of
assets and ultimately lower provisions for impairment.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
1st National Bank is well on its way to achieving its vision
of being the best bank in the region. Celebrating 80
years since it opened its doors to the public, the Bank has
grown significantly, recording total assets of $765 million
at December 31, 2018. For yet another year, the Bank’s
financial position demonstrated solid growth in 2018,
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cover loans, advances and other commitments as they arise.
We are pleased to report that the Bank had no liquidity issues
during the year. At the end of the year, the prime liquidity
ratio was 9% and this was above the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) ratio by three percentage points. This
indicates that the Bank had adequate funds to manage its
operations.

Similar to prime liquidity, funds held with banks were
managed downward by 48% or $25.7 million, all in our quest
to convert mostly idle and low earning funds to earn more
interest income. The majority of the funds was on account
with the Bank of New York Mellon. The weighted average
effective interest rate (WAEIR) on deposits with Banks is
1.3% at this year-end.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
We are pleased to report that the net loans and advances
portfolio increased from $384.8 million to $502.1 million,
accelerating by 30% or $117.3 million over the prior year.
This growth is commendable, when compared to a 6%
growth attained for the prior year and particularly in a highly
competitive market. We take the opportunity to commend
our Sales Team and the general staff body for this improved
performance, as it is proven that with the right leadership
and resource mix, the possibilities remain endless. The
Bank will continue to aggressively pursue all opportunities
available to it and will develop strategies to realize these.
The chart below illustrates the total loans and advances
portfolio before impairment over the last five years.

loans and advances

TREASURY BILLS
Contributors to this phenomenal growth included
the new strategic initiatives to grow and diversify the
customer base and revenue streams, to improve our
brand presence and to contain cost. It certainly reflects
the continued confidence our customers have placed in
the Bank and the better brand awareness of the Bank.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK
As expected, cash and balances with Central Bank
decreased by 27% or $21.0 million to fund the rapid
increase in loans and advances. The balances were
managed to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity to

The total value of treasury bills increased by 15% or $4.7
million when compared to the position at December 31,
2017. As this reporting date, treasury bills are held in the
Governments of St. Lucia ($11.7 million), Antigua ($14.9
million), St. Vincent ($6.9 million) and Grenada ($3 million).
The Bank has maintained its strategy to invest in treasury
bills as they assist with our liquidity management and
diversification objectives, are generally risk free with no
defaults to date and contribute to the development of the
region. The weighted average effective interest rate (WAEIR)
on these treasury bills was 3.61%.

600.000
526,009
500.000
409,948

400,115

2014

2015
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$ 000

In terms of cost efficiency, the Bank targeted a cost
efficiency ratio before provision of 55% and this was
achieved for the first time in the last five years, closing at
54.1% at December 31, 2018. In our quest to be best in
class, we aim to reduce this figure to under 50% within
the next five years.

386,469

409,095
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credit by type
OVERDRAFTS
2%

The chart below illustrates the portfolio performance by major industry sector. Growth was strongest in the
government, personal and other industry sectors.

Total loans and advances

OVERDRAFTS
Demand loans
promissory notes

mortgages

mortgages

33%

promissory notes
2%

DEMAND LOANS
63%

Credit commitments at the end of the year were a whopping
$46 million and this is a fair indication of the continued
demand for credit in this market.
2018

The management of credit risk remains a priority
for us. Subsequent to the implementation of the
revised non-performing loan (NPL) strategy, the NPL is
declining, down from 12.6% last year end to 8.65% at
the end of December 31, 2018. This is a remarkable
improvement, aided by the significant increase in loans
booked for the year. The decision to centralize the
assessment of loans has contributed to this improved
performance resulting in higher quality loans being
booked. To augment this, the Bank has implemented
the ECCB guidelines relevant to valuations received for
properties held as security as far as practical.
As a result of the implementation of IFRS 9, total
expected credit losses (ECL) on loans and advances
reduced by $3.8 million when compared to the IAS 39
result in 2017 with the IAS 39 impairment allowance
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2017

These investments are neither past due nor impaired and as
a result, there were no stage 3 ECLs for the category. The
IFRS 9 ECL for the portfolio was less than 1% of the portfolio.

INVESTMENTS

for loans and advances reducing from $24.3 million to
an IFRS 9 ECL of $20.5 million at January 1, 2018, the
date of implementation of the new standard. The ECL
for loans and advances increased to $23.9 million at
the end of this reporting period. At December 31,
2018, stage three ECL comprised 31% of total nonperforming loans and advances.

Other than treasury bills, total investments increased
by 18% or $17.5 million from $98.2 million at the end of
2017 to $115.7 million this year end. Despite the generally
lower interest rates on investments, management was able
to source assets that fitted our risk profile and funds were
moved from the lower earning asset category to earn a
decent return on investments.

Demand loans comprise the largest percentage (63%)
of total credit, followed by mortgages at 33%. The
following pie chart illustrates the composition at the
end of the year. The Bank is an equal opportunity
lender and works with its customers so that they can
prosper. Management will review and roll out plans to
increase the lower performing credit types accordingly.

Of the $30.2 million investments that were classed as
available-for-sale last year, $3.2 million was moved to debt
instruments at amortized cost as a result of the adoption of
IFRS 9. The entire portfolio that was once held to maturity in
2017 was transferred to debt at amortized cost in 2018. The
investments in repos was also moved to debt at amortized
cost.

TREASURY BILLS 24%

equity AT FAIR VALUE
(OCI) 3%

DEBT AT FAIR VALUE
(OCI) 22%

DEBT AT AMORTISEd cost
51%
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Achievements
DEFINED BENEFIT ASSET

OTHER ASSETS

The Bank has a defined benefit pension plan in place for
its employees and at the end of the year, the defined
benefit asset was $2.7 million, increasing by 8% over the
$2.5 million recorded in 2017. Membership of the Plan is
entirely voluntary and both the employer and employee
make contributions to the plan.

Other assets increased by 2% or $0.17 million principally
because of amounts due for card receivables.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
A small increase of 2% or $$0.22 million was recorded for
property and equipment when compared to the result
recorded for last year. Additions totaled $3.6 million and
most of the expenditure was for equipment and work
in progress to relocate the Vieux Fort branch. This was
offset by depreciation of $1.0 million and a downward
net revaluation of $2.3 million for the Bank’s property at
21 Bridge Street and Commercial Street in Vieux Fort.

customer deposIt growth
700,000
7%

650,000

$000

600,000

11 %

7%

550,000
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Capital adequacy - Tier 1

8%

17%

NPL ratio
Return on average assets
before tax
Allowance for loan loss to NPL
Cash reserves
Fixed assets to total capital
NPL to Tier 1 Capital
Liquid assets/Deposits + Short
term liabilities
Loans to deposits

5%

8.65%

time deposits
24 %

>1.50%

1.93%

10%
6%
<50%
<100%

53%
9%
14%
58%

savings
60%

>25.0%

31%

<85%

82%

Historically, the savings deposit portfolio has been the
largest of the three types of deposits for the Bank and
comprised 60% of the total at December 31, 2018. We
continue to manage the cost of deposits in line with
interest rates on credit facilities, while ensuring that
customers are offered competitive rates.

ACHIEVEMENTS
We are proud to announce the Bank’s successes and
achievements for this financial year encapsulated in the
table below. Of the list below, the NPL ratio is the only key
performance indicator (KPI) that remains unachieved and
initiatives have been developed to satisfy this regulatory
benchmark in the short to medium term as we push ahead
to becoming the best Bank in the region.

Total equity increased by 10% or $8.2 million to $92.9
million. The increase is mainly attributable to the increase
in profit after tax and the amounts transferred to reserves
as a result of the implementation of IFRS 9.

9%

450,000
400,000

16 %

EQUITY

8%

500,000

YTD
Achievement
31-Dec-18

demand deposits

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
Total customer deposits increased by 11% or $64.2
million over the prior year. This growth was one of the
key drivers of growth for the Bank at December 31, 2018.
Every deposit category increased over last year. Demand,
savings and fixed deposits grew by 32%, 10% and 3%
respectively. This performance is a strong indication of
the confidence our customers have placed in us. The
weighted average effective interest rate on customer
deposits for the year was 1.86% (2017-1.96%).

ECCB
minimum
requirement

Criterion

2015

2016

2017

2018
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Credit Risk Management
Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss to the
Bank if a borrower or counterparty fails to adhere
to its contractual obligations to repay loans or other
credit advanced, in accordance with agreed terms and
conditions. Credit risk primarily arises from direct lending
and investment activities.

3. Shortage of manpower;
1. Strict conformance to the requirements of existing
credit policies;
2. Maintaining a suitable credit administration system;
3. Assigning and managing delegation of credit limits to
ensure a sound credit approval process;

st

At 1 National Bank St. Lucia Limited, credit risk is
managed through well accepted credit processes and
policies operating within a structure of delegated
authorities. The Board of Directors annually reviews the
credit risk policies to ensure that they remain relevant
in the current banking environment, and provide clear
direction in the assessment and mitigation of risk factors
prevalent in lending proposals.
The oversight of the Bank’s credit risk function has been
tasked to the Credit Risk Committee of the Board of
Directors through delegated authority to the Managing
Director, with support from the Finance, Assessment and
Recoveries Departments. There is adequate separation
of duties between the Customer Lending function, which
is responsible for originating and managing exposures
- and the Credit Assessment function, responsible for
credit adjudication and control of the performing loans
portfolio.

4. Use of credit grading and loan review/monitoring
systems to facilitate the early identification of accounts
at risk, and also employing credit risk mitigation
techniques to minimise the likelihood of default;
5. Effective management of concentration risk; and
6. Applying stringent provisioning requirements to
ensure that adequate provisions are raised for loans,
in accordance with ECCB guidelines and international
accounting and reporting standards.
Through the years, the Risk, Compliance, Recoveries
& Securities (RCRS) Unit has worked tirelessly at
permanently reducing the Bank wide NPL ratio from a
position of 21% in 2013. It must be noted that the RCRS
faced turbulent times and challenges which included:
1. The difficulty with the judicial sale system;

The following standards have been adopted and form
part of the Bank’s agreed credit risk framework:
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2. Difficulty in establishing contact with various customers
especially those overseas;

4. The change from being a sellers’ market to a buyers’
market; and
5. Issues with the stagnant St. Lucian economy.
The RCRS Unit, having almost attained a set target of 12.60%
in 2017, revised its strategy further in 2018 with the view
of surpassing a new set target of 10% for end of December
2018. As part of the new strategy, the RCRS Unit sought to
rehabilitate the financial positions of the NPL customers
through active monitoring, maintaining close communication
and aggressively seeking sale for various properties. As with
the previous years, the RCRS faced several of the same
challenges which included the difficulty with the judicial
court system, difficulty in establishing contact with various
customers and shortage of manpower.
As at 31st December 2018, the RCRS Unit was proud to
announce that it had surpassed the designated target of
10% and achieved a bank-wide NPL ratio of 8.65%. This was
achieved through the following strategies:

Declassifying & Restructuring of NPL
• The entire NPL portfolio was reviewed which resulted
in identifying and targeting specific NPLs which met the
ECCB declassify/restructure requirements and were
within 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited’s Policies and
Guidelines.

Compromise Settlements
• In discussions with customers throughout the years, the
RCRS Unit took note of their many complaints and the
hindrances to them meeting their financial obligations
to 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited. For edification
purposes, here are some of the noted difficulties faced by
the customers: 1. Growth of the household due to the permanent housing
of sick/elderly and unemployed family members;
2. Non-servicing of student loans as the graduates were
unable to secure employment in their various areas of
study;
3. Loss of jobs;
4. Retrenchment and/or closure of business houses;
5. Reduction in household salaries as a result of a breakdown
in common law relationships, separations and divorces;
6. Increase in household commitments due to unforeseen
medical emergencies etc.
7. Increase in household expenditure due to new taxes and
fluctuating gas prices.
8. Re-prioritizing of finances due to unforeseen circumstances.
• Noting the above, the RCRS Unit moved swiftly but
cautiously in engaging customers where necessary and
accepted/offered compromise settlements on nonproductive loans on a case by case basis.
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Credit Risk Management Cont’d

d.

Advertising the properties in the Gazette and local
newspapers;

e.

Members of the RCRS Unit make themselves
available to customers after working hours, on
weekends and holidays to view the distressed
properties;

Detach Toxic Debts from the Portfolio
• A toxic debt refers to a loan that has a less than poor
chance of being repaid. Although our terminology is
to “write off” these debts, in essence the RCRS Unit
transferred those toxic debts to a Debt Written Off
(DWO) Team, to recover those loans through various
means. The RCRS Unit sought to write off very few
loans in 2018, as the strategy being employed was
to rehabilitate the customers’ financial positions,
where possible.

f.

Visiting properties, taking pictures and placing
them on the Bank’s website for the viewing public
at no charge; and

g.

Encouraging private sales as opposed to auctions,
where applicable.

Dependency on the Achievement of the
Established Growth Percentage of the
Credit Portfolio
Maintain a Threshold of 5% on Delinquent
• In 2018, the Bank sought to achieve a 4% growth
Loans
in the credit portfolio through the attraction of
quality lending. This achievement would assist in the
reduction of the NPL ratio.

Disposal of Security
• The RCRS Unit took an aggressive approach to
dispose of all security whether encumbered or
unencumbered on all non-performing loans where
applicable through public or private sales. To assist in
this approach the RCRS Unit undertook the various
strategies as listed below:
a.

Engaging various Realtors who would assist in
advertising and securing a potential buyer(s);

b.

Engaging a Receiver where applicable;

c.
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Attaining judgment where applicable with the view
of enforcing our judgment to secure a writ for
seizure and sale of the property;
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In an effort to stem the flow of live loans into the
non-performing category, the RCRS Unit kept a robust
pursuit on all delinquent customers, by implementing
various recovery and monitoring strategies. Through
the aforementioned, the RCRS Unit was able to attain
a threshold of 2.86% against a target of 5% by end of
December 2018.
Having enforced all the above strategies, the RCRS Unit
was able to exceed all targets set for 2018 namely:
1.

Achieve a delinquency ratio of below 5% for loans
5 – 89 days in arrears;

2.

Achieve a non-performing loan ratio of 8.65%;

3.

Successfully sell properties at both private and
public sales;

4.

Successfully attain judgment on difficult nonperforming loans;

5.

Successfully accept and close compromise settlements
where applicable;

6.

Through restructuring processes, rehabilitate loans
which had proved to be difficult; and

7.

Maintain the regulatory standards in our Credit Risk
Policy and Guidelines.

Recovery of Debts Written Off
The Debts Written Off (DWO) Team was able to recover
circa EC$2,727,808.65 against a target of $2.7M for the year
2018. The DWO Team suffered four major challenges in the
year 2018, as follows:
1.

Inability to attain many judicial sale dates due to the
lack of judicial court staff;

2.

Inability to realize on all funds derived from auctions,
due to the poor structure of the judicial court;

3.

Depressed market conditions causing a lack of interest
in the purchase of properties; and

4.

Difficulties faced by Debt Collectors in establishing
contact with the toxic debtors and/or encouraging
them to repay their debts.

Compliance
Since the financial crisis of 2008, we have seen regulators
intensifying their reach globally. There has been a steady
increase in regulatory initiatives which includes: •
Basel 111;
•
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA);
•
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA); and
•
Common Reporting Standards.
As the demand for Know Your Customer (KYC) information
increases by the regulators, banks are forced to increase
the requirements for this information from their customers.
In particular, the documentation required from corporate
customers has become more and more detailed and
customers view this as intrusive and onerous.

Some have referred to KYC compliance as being a “nightmare”
however, it has become challenging for a number of reasons.
In the past, the process of opening a bank account was often
very simple with accounts being opened in a matter of an
hour or so but now, corporate accounts are sometimes
taking months to open.
At 1st National Bank, we have recognized that the request
for identification and proof of address is a necessary part of
KYC/CDD information. If this is not respected, it can create
huge fines for us. Requests for KYC information are therefore
not optional.
The need for the increased KYC information is not
unreasonable. It is by demanding the detailed information
on counter parties that we will ensure that we are less
likely to engage in money laundering and terrorist financing
unknowingly. It is through the correct implementation of our
KYC that we are made aware of relevant issues relating to
a customer, such as their reputation, whether they have a
history of fraudulent actions, or if they are facing any current
money-laundering penalties. It is also extremely important
to know and to understand the risk profile of the country
in which a company is seeking to do business, if sanctions
are attached and whether there are any Politically Exposed
Persons (PEPs) involved.
We must therefore take the necessary precautionary steps
to safeguard the Bank from huge fines and the ultimate
death sentence of de-risking. Non-compliance is not an
option. Whilst the cost of compliance is staggering, the cost
of non-compliance is even more mind-blowing and we have
to ensure that we: • Develop our own controls – that we establish policies,
procedures and controls at all levels of the business;
that we ensure that our policies are accepted/applied
throughout the organization and practiced with close
adherence to these controls;
• Identify the gaps/risks – our KYC and KYCC screening must
be relevant. We must ensure that we are able to detect
our third-party risks;
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• Perform due diligence checks – we must be able to
perform the requisite customer due diligence (CDD)
to include enhanced due diligence (EDD) not only on
our customers but also on their customers i.e. their
suppliers;
• Monitor and report – regularly screen our new and
existing customers for signs of AML/CTF activity.
These screenings must be collated and extracted in a
report as evidence of screening;
• Take corrective action - take the necessary disciplinary
and corrective action with regular and continuous
assessment of the profiles to ensure that any changes
to the risk profiles are made;
• Engage in training and awareness – regular training
of staff to raise their awareness and ensure that
preventative action is understood and undertaken.

What has 1st National
Bank done?
In addition to the installation of a screening solution
in December 2015, the Bank has embarked on several
other initiatives to ensure that optimum AML/CTF
performance is achieved. Included among the initiatives
the Bank has sought to ensure are the certification of
supervisors in AML, the certification of the Executive
Manager, increasing the head count in the Compliance
Unit, as well as the installation of an automated AML
programme for transaction monitoring.
The Bank regularly undertakes training of all staff and
directors, and ensures that new staff to the organization
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are given the benefit of an Induction training exercise.
This is a particularly important session as it is the first
introduction of the new employees, to Compliance.
1st National has also ensured that it has updated AML/
CTF Polices & Procedures Manuals which details all
of our requirements. The policy is cascaded to all
employees through their Team Leaders, and Staff are
requested to sign an acknowledgment of receipt of
the documents. This ensures that all staff should be
acquainted with the KYC requirements for on-boarding
of all customers.
The process of updating our CIF information remains
an on-going task. This will ensure that customer
information is updated in one central location and that
Units will look to information contained in there, prior
to asking customers for information that we already
hold.
A detailed document which itemizes our requirements
for account opening has been compiled. The document
has been forwarded to all units, and team leaders have
been asked to ensure that these are kept close at hand
so that staff opening accounts can be accurate with
their requests to customers for documents. Further,
the Marketing Unit has prepared a brochure which
provides the salient items pertinent to account opening
for customers.
The Compliance Unit has also created and cascaded
a Checklist to the other units which assists them with
verifying the documents that have been received from
the customers. This will ensure that all documents that
are required and requested have been obtained.

During our training process we ensure that we emphasize
the need to obtain the information, and confirm the validity
and authenticity of the information from inception.
The Bank continues to maintain very good relations with all
of our correspondent banks. Regular annual meetings are
held, interspersed with Compliance to Compliance calls with
our US correspondent bank. 1st National is careful to process
any requests for information for the Correspondent Bank in
a timely manner.
1st National Bank was an active contributor and a member
of the National Risk Assessment (NRA). Several meetings
were held to sensitize critical stakeholders on anti-money
laundering and countering terrorism financing as well as to
highlight the steps being taken in Saint Lucia to fight same.
A two (2) day workshop was held in July 2018 in preparation
for the mutual evaluation of Saint Lucia by CFATF in 2019.
The results of this mutual evaluation will play a pivotal role
in the national development of Saint Lucia.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the
Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee. However,
the Department reports to the Managing Director on
administrative matters.
The Audit Department has
unfettered access to all Bank documents. The Audit Plan,
which is reviewed on a quarterly basis and the Budget were
approved by the Audit Committee in 2018. The Committee
met 5 times for the year.
There were some major developments during the year
2018 which ushered in a new reporting format to the Audit
Committee. This report details the Internal Audit expenses
vs the Budget, any Conflicts of Interest, and the progress of

the implementation of the Audit Plan (including all work that
is completed, in progress, or was not planned).
The capacity of the Internal Audit Department was also
increased. There are now two Accountants, inclusive of the
Executive Manager. While an additional accountant has been
added to the Department, the headcount remained the
same. This has enhanced the Committee’s understanding of
the new Accounting Standards and their impact on the Bank.
The Internal Audit Department was frequently engaged in
additional activities providing independent and objective
consulting services, including a review of bank policies in
order to help Management improve the Bank’s internal
control system. During the year, the Audit Committee
reviewed and amended the Internal Audit Policy (Charter),
the Control Deficiencies Policy, the Fraud Management
Policy and the Whistle-blower Policy. The Internal Audit
Department conducted one consultancy on IFRS 9, which is
a new accounting standard with which the Bank is required
to comply as of the 2018 financial year.
The Audit Committee addressed measures taken by the
Management to remediate deficiencies identified by
the External Auditor, the Internal Audit Department and
regulatory authorities and regularly received updates on our
progress in this regard.
The Audit Charter provides authorization to Internal Audit
for full, free and unrestricted access to all Bank records,
property and personnel, relevant to any subject under
review. This is in line with best practice.
The Department also introduced a new auditing software
called TeamMate. The TeamMate Analytics, which is a
Computer Assisted Auditing Tool (CAAT), was also purchased.
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Staff attached to the Internal Audit Department
received training on the software in early December
2018, and started using it to create reports, monitor
findings and conduct risk assessments. It is likely to take
several more months before the software can be used
optimally. Bank staff and Management must be trained
and the software must be loaded with the appropriate
Audit Programmes, reporting information, background
for reports, findings and risk ratings.
The software is expected to increase the efficiency of
the Department, with the use of electronic working
papers, automation of reports, and built-in analytical
tools. The software will allow the Department to
conduct additional system audits, analyse and audit
large volumes of data, thus making the sorting of data
and the discovery of errors much easier.
The 2019 fiscal year will be very challenging for the
Department. There has been an increase in the level
of monitoring and reporting to the ECCB, as well as
in the requirements from Corresponding Banks and
Regulators. The improvements made to the Audit
Committee and the Internal Audit Department will
further strengthen its capacity to safeguard the Bank’s
assets and reputation.
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Sales And Service
Delivery
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited continues to be a
customer centric organization as we aim to significantly
increase market share and maintain long term
relationships for continued growth and sustainability. In
2018, the Sales Team focused on providing exceptional
customer service, quick turnaround times and
attractive loan promotions tailored to meet the needs
of our valuable customers.
Our strategy to focus on increased market share
through improved efficiency and synergies has been
successful and resulted in a 31% growth in 2018. Our
Saturday banking at strategic locations, coupled with
capable and trained staff continue to provide us with a
competitive edge over our competitors.
At 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, we understand
that customer service is integral to the long-term
sustainability of an organization, and so we constantly
monitor and evaluate the level of customer service
satisfaction throughout the year by analysing the
results of the various surveys conducted at our business
units. This provides an avenue to obtain feedback from
our customers on a regular basis, and enables us to
find solutions that meet their needs, which results in
excellent customer satisfaction as was evident in the
last survey result for 2018 of 90% overall.

Improved customer experience through quick, reliable
and convenient banking is one of 1st National Bank’s key
commitments to our valued customers. We have therefore
invested and will continue to invest in advanced technology
to provide the 1st Class service for which we have been
known.

The Eastern Caribbean Automated Clearing House (ECACH),
which was launched in September 2014, through a
partnership between the ECCB and ECCU commercial banks,
is responsible for the electronic clearing and settlement of
cheques, and is now also responsible for the launch and
management of the Electronic Funds Transfer system.

Finally, and most importantly, we must recognize and value
our employees. They are vital to the success of the business,
and it is for this reason, that we focused consistently on
training our employees to empower them to continue to
deliver our trademark service. Our employees are required
to maintain very high standards and consistently deliver
excellent customer service, thereby ensuring that customers
always have a great experience. Additionally, we continue to
improve our rewards system for employees to ensure that
they remain motivated and continue to excel.

At 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, we are cognisant of the
fact that most banks offer primarily the same products and
services, and that the main differentiator is the customer’s
experience. Consequently, in 2019 our aim is to improve
our service delivery through the use of technology. We
will automate processes to improve efficiencies and the
accuracy of transactions, thus providing customers with
a better experience. One of our key initiatives will be the
implementation of Core Director Teller Capture, which is a
solution that converts paper checks, deposit slips, and other
paper items into electronic images at the teller line. The
solution automatically reads and validates transaction data
to streamline workflow and eliminates the need for manual
data entry. Core Director Teller Capture creates less work
for tellers, generating faster transactions and fewer errors
for the branch, and allows the teller more time to build the
customer relationship.

Operations and Client
Support
Our Mission is to improve our customers’ financial wellbeing by providing high quality financial solutions. In keeping
with our mission, our Bank was one of the participants in
the implementation of the Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT)
system. This solution allows banks to offer their clients same
day electronic payment transfers and same day settlement.
The manual work involved by banks and customers in relation
to the processing of payroll and credit / debit transactions is
reduced, and there is also a major improvement in the level
of accuracy for transactions, security and more effective and
timely funds availability. Corporate clients are now able to
process payroll and other payments from their accounting
departments by accessing this system through a secured
platform.

Customer feedback is important to us. We see it as an
opportunity to identify areas for improvement with our
service, policies and procedures. When our customers
submit concerns, Management is made aware of potential
issues. To make it easier to hear from our valued clients, we
will introduce a customer complaints hotline. We believe
that the hotline will improve the customer complaints
management process, as we guarantee that addressing
issues and concerns remain a high priority for us.
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Cards And Electronic
Banking
The growth in our card activity from 2017 to 2018 was
remarkable, moving from 21% to 46%. We anticipate
comparable growth in 2019 as many developments unfold
in the Payment Card Industry. The reality of a Seamless
Payment Society is fast approaching and many variations
of payments have surfaced. This has undoubtedly created
opportunities to grow and expand the Bank’s Cards &
Electronic Banking business portfolio.
For the fourth (4th) consecutive year, 1st National Bank St.
Lucia Limited has captured the coveted title for the Highest
Growth Reward for International Debit Card Transactions,
among twenty-two (22) financial institutions, in the eleven
(11) Caribbean territories serviced by the Caribbean Credit
Card Corporation, including Suriname & Guyana.
There was a substantial increase of 22% in our Net Income
from 2017. Our total income recorded was an outstanding
EC$3.66M of which we realised a net gain of EC$1.5M.
The increase in net income is continuing on a steady but
healthy pattern, every year since 2011.
We continued to train our Card Services personnel in fraud
prevention and detection methods as well as customer
service, chip and contactless technology.
The successful internal recruitment of an Electronic
Banking Specialist and the addition of a Risk & Compliance
Officer in the Unit, will no doubt improve customer service,
enhance the present services offered in the Cards &
Electronic Banking Department, as well as mitigate against
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fraud. The intention is to make our card transactions more
secure, both online and at the Point-of-Sale (POS), as
well as offering added convenience to our cardholders,
such as online purchase security, online statements and
transaction alerts.
We have embarked on plans to upgrade our ATM network
to facilitate Europay, Mastercard & Visa (EMV) standards,
and our credit and international debit cards to being EMV
contactless compliant in 2019. New and exciting products
will be introduced with the exploration of the digital and
mobile platforms which will put us on par with Payment
Card Industry global standards.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
2018 ushered 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited into its 80th
year of operations in St. Lucia. A journey of contributing
significantly to the economy of St. Lucia, as well as giving
back to communities by virtue of our founding principles.
The Bank used the year to reflect on its Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) programme and to formulate policies and
procedures to enhance the CSR programme to make it more
meaningful and engaging. We recognize that information
is key, and that people need access to information to help
them make informed decisions, in addition to keeping them
up to date.
The Bank launched its redesigned website during the
observance of its 80th anniversary. The revamped website
provides enhanced functionality and is designed to highlight
information without prolonged searches. This ultra- modern
site is where you will find information about the Bank; its
history, vision, mission, core values and the full gamut
of products and services, thus making the website both
informative and educational.
We were also pleased to host our annual Stanley A. French
Education Forum on the topic “Marijuana and The Banking
Industry”. This timely discussion formed part of a series
of lectures organized by the Bank during financial literacy
month. The discussion looked at several questions relevant
to how the local banking industry should respond to the
accelerated pace of changes in attitudes towards marijuana,
internationally.

In keeping with the focus on Education, the Bank launched
a supplement booklet entitled “The Journey from Good to
Great: 1938 and Beyond” The Supplement chronicled some
elements of the past and the leadership of the Bank, and
also brought into sharp focus the future; with innovation and
technology leading the way as an indigenous institution.
During our 80th year we also launched a 1st within the
banking industry locally - 100% mortgage financing to assist
St. Lucians both locally and in the diaspora, in putting down
roots and securing their families. Another 1st was realized
when the Bank partnered with another local optical company
to create “VITMAN” providing low interest loans quickly for
Saint Lucians seeking better eye health as well as eye wear.
We are proud of our many accomplishments as we continue
on our journey knowing full well that we were established by
St. Lucians for St. Lucians. We continue our assistance in the
fields of education, sports, community outreach and health
among other areas. At 1st National Bank it’s all about people
looking after people and simply just being “Here for You!”
People Journey
As we commenced our transformational journey to move
the organization from Good to Great, we simultaneously
commenced the Human Resource Department’s efforts to
transform from a transactional department to one which
is strategic: aligning the business goals with the people
strategy.
Our HR plan is intentional and geared principally at “Building
the Bank’s capacity to promote excellence, increasing staff
engagement, making our HR processes more efficient,
embedding the Integrity, Confidentiality, Accountability and
Professionalism (ICAP) values, radically transforming the
Bank’s culture and making OUR eighty-year-old institution
an “Employer of Choice”.

1st National Bank Annual Report 2018

57

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS Cont’d

In 2018, a Staff Engagement Survey was conducted,
aimed at assessing the extent to which our employees
feel valued and involved in their everyday work. It also
measured staff dedication to the vision and mission. We
attained a score of 55% which clearly indicated that at
least 45% of our staff were disengaged. As a follow up
intervention, each team worked on developing functional
action plans aimed at addressing the identified gaps.
“Moving from Good to Great” requires the “right leaders”
with the “right skills” in the “right place”. The leadership
interventions for 2018 were geared primarily at ensuring
that 1st National Bank is laced with effective leaders who
could empower and influence to attain business goals.
The training adopted a practical, hands-on approach
which afforded the leaders an opportunity to improve
the leadership of the Bank.
Additionally, 2018 saw the use of the 360-degree
feedback to assess the senior leadership of the Bank.
This was aimed at providing an understanding of the
strengths and weaknesses of respective participants and
providing feedback on aspects of their work needing
professional development. The necessary coaching and
mentoring recommended will be adopted.
Twenty-five (25) leaders were privileged to have been
exposed to the world-renowned leadership training:
Franklyn Covey 7 Habits of Highly Effective People. The
training focused on the belief that the way we see the
world is entirely based on our own perceptions and that
in order to change a given situation, we must change
ourselves and our perceptions. The path to succeed is
dependent on the clear identification of the habit that
58
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can help us along our way. It is expected that the desired
changes will manifest themselves within the Bank.
Bridging the customer service gaps within the Bank,
was a major priority in 2018. Apart from the in-house
customer service training, a Franklin Covey session
dubbed “Customer Loyalty” was held for ALL customerfacing employees.
There was much focus on the enhancement of functional
and technical skills in ALL departments. Seminars and
workshops geared at enhancing relevant functional skills
were held for respective Department personnel.
Strides have been made in launching a human resource
information system (HRIS). This will eradicate the
mundane tasks associated with key HR processes. The
rollout is slated for end of Q1, 2019.
Moving from Good to Great requires a paradigm shift
and so an aggressive culture change programme geared
at addressing the deeply engrained cultural issues was
launched. To ensure total success, cross functional
Culture Ambassadors have been identified and trained
to assist with the transition. We envisage a renewed,
revived and re-energized Bank, moving forward.

Shareholder Information
At the end of the 2018 financial year on 31st December 2018, the total number of shares
outstanding was 6,372,452. The total number of the Bank’s shareholders was 1,775.
Moreover, the total number of shares transferred in 2018 was 40,026. The members of the
Board of Directors own a combined 64,796 shares which is the equivalent of 1% of the total
shareholding. Directors are elected to the Board of Directors of the Bank every three years.
The rotation of Directors and their terms served are illustrated below.
ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.6 OF
BY-LAW NO. 1
As at December 31st, 2018

Name
Nigel Fulgence
Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Brenda Floissac-Fleming
Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds
Adrian Augier
Richard Monplaisir
Jennifer Remy
Agosta Degazon

Year of
election

Year of
Re-election

2000
2011
1993
2008
2008
2012
2013
2016
2018

2018
2018
2016
2017
2017
2015
2017

No. of
Completed
Terms
6
2
7
3
3
1
1
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Making Dreams a Reality

Ka fè wèv an wiyalité

2001-2018
1st National Bank St. Lucia
Limited
continues
to
transform
Saint
Lucia’s
economy and society by
providing opportunities for
all, especially people of low
income households. The
Bank was the 1st to accept
the coal blackened coppers
and shillings from the working
class families. We continue
to build upon this legacy by
adapting to current trends
in the industry and offering
a wide array of products and
services to assist Saint Lucians
in turning their dreams into
reality.
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Bank-lan ka kontiné twansfòmé
ekononmi Sent Lisi èk sosyété-a
pa ka ofè òpòtinité pou tout
patikiléman moun ki ka touvé
mwens salè.
Bank-lan té
pwenmyé pou aksèté lajan
nwèsi chabon tjwiv èk shlen
an lanmen twavayè. Nou ka
kontiné bati asou ewitaj nou pa
ka adapté sa ka fèt an endòstwi-a
èk ka ofè plisyè diféwan podwi
èk sèvis pou asisté Sent Lisyen
tounen wèv yo an wiyalité.
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WELCOME to the Team
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Finance

Corporate Secretarial Team

Managers
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Marketing and PR

Credit Assessment

Human Resources Organisational Development

Internal Audit
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Risk, Compliance, Recoveries & Securities Department
Castries – Customer Service

Office Assistants

Vieux Fort

Sales Team

Castries – Sales Team

Rodney Bay Marina

Cards and Electronic Banking

Information Systems Department
JQ Mall Rodney Bay
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Customer Support Group

Choc Bay

Marigot Bay
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Financial Statements
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited (“the
Bank”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018,
the statements of income, profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Bank as at December 31, 2018, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Saint Lucia, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued

To the Shareholders of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

To the Shareholders of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the Annual Report 2018, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of
this auditors’ report.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the Annual Report 2018, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
2
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Castries, Saint Lucia
April 25, 2019
3
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1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Income

December 31, 2018

For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Income tax recoverable
Defined benefit asset
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets

7
8
9
10
11
13
21
14
15
17

Total assets

2018
$
57,859,437
28,003,720
36,422,936
502,107,145
115,691,583
2,743,000
13,069,542
614,282
8,055,755

2017
$
78,896,834
53,739,498
31,733,399
23,971,139
384,839,300
74,181,301
505,372
2,546,000
12,854,092
531,863
7,888,801

764,567,400

671,687,599

Notes
Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges
Net interest income
Other operating income

18
19
20
22

Total liabilities
Equity:
Capital and reserves:
Share capital
Reserves
Retained earnings

23
24

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

645,176,129
23,368,014
2,744,757
39,131
309,399

580,956,745
5,220,816
797,594

671,637,430

586,975,155

20,000,000
21,450,049
51,479,921

20,000,000
16,551,774
48,160,670

92,929,970

84,712,444

764,567,400

671,687,599

26

Net interest and other operating income
Other expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets

27
30

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Current income tax payable
Provisions
Deferred income tax liability

25
25

31

Profit for the year
Earnings per share
(expressed in EC$ per share)
Basic and diluted

2018
$
38,341,195
(10,997,073)

2017
$
32,960,130
(10,995,231)

27,344,122

21,964,899

13,103,946

10,909,169

40,448,068

32,874,068

(21,881,810)
(4,723,925)

(20,311,024)
(7,698,293)

13,842,333

4,864,751

(3,913,403)

(1,319,629)

9,928,930

3,545,122

1.56

0.66

32

Approved for issuance by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Nigel A. Fulgence
President

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Director

The notes on pages 82 to 181 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2018

(2,274,832)
(2,274,832)
(2,274,832)
(6,675)

-

Share Statutory Revaluation
capital
reserve
reserve
$
$
$
20,000,000 8,680,478
3,708,673
20,000,000 8,680,478
3,708,673

-

(1,159,554)
(1,159,554)
(1,159,554)
-

-

Revaluation
reserve on
FVOCI
investments
$
945,363
945,363

1,345,882 (1,345,882)
(354,512)

5,007,668

-

-

Other
reserves
$
3,217,260
3,217,260

- (1,159,554)
- (2,274,832)
(51,000)
(51,000)
(51,000) (3,485,386)
9,877,930 6,443,544
(1,979,111)
-

9,928,930

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

-

Retained
earnings Total equity
$
$
48,160,670 84,712,444
3,402,984
3,402,984
51,563,654 88,115,428

- 1,985,786

-

-

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

6,443,544

4,248,060

Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 21)
Revaluation adjustment on land and buildings

(354,512)

702,938

(1,274,490)

(3,485,386)

(1,274,490)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

-

290,938

92,929,970

(1,159,554)
-

51,479,921

Net fair value losses on debt investments at FVOCI
Net fair value gains on available-for-sale investment securities

9,570,810

412,000
-

(214,191)

(51,000)
(2,274,832)

1,427,166

2017
$
3,545,122
Profit for the year

9,928,930

Balance at January 1, 2018
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018
Restated balance at January 1, 2018
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year

-

20,000,000 10,666,264

-

Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss on debt investment securities
Revaluation of land and buildings
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 21)
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Net transfer from retained earnings (Note 24)

-

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(5,007,668)

-

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Total comprehensive income for the year
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Reserve for loan loss provision (Note 24)
Reserve for interest recognized on non-performing
loans (Note 24)
Profit share 2017
Transactions with owners
Dividends to shareholders (Note 33)

Other comprehensive income:

2018
$
9,928,930

7

The notes on pages 10
82 to 109
181 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance at December 31, 2018

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

The notes on pages 82 to 181 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 10 to 109 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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84,712,444
3,217,260 48,160,670

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2018
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes

8

The notes on pages 82 to 181 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 10 to 109 are an integral part of these financial statements.

8,680,478
Balance at December 31, 2017

20,000,000

3,708,673

945,363

(549,996)
3,724,920
(549,996)
- (8,303,626)
Transactions with owners
Dividends to shareholders (Note 33)
Issue of share capital (Note 23)

12,028,546

-

1,165,504
- (1,165,504)
-

-

1,216,353
-

Reserve for loan loss provision (Note 24)
Reserve for interest recognised on non-performing
loans (Note 24)

-

-

- (1,216,353)

290,938
412,000
702,938
4,248,060
412,000
412,000
3,957,122
(702,270)
Other comprehensive income
Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 21)
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Net transfer from retained earnings (Note 24)

709,024

(6,754)

290,938
290,938
290,938
-

-

3,545,122
3,545,122
-

Balance at January 1, 2017
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year

-

Other
Retained
reserves
earnings Total equity
$
$
$
5,599,117 51,377,583 77,289,460
Share
capital
$
7,971,454

Revaluation
reserve
availableStatutory Revaluation
for-sale
reserve
reserve investments
$
$
$
7,971,454
3,715,427
654,425
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Statement of Changes in Equity (cont’d)
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Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Loss on disposal of investment
Impairment losses on financial assets
Defined benefit income
Dividend income
Tax expense
Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges
Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities
Change in mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank
Change in loans and advances to financial institutions
Change in loans and advances to customers
Change in other assets
Change in due to customers
Change in other liabilities
Cash used in operations
Interest and similar income received
Interest expense and similar charges paid
Profit sharing and bonuses paid
Defined benefit contributions paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of treasury bills
Proceeds from sale of treasury bills
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sale of investment securities
Dividends received
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Dividends paid
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2018
$
9,928,930

14,15
26
26
30
21
26

14
15

16

The
The notes
notes on
on pages
pages 82
10 to
to 181
109 are
are an
an integral
integral part
part of
of these
these financial
financial statements.
statements.
9
st

2017
$
3,545,122

1,171,632
79,985
4,723,925
(52,000)
(162,243)
3,913,403
(38,341,195)
10,997,073
(7,740,490)
17,199,591
(116,418,587)
(166,954)
64,479,432
17,995,023
(24,651,985)
35,369,503
(11,257,121)
(354,512)
(196,000)
(1,151,469)
(2,241,584)

1,042,941
42,192
22,254
7,698,293
(20,000)
(226,582)
1,319,629
(32,960,130)
10,995,231
(8,541,050)
(15,307,636)
(618,252)
(30,984,596)
(748,411)
40,750,404
(2,632,115)
(18,081,656)
32,952,003
(11,303,754)
(180,000)
(507,606)
2,878,987

(25,488,359)
20,497,274
(30,986,890)
13,430,365
162,243
1,350
(3,592,639)
(233,029)
(26,209,685)

(10,517,998)
12,529,387
(34,028,377)
4,032,300
226,582
4,623
(776,745)
(99,478)
(28,629,706)

(1,122,315)
(1,122,315)
(29,573,584)
77,221,046

3,724,920
(518,440)
3,206,480
(22,544,239)
99,765,285

47,647,462

77,221,046
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1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1.

Reporting entity

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, (“the Bank”) was incorporated in Saint Lucia in December 1937
and continued under the Companies Act of 1996. It commenced trading in January 1938 and provides
commercial and retail banking services, including the acceptance of deposits, granting of loans and
advances, credit and debit cards, foreign exchange services, and online and mobile banking services.

(d)

Use of judgements and estimates (cont’d)
Estimates, and underlying assumptions, are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.

The Bank is subject to the provisions of the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 3 of 2015 and the
Companies Act, Cap 13.01 of the revised laws of St. Lucia. It is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB), the Financial Services Regulatory Authority and the Eastern Caribbean
Securities Regulatory Commission.
The Bank serves the public from six branches and one Bureau De Change all located in Saint Lucia. The
registered office and principal place of business of the Bank is #21 Bridge Street, Castries, Saint Lucia.
2.

Basis of preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on April 25,
2019.

(b)

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position that are measured at fair value:

•
•
•
•
•

Debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (applicable for
2018)
Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (applicable for
2018)
Available-for-sale financial assets (applicable for 2017 only)
Land and buildings measured at revalued amounts
Net defined benefit asset, which is measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present value
of the defined benefit obligation, as explained in Note 21.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

(d)

Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of the Bank’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of, assets,
liabilities, and the income and expenses. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Judgements
For the purpose of these financial statements which are prepared in accordance with IFRS, judgement
refers to the informed identification and analysis of reasonable alternatives, considering all relevant
facts and circumstances, and the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the alternative that is
most consistent with the agreed principles set out in IFRS. Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in these financial statements
are set out below:
Applicable to 2018 only:
Classification of financial assets
Notes 2 (e), 3 (e)(ii) and 13: Assessment of the business model within which the assets are
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the
principal amount outstanding.
Expected credit losses
Notes 2 (e), 3 (e)(vi) and 12: Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on
the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining
methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of ECL and
selection and approval of models used to measure ECL.
Applicable to 2018 and 2017:
Income taxes
Notes 3 (k) and 31: Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes including any liabilities for tax audit issues. There are some transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business.
Applicable before January 1, 2018:
Classification of investments as held-to-maturity
Notes 3 (e)(ii) and 13: The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as heldto-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement about the Bank’s intention
and ability to hold the security to maturity. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates
its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Bank fails to keep
these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances - for example,
selling an insignificant amount close to maturity - it will reclassify the entire class as
available-for-sale. The investments would thereafter be measured at fair value not
amortised cost. If the entire held to maturity portfolio of investments was tainted, the
carrying value would decrease by $890,083 with a corresponding entry in the fair value
reserve in OCI.
11
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2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(d)

Use of judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(d)

Use of judgements and estimates (cont’d)

Judgements (cont’d)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (cont’d)

Applicable before January 1, 2018 (cont’d)
Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments
Notes 3 (e)(vi) and 13: The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments
are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires
judgement. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, when there
is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector
performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows. During
2017, the Bank did not recognise impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments.
Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment in these financial statements are set out below:
Applicable to 2018 only:
Impairment of financial assets
Notes 2 (e) and 3 (e)(vi): Determining inputs into the ECL measurement model, including
incorporation of forward-looking information.
Applicable to 2018 and 2017:
Impairment of financial assets
Note 3 (e)(vi): Key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash flows. To the extent
that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5%, the portfolio provision
would be estimated to be $1,946,290/$2,568,890 [lower/higher].
Measurement of defined benefit obligations
Notes 3 (j) and 21: The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of key actuarial
assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension
obligations.
Determination of fair values
Note 3 (e)(v) and 5: The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for
which there is no observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques as
described in Note 3(e)(v). For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little
price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment
depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions
and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
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Applicable to 2018 and 2017: (cont’d)
Determination of fair values (cont’d)
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank uses observable market
data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value
hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

•
•
•

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets and
liabilities.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of
the same fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement. Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.
The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.
Applicable before January 1, 2018
Impairment losses on loans and advances
Notes 3 (e)(vi) and 12: The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least
on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in
profit or loss, the Bank makes judgement as to whether there is any observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual
loss experience. At the end of 2017, to the extent that the net present value of estimated cash
flows differs by +/-5%, the portfolio provision would be estimated to be $1,425,673
lower/higher.
13
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2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(d)

Use of judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards
The Bank has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 from January 1, 2018.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (cont’d)
Applicable before January 1, 2018: (cont’d)
Impairment losses on loans and advances (cont’d)
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described in
Note 3(e) (vi).
The specific component of the total allowances for impairment applies to financial assets
evaluated individually for impairment (those that have been outstanding for more than 90
days and considered non-performing according to the guidelines of the regulators, the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB)) and is based upon management’s best estimate of the
present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash
flows, management makes judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and the net
realizable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merit,
and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the credit risk function.
A collective component of the total allowance is established for:

A number of other new standards are also effective from January 1, 2018 but they do not have a significant
impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
Due to the transition method chosen by the Bank in applying IFRS 9, comparative information throughout
these financial statements has not been restated to reflect its requirements.
The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income from
contracts with customers recognized by the Bank.
The effect of initially applying IFRS 9 is mainly attributed to the following:
-

a decrease in impairment losses recognized on financial assets
additional disclosures related to IFRS 9

Except for the changes below, the Bank has consistently applied the accounting policies as outlined to all
periods presented in these financial statements.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Groups of homogenous loans that are not considered individually significant; and
Groups of assets that are individually significant but were not found to be
individually impaired (Incurred but not reported - IBNR).

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
sets out requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some
contracts to buy or sell non‑financial items. The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change
from IAS 39 and brings fundamental changes to the accounting for financial assets.

Collective allowance for groups of homogenous loans is established using a formula
approach based on historic loss rate experience.

IFRS 9 introduced changes to the classification and measurement of financial assets and the accounting
for impairment of financial assets from an incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit
loss approach.

•
•

Collective impairment for groups of assets that are individually significant but that were
not found to be individually impaired (IBNR) cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of
loans and advances, and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar credit risk
characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired loans
and advances, and held-to-maturity investment securities, but the individual impaired
items cannot yet be identified.

New or amended disclosures have been provided for the current period, where applicable. The key
changes to the Bank’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarized below.

In assessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors such as
credit quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. In order to estimate the
required allowance, assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled
and to determine the required input parameters, based on historical experience and current
economic conditions. The accuracy of the allowances depends on the estimates of future cash
flows for specific counterparty allowances and the model assumptions and parameters used
in determining collective allowances.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Transition disclosures

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
For classification purposes, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity instruments and
derivatives to be assessed on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instruments. The standard eliminates the previous categories
under IAS 39 of available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and loans and receivables. The Bank will generally
therefore classify its financial assets as follows:

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively,
except as described below:
-

Debt instruments at amortised cost;
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);
Equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities
and therefore, there have been no significant changes to the accounting for the Bank’s financial liabilities
under IFRS 9.

As permitted by the transition provisions of IFRS 9, the Bank elected not to restate comparative
financial information for 2017 for financial instruments within the scope of IFRS 9. As such, the
comparative financial information for 2017 is reported under IAS 39 and is not comparable to the
information presented in 2018 under IFRS 9. Adjustments to carrying amounts of financial assets
and liabilities arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognized in opening retained earnings
and other components of equity as at January 1, 2018.

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the
date of initial application:
-

The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held; and
The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVOCI.

If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Bank has assumed
that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model for financial
assets. The new impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts but not to equity investments. These new requirements are forward-looking and eliminate the
threshold that was in IAS 39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under the new approach it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized and therefore under
IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized earlier than under IAS 39. The impairment allowance is based on
a three-stage model that determines the expected credit loss based on the probability of default, the
exposure at default and the loss given default for loans and loan commitments, debt securities not held
for trading and financial guarantee contracts.
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The differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 are disclosed in the transition note disclosures
below.
The table below presents a reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS 39 with the carrying
amounts of the balances under IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018 including the effect of reclassification and remeasurements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Transition disclosures (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities - amortised cost
From securities – available-for-sale
From securities – held-to-maturity

IAS 39
measurement
at 31.12.17
$

Reclassifica/
tion
$

Remeasure/
ment ECL
$

IFRS 9
carrying
amount at
1.1.2018
$

78,896,834
53,739,498
31,733,399

-

-

78,896,834
53,739,498
31,733,399

Amortised cost
Amortised cost
Amortised cost

At January 1, 2018 the Bank reclassified an amount totaling $43,935,610 from investment securities
held-to-maturity to debt securities at amortised cost. All such securities were held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and the cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amounts outstanding, therefore meeting the SPPI test.

23,971,139
384,839,300
30,245,691
43,935,610

(30,245,691)
(43,935,610)

(3,798,130)
-

23,971,139
381,041,170
-

Amortised cost
Amortised cost

Transfer from Available-for-sale (AFS) to Debt securities at amortised cost

647,361,471

(74,181,301)

(3,798,130)

569,382,040

Amortised cost

-

4,451,308
4,451,308

-

4,451,308
4,451,308

43,935,610
43,935,610

(43,935,610)
(43,935,610)

-

43,935,610
(43,935,610)
-

Equity Instruments at FVOCI
Opening balance
From securities – available-for-sale
Closing balance
Investment securities – held-to-maturity
To debt securities -amortised cost
Closing balance
Investment securities - available for sale
Opening balance
To debt instruments amortised cost
To debt instruments at FVOCI
To equity instruments at FVOCI
Closing balance
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Provision for undrawn loan
commitments
Total financial liabilities
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Transition disclosures (cont’d)

-

Classification adjustments
Category

FVOCI

Debt Securities at amortised cost
Transfer from investment securities held-to-maturity to Debt securities at amortised cost

At January 1, 2018 the Bank reclassified an amount totaling $3,229,161 of its debt available-for-sale
portfolio to debt securities at amortised cost. These instruments met the SPPI test, are not actively traded
and were held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows of principal
and interest and for which there is no intention to sell. The fair value of these instruments at December
31, 2017 was $3,125,977. Their change in fair value in 2018 which would have been recorded in OCI
had these been instruments that continued to be revalued through OCI would have been $30,329.
Equity instruments at FVOCI
Transfer from AFS to Equity instruments at FVOCI (no recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss)
At January 1, 2018 the Bank elected to reclassify $4,451,308 of its equity available-for-sale portfolio to
equity instruments at FVOCI. No differences arose from this reclassification.
Impairment adjustments

30,245,691
30,245,691

(3,229,161)
(22,565,222)
(4,451,308)
(30,245,691)

-

30,245,691
(3,229,161)
(22,565,222)
(4,451,308)
-

580,956,745

-

-

580,956,745

-

-

116,831

116,831

580,956,745

-

116,831

581,073,576

18

Expected credit losses
The following table reconciles the opening impairment allowance for financial assets under IAS 39 and
provisions for loan commitments in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets to the ECL allowance determined under IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018.
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2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)

(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (cont’d)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Transition disclosures (cont’d)

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognized. It replaced existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 11 Construction
Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes and related interpretations.

Provision for
Impairment
Reunder IAS 39 at
December 31, measurement at
2017 January 1, 2018
Provision for impairment for:
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities

$

$

ECLs
under IFRS
9
$

24,255,747
193,764
24,449,511

(3,798,130)
278,315
(3,519,815)

20,457,617
472,079
20,929,696

-

116,831
116,831

116,831
116,831

24,449,511

(3,402,984)

21,046,527

Commitments
Undrawn loan commitments

Total

The standard outlines the principles an entity must apply to measure and recognize revenue. The core
principle is that an entity will recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The standard requires the Bank to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. It also specifies
how to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling
a contract.
Management has assessed that the main impact of this standard is in respect of fees and commission
income. The Bank earns fee and commission income (other than fees included in the calculation of the
effective interest rate) on provision of retail and corporate banking services. Based on preliminary
review, IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing and recognition of fees and commission
income from contracts with customers and the related assets and liabilities recognized by the Bank.
(f)

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
January 1, 2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted these new
or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.
The new standards listed below are those that could potentially have an impact on the Bank’s
performance, financial position or disclosures in the period of initial application. The potential impact of
each standard is discussed below.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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2.

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

3.

(f)

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective
(cont’d)

The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these
financial statements unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s
functional currency, except when otherwise indicated. All amounts presented in Eastern Caribbean
dollars have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the functional currency
at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify leases as
finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease accounting, with
recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual asset. Operating lease
accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less
than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted balances
with the Central Bank and deposits with other banks.

The Bank is assessing the impact that this standard will have on its 2019 financial statements.

(d)

Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and
advances to financial institutions or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective
interest method. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate.

Effective January 1, 2019
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet
finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet
accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Companies will be required to
bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognizing new assets and liabilities. The on-balance sheet
liability will attract interest and the total lease expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even
if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption will apply to short-term leases and
for low-value items with a value of US$5,000 or less.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – Recognition, initial measurement and
derecognition
The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits and debt securities on the date they are
originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control, over the
transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is created or retained by the
Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented
in the statement of financial position as “Assets pledged as collateral”, if the transferee has the right
to sell or re-pledge them.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss.
From January 1, 2018 any cumulative gain/loss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment
securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities.
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, or
cancelled, or when they expire.

(ii) Classification and measurement
Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
Financial assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are classified and subsequently
measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:
the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
A debt instrument is measured at initial recognition at fair value and is classified and subsequently
measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. All other equity investments are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial
recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. However, for financial
assets held at initial application, the business model assessment is based on facts and circumstances at
that date. Also, IFRS 9 permits new elective designations at FVTPL or FVOCI to be made on the date
of initial application and permits or requires revocation of previous FVTPL elections at the date of initial
application depending on the facts and circumstances at that date.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Business model assessment
IFRS 9 requires that financial assets are classified on the basis of the Bank’s business model for
managing such assets unless it makes an irrevocable election to designate the asset at fair value through
profit or loss. The business model refers to how financial assets are managed in order to generate cash
flows. The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages its portfolios
of financial assets to achieve its business objectives. Judgment is used in determining the Bank’s
business models that is supported by relevant, objective evidence including:

Business model assessment (cont’d)

-

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;

-

How performance of the business model and the financial assets held within the model are evaluated
and reported to key management personnel;

-

How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected);

-

The frequency and significance of past sales activity, the reason for those sales as well as
expectations about future sales; and

-

The significant risks affecting the performance of the business model for example, market risk and
credit risk and the activities undertaken to manage those risks.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held
both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
The business model assessment is forward looking in that if cash flows are realized in a manner that is
different from expectations the classification of the remaining assets in the business model is not changed
but instead that information is used to assess new instruments acquired.

Applicability to the Bank
The Bank’s business models fall into two main categories, which are indicative of the key strategies used
to generate returns as follows:
-

Hold to collect contractual cash flows (HTC) - the objective of this business model is to hold assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows. Under this model, the Bank holds loans and investment
securities to collect contractual principal and interest cash flows. Sales are expected to be
insignificant or infrequent; and

-

Hold to collect contractual cash flows and to sell (HTCS) - the objective of this business model is
to both collect contractual cash flows and to sell. Under this model the Bank holds investment
securities to manage everyday liquidity needs and sales are significant in value.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest - SPPI
assessment
For classification purposes the Bank first reviews the terms of the instruments to determine whether they
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the SPPI test.
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the
Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Due from banks, treasury bills, loans and advances to financial institutions and loans and advances
to customers
Prior to January 1, 2018, due from banks, treasury bills, loans and advances to financial institutions and
loans and advances to customers were carried at amortised cost. Investment securities available-for-sale
were carried at fair value through OCI.
Effective January 1, 2018 the Bank measured due from banks, treasury bills, loans and advances to
financial institutions, loans and advances to customers and investment securities at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

Investment Securities
Investment securities are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured according to their
respective classification. The Bank has no financial instruments that are measured at FVTPL.

-

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Impairment gains or losses recognized on amortised cost securities are recorded in the allowance for
impairment. When a debt instrument measured at amortised is sold, the difference between the sales
proceeds and the amortised cost of the security at the time of sale is recorded as other gains, in profit or
loss.

The financial assets are measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:

Debt securities carried at FVOCI are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses from
changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI). The loss allowance is recorded
in OCI and does not reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the statement of financial position.
When a debt instrument measured at FVOCI is sold the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in
equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

-

-

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely
payment so principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Loans and advances and debt instruments recognized initially at fair value are subsequently measured in
accordance with the classification of financial assets policy of the Bank. The Bank’s loan portfolio is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method which represents the gross carrying amount
less allowance for credit losses.

Debt securities carried at amortised cost are measured using the effective interest method and are
presented net of any allowance for credit losses, calculated in accordance with our policy for expected
credit losses (ECL), as described below. Interest income, including the amortization of premiums and
discounts are recorded in profit or loss.

All equity securities are measured at fair value. On initial recognition the Bank may make an irrevocable
election to present in OCI gains and losses from changes in fair value of certain equity instruments.
When insufficient information is available to measure fair value, then the instrument is measured at cost
when it represents the best estimate of fair value. When an equity instrument classified at FVOCI is sold
the cumulative gain or loss recorded in OCI is not recycled to profit or loss. Dividends from securities
measured at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss.
A financial instrument with a reliably measurable fair value can be designated as FVTPL (the fair value
option) on its initial recognition even if the financial instrument was not acquired or incurred principally
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing. The Bank has not designated any financial instruments as
FVTPL on initial recognition.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and measurement (cont’d)

Financial liabilities
At initial recognition financial liabilities are measured at fair value plus or minus, in the case of financial
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial liability. Financial liabilities other than loan commitments, financial
guarantees and derivatives are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets – Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 (cont’d)
Non-derivative financial assets - Measurement

Financial assets – Policy applicable before January 1, 2018

Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair
value and changes therein, including any interest or dividend income,
are recognized in profit or loss. Directly attributable transaction costs
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Held-to-maturity
financial assets

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and
receivables

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale
financial assets

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment
losses and foreign currency differences on debt instruments, are
recognized in OCI and accumulated in fair value reserve. When these
assets are derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is
reclassified to profit or loss.

The Bank classified non-derivative financial assets into the following categories:

•

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-fortrading or is designated as such on initial recognition.

•

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity, other than: (a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at
fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the Bank designates as available-for-sale; and (c)
those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. If the Bank were to sell other than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and
reclassified as available-for-sale.

•

•
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Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell
immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity
upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity
upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (c) those for which the holder may
not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates,
exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held to-maturity
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities
The Bank classifies non-derivative financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan
commitments, into the following categories:

•
•

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and
other liabilities.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(v) Fair value measurement (cont’d)

(iii) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and
losses arising from a group of similar transactions similar to the Bank’s trading activities.
(iv) Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability
is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization, using the effective interest method, of any difference between the initial amount
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
(v) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.
A number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price, and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability not based on
a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to
the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that
difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no
later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is
closed out.
(vi) Impairment
Policy applicable from January 1, 2018
The Bank recognizes loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FVTPL:
-

Financial assets that are debt instruments;
Lease receivables;
Financial guarantee contracts issued; and
Loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for
which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximize
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in
pricing a transaction.

-

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank measures
assets and long positions at a bid price, and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL
is recognized are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.

Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased
significantly since their initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognized but which are not
credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

Credit impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

-

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);

-

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

-

-

Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank
expects to receive; and
Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts
that the Bank expects to recover.

Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced
with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the
financial asset should be derecognized and ECL are measured as follows:
-

-

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected
cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls
from the existing asset.
If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair
value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time
of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing
financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

-

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered
to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has
reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a retail loan that is
overdue for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired.
Presentation of allowance for ECL
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
-

-
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Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider
otherwise;
It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or
The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the
assets;
Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;
Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Bank
cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn
component: the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined
amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any
excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a
provision; and
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance
is disclosed and is recognized in the fair value reserve.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case
when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried
out at the individual asset level.

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial
instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank
Impairment of Financial Assets
For loans carried at amortised cost, impairment losses are recognized at each reporting date in accordance
with the three-stage impairment model outlined below.
An impairment allowance is established for all financial assets, except for financial assets classified or
designated as at FVTPL and equity securities designated as at FVOCI, which are not subject to
impairment assessment. Assets subject to impairment assessment include certain loans, debt securities,
interest-bearing deposits with banks, customers’ liability under acceptances, accounts and accrued
interest receivable.
Impairment on loans is presented in ‘Allowance for Impairment’. Impairment allowance on debt
securities measured at FVOCI is presented in other components of equity. Other financial assets carried
at amortised cost are presented net of impairment in the statement of financial position.
Off-balance sheet items subject to impairment assessment include undrawn loan commitments. The
impairment is included in the provision for impairment losses to the extent that it does not exceed the
related loan balance and therefore included in other liabilities as provisions.
The impairment allowance is measured at each reporting date and is based on the three-stage impairment
model for expected credit losses.
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Calculation of expected credit losses
The Bank uses the explicit probability of default method when calculating expected credit losses. The
expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is based on credit losses that are expected to arise over the life of
the asset, referred to as the lifetime ECL, unless there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, in which case a 12-month expected credit loss (12-month ECL) is measured.
The lifetime ECL is the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. Lifetime expected credit losses are calculated based on a
weighted average of the expected losses with the weightings being based on the respective probabilities
of default. PDs and LGDs are therefore calculated over the life of the instrument.
The 12-month ECL represents a financial asset’s expected losses that are expected to arise from default
events that are possible within the 12-month period following origination of the instrument or from each
reporting date for those assets in stage 1. It is calculated by multiplying the probability of default
occurring in the next 12 months by the lifetime ECLs that would result from that default, regardless of
when those losses occur.
The Bank’s policy for determining whether there is a significant increase in credit risk is outlined below.
The ECL is calculated on an individual account basis but for purposes of determining probability of
default and exposure at default, financial assets are grouped according to common characteristics.
Impairment is assessed at each reporting period. IFRS 9 establishes a three-stage impairment model
based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of a financial asset since its initial
recognition. The three stages then determine the amount of impairment to be recognized as expected
credit losses (ECL) at each reporting date as well as the amount of interest revenue to be recorded.
The Bank makes a determination as to whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition by considering the deterioration in internal rating and payment delinquencies. For
purposes of calculating ECL the Bank classifies its financial assets into Stages. The stages for loans and
advances align with the Bank’s internal ratings system. Facilities with an internal rating of 1 are aligned
to Stage 1. Facilities with an internal rating of 2 are classified as Stage 2 and facilities with an internal
rating of 3-5 are classified as Stage 3.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Calculation of expected credit losses (cont’d)

Calculation of expected credit losses (cont’d)

Stages 1 and 2 comprise performing financial assets while Stage 3 comprises non-performing assets as
follows:

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk and credit -impaired financial assets
The transition from recognizing 12-month expected credit losses (i.e. stage 1) to lifetime expected credit
losses (i.e. stage 2) is based on the notion of a significant increase in credit risk over the remaining life
of the instrument in comparison with the credit risk on initial recognition. The focus is on the changes
in the credit risk and not the changes in the amount of the expected credit losses.

Performing financial assets
• Stage 1 – For instruments in this stage, credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition. A 12-month ECL is recognized and interest income is recognized on the gross
carrying amount of the financial instrument. Financial assets in this stage are operating in
accordance with the contractual terms and conditions since initial recognition. These assets
align with the Bank’s internal rating of 1.

•

Stage 2 – For instruments in this stage, credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. Lifetime ECL is recognized and interest income is recognized on the gross carrying
amount of the financial instrument. This stage also includes financial assets reclassified from
Stage 3 whose credit risk has improved. Financial assets in this stage align with the Bank’s
internal rating of 2.

Credit-impaired financial assets

•

Stage 3 – When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss allowance is
recognized equal to credit losses expected over the remaining lifetime of the asset. Interest
revenue is calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather
than on its gross carrying amount. Financial assets in this stage align with the Bank’s internal
ratings of 3 – 5.

The determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk is therefore critical to
the staging process. Factors to consider include:
Changes in market or general economic conditions;
Expectation of potential breaches;
Expected delays in payment;
Deterioration in credit ratings; or
Significant changes in operating results or financial position of the borrower.
In making the determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank
considers deterioration in its internal ratings as well as payment delinquencies. A significant increase in
credit risk will exist when repayments are 30 days in arrears and/or when there has been a deterioration
in the internal rating assigned.
Credit-impaired financial assets are those for which one or more detrimental effects on the estimated
future cash flows have already occurred. This is similar to the point at which an incurred loss would
have been recognized under IAS 39.
These instruments are in stage 3 and lifetime expected credit losses are recognized. Indicators that an
asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the following:
Actual breach of contract, e.g. delinquency in payments
Probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Calculation of expected credit losses (cont’d)

Calculation of expected credit losses (cont’d)

Definition of default
The definition of default is integral to the ECL model. The Bank’s definition of default is consistent with
its internal risk management process and includes a qualitative creditworthiness criterion as well as a
quantitative past due criterion. For loans and advances, default occurs when the borrower is more than
90 days past due on any obligation with the Bank and/or if the Bank considers that the borrower is
unlikely to make their repayment in full without the Bank foreclosing on the loan facility. The Bank
also uses its internal rating system to determine default. All loans and advances with a rating of 3 – 5
are considered to be in default. For credit card balances, default occurs when payments are 90 days past
due. The definition of default is applied consistently from one year to another and to all loans and
advances unless it can be demonstrated that circumstances have changed such that a new definition is
appropriate.

ECL Calculation Methodology (cont'd)
The forward-looking information is incorporated through the use of regression formulae that translate
the input economic information and uses this information to forecast default rates and non-performing
loan ratios. The macroeconomic information used by the Bank are:

For investment securities, the Bank considers default to take place when there has been significant
deterioration in the rating of the underlying security and payment of principal and interest is over 90
days in arrears.
ECL Calculation Methodology
For loans and advances, the Bank calculates ECL in a manner that reflects an unbiased and probabilityweighted amount that is determined by evaluation of a range of possible outcomes, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. The Bank applies a discounted probability-weighted estimate of the cash
shortfalls expected to result from defaults over the relevant time horizon. The cash shortfall is the
difference between the cash flows that are due according to the terms of the agreement and the cash
flows it expects to collect over the relevant time period.
The Bank calculates the probability-weighted average of expected credit losses over different scenarios.
Each scenario specifies forecasts of different economic conditions and these economic conditions are
used to adjust default probabilities to incorporate this forward-looking information.
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Gross Domestic Product (local GDP)
Inflation
Global GDP (for international investments)
Three variables are integral to the calculation of the ECL - the probability of default (PD), the exposure
at default (EAD) and the loss given default (LGD). The product of these variables is adjusted for forwardlooking information and discounted at the instrument’s original interest rate to arrive at the calculation
of ECL.
Probability of default - measures likelihood of default over a given period of time. In arriving at the
probability of default the Bank first categorizes facilities according to common characteristics and uses
migration analysis to measure the percentage of loans as they move across the relevant stages. From this
analysis marginal PDs for successive years are generated using a multiplication matrix. In the case of
investment securities, the Bank utilized information from credit loss tables that are generated by
reputable external agencies.
Exposure at default - this is an estimate of the exposure at a default date that takes place in the future,
taking into consideration repayments of principal or interest and interest charged. In arriving at EAD
estimates, the Bank employs cash flow analyses.
Loss given default - this is an estimate of the cash shortfall the Bank expects when a facility defaults at
a point in time. For secured facilities the Bank considers the amount that may be realized from the sale
of the collateral net of costs to sell. In the case of investment securities, the Bank utilized information
from credit loss tables that are generated by reputable external agencies.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable before January 1, 2018

Under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Bank (cont’d)

Identification and measurement of impairment

Calculation of expected credit losses (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets

ECL Calculation Methodology (cont'd)

At each reporting date, the Bank assessed whether there was objective evidence that financial assets not
classified as at fair value through profit or loss were impaired.

Loan Commitments
Loan commitments arise when an entity enters into a contract to provide a loan facility to another party.
For loan commitments, credit loss estimates consider the portion of the commitment that is expected to
be drawn over the relevant time period.
At the end of each reporting period, 12-month expected credit losses are initially provided for such
commitments. Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk of a default occurring on the
loan to which the commitment relates, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.
For loan commitments, ECL is calculated as the difference between:
The contractual cash flows for amounts that are repayable if the holder of the loan commitment
draws on the loan; and
The cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
default or delinquency by a borrower;
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider;
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or
other observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the expected cash flows from
a group of financial assets.

For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or
prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost. In general, the Bank considers a decline of 20% to be
significant and a period of nine (9) months to be prolonged.

The discount rate used is the effective interest rate for the primary facility. In instances where there has
been no draw downs on the loan facility, the loss allowance is recognized and presented as a provision.
Judgement
Judgement is required in making assumptions and estimations when calculating the ECL. This includes
the movement of financial instruments between stages and the application of forward-looking
information. The underlying assumptions and estimates may result in changes to the amounts recorded
from period to period and can significantly impact the results of operations.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

(vi) Impairment (cont’d)

Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d)

Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost

The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and
held-to-maturity investment securities both at an individual asset and a
collective level. All individually significant loans and advances and heldto-maturity investments are assessed for specific impairment. Those not
found to be impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment
that has been incurred but not yet individually identified. Assets that are
not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment.
Collective assessment is carried out by grouping together assets with
similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses historical information
on the timing of recoveries and the amount of the loss incurred, and
makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such
that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by
historical trends.
An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are
recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When
the Bank considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the
asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If the amount of the
impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized,
then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss.
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Available-forsale financial
assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are
recognized by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value
reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between
the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortization, and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognized previously in
profit or loss. If the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt
security subsequently increases and the increase can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for an investment in an
equity instrument classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through
profit or loss.

Equityaccounted
investees

An impairment loss in respect of an equity accounted investee is
measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with
its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss,
and is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(vii) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities

(vii) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont’d)

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018

Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 (cont’d)

Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different.

Financial assets (cont’d)
If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or
loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income
calculated using the effective interest rate method.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original
financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and
a new financial asset is recognized at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as
part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
-

fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

-

other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the
modification is usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a
new asset with substantially different terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that
would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be
written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts the result of the quantitative
evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment
as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at
the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification
adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining
term of the modified financial asset.

Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes nonfinancial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial
liability.
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost
of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest
rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities,
the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect
current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an
adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.
Policy applicable before January 1, 2018
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset were modified, then the Bank evaluated whether the cash flows of the
modified asset were substantially different. If the cash flows were substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset were deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset was derecognised and a new financial asset was recognised at fair value.
If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower and the
asset was not derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the pre-modification
interest rate.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(f)

Property and equipment

(vii) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont’d)

(i)

Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 (cont’d)
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognised a financial liability when its terms were modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability were substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms was recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and consideration paid was recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid
included non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new
modified financial liability.

Recognition and measurement
Land and buildings, which comprise mainly branches and offices, are shown at fair value, based
on valuations done by external independent valuers every 5 years, less subsequent depreciation
for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
All other assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes:

•
•

If the modification of a financial liability was not accounted for as derecognition, then any costs and fees
incurred were recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the
instrument.

•
•

the cost of materials and direct labour;
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use;
in instances when the Bank has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located; and
capitalized borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing
the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are
recognized net within other income in profit or loss.
(ii)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Bank. All other related expenditures are charged to
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation for buildings is calculated to write off their costs less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and the reducing balance method
for all other property and equipment as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

120 1st

National Bank Annual Report 2018

48

2%
10%
15% - 25%
20%
20%
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f)

Property and equipment (cont’d)

(h)

Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn on
customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously with
the reimbursement from the customers.

(iii) Depreciation (cont’d)
Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value on the date the
guarantee was given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because
all guarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to
the value of the guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognized. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the
initial amount, less amortization of fees recognized in accordance with IAS 18, and the best estimate
of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined based on experience of
similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgement of management. The
fee income earned is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase
in the liability relating to guarantees is reported in profit or loss within other operating expenses.

Land is not depreciated.
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
(g)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from computer software
licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are
amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, generally not
exceeding 4 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. Generally, the
identified intangible assets of the Bank have a definite useful life.

(i)

•
•
•

At each reporting date intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in
estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analyzed to assess
whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Bank chooses to use the cost model for the measurement
after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are annually tested for impairment and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired, the intangible asset is analyzed to assess
whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognized as a finance cost.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring the specific software to use. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives.
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the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class
of obligations may be small.

Computer software licenses

Software has a maximum expected useful life of 4 years (25% per annum).

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:

(j)

Employee benefits
(i)
Pension obligation
The Bank operates a defined benefit plan for all employees. The assets of the plan are held
separately from those of the Bank. The pension plan is funded through payments from employees
and the Bank, taking account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. The
Bank’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j)

Employee benefits (cont’d)

(k)

Income tax (cont’d)

(i)

Pension obligation (cont’d)
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Bank,
the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate
the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum
funding requirements.

b)

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the Bank’s business plans and the reversal
of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any,
excluding interest) are recognized immediately in OCI. The Bank determines the net interest
expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual
period to the then-net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability/(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are
recognized in personnel expenses in profit or loss.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately
in profit or loss. The Bank recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit
plan when the settlement occurs.
(ii)

(k)

Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Bank recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and equipment.
Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit nor loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and which
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Share capital
(i) Ordinary shares
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Bank. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

a)

(ii)

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable profit or loss for the
year and any adjustments to the tax payable or recoverable in respect of previous years. The amount
of the current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid
or received that reflects uncertainty related to taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

(l)

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are approved
by the shareholders. Dividends for the year declared after the reporting date are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m)

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognized within
“interest income” and “interest expense” in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

(q)

Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Interest on loans and advances and fee income
Interest on loans is recognized in interest income using the effective interest method. The estimated
future cash flows used in this calculation include those determined by the contractual term of the asset
and all fees that are considered to be integral to the effective interest rate. Fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate are treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Fees that relate to activities such as originating, restructuring or renegotiating loans are deferred and
recognized as non-interest income over the expected term of such loans using the effective interest
method. Where there is a reasonable expectation that a loan will be originated, commitment and standby
fees are also recognized as fee income over the expected term of the resulting loans using the effective
interest method.
(n)

Fees and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Performance linked fees or fee components are recognized when the performance criteria
are fulfilled.

(o)

Dividend income
Dividends are recognized in profit or loss when the Bank’s right to receive payment is established.

(p)

Leases
(i)
The Bank is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
(ii)
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The Bank is the lessor
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the assets are included in the statement of
financial position based on the nature of the assets. Lease income is recognized over the term of
the lease on the straight line basis.
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4.

Financial risk management

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
Credit risk;
Liquidity risk;
Market risk (including currency risk, interest rate and other price risk); and
Operational risk

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

•
•
•
•
4.1

4.2.1 Credit risk measurement
(a)

Risk management framework
The Bank’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of its risk
management framework. The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those
activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to retail banking, and operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance
between risk and return and minimize potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank prudential guidelines. Clients of the Bank are segmented into five rating
classes. The Bank’s rating scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities
defined for each rating class.
Bank’s rating

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Bank’s activities. The Bank, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand
their roles and obligations.
The audit committee oversees how management, through the finance department, monitors
compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the
risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. Management identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides
oversight for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible
for the independent review of risk management and the control environment. It undertakes both
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are
reported to the audit committee.
4.2
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Description of the grade
Applicable after January 1, 2018
Stage 1 - Pass
Stage 2 - Special Mention
Stage 3 - Sub-standard
Stage 3 - Doubtful
Stage 3 - Loss

Description of the grade
Applicable before January 1, 2018
Pass
Special Mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

This means that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their
probability of default changes. The Bank regularly validates the performance of the rating and
their predictive power with regard to default events.
(b)

Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external ratings such as Caricris or their equivalents are used
by management for management of the credit risk exposures.

4.2.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and
advances to customers and other banks, and investment debt securities in investment securities and
other bills. Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segment that
represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those
provided for at the reporting date. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments
such as loan commitments. Credit risk is managed and controlled by management which reports to the
Board of Directors.

128 1st

Loans and advances
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s prudential guidelines are embedded in the Bank’s daily
operational management. The operational measurements can be compared with impairment
allowances required under IAS 39, which are based on losses that have been incurred at the reporting
date (the “incurred loss model”).

56

e an mana es limits an controls concentrations of cre it ris
particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.

ere er t ey are i entifie

in

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such risks
are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the Board of
Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (cont’d)

4.2.3 Impairment and provisioning policies

Covering on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to
trading items. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.

The impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at the reporting date is derived
from each of the five internal rating grades. The table below shows the percentage of the Bank’s onbalance sheet items relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment provision for 2017
and expected credit loss (ECL) for 2018 for each of the Bank’s internal rating categories:

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending
limits where appropriate.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.
(a)

Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of
these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank implements
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:

•
•
•

Mortgages over residential properties;
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured, while revolving
individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss,
the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are
noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the
nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b)

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as
required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary
and commercial letters of credit (which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a
customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions) are collateralized by the underlying shipments of goods to which
they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in
the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to
extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as
most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit
standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Bank’s rating
Stage 1 – Pass
Stage 2 – Special mention
Stage 3 - Sub-standard, doubtful, loss
Pass
Special Mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

2018
Loans and
ECL
advances provision
(%)
(%)
82.2
12.9
7.6
29.0
10.2
58.1
-

2017
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
81.7
26.3
5.1
1.5
7.3
33.7
3.3
20.8
2.6
17.7

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of
impairment exists, based on the following factors set out by the Bank:

•

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

•

Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of
sales);

•

Breach of loan covenants or conditions;

•

Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

•

Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and

•

Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality
thresholds at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment
allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the
reporting date on a case-by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The
assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and
the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
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4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Notwithstanding the current dynamics of the economy, management is fairly confident in its ability to
continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank based on the following:

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:
Maximum exposure
2018
2017
$
$
28,003,720
53,739,498
36,422,936
31,733,399
23,971,139

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
- Overdrafts
- Demand loans
- Promissory notes
- Mortgages
- Credit cards
Investment securities:
- Debt instrument at FVOCI
- Debt instrument at amortised cost
- Available-for-sale securities
- Held-to-maturity securities
Other assets
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as
follows:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities
At December 31

10,980,992
316,103,997
8,294,196
164,564,856
2,163,104

13,321,624
216,532,407
7,158,139
145,859,115
1,968,015

33,238,509
77,247,306
5,554,989
682,574,605

25,794,383
43,935,610
5,134,489
569,147,818

688,008
45,937,540
46,625,548
729,200,153

173,008
66,801,507
66,974,515
636,122,333

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at December 31,
2018 and 2017, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached.
For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as
reported in the statement of financial position.
Loans and advances to customers and financial institutions comprise 73% of the total maximum
exposure (2017 - 71%); investments in debt securities comprise 17% (2017 - 12%).
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4.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements (cont’d)

•

87% (2017 - 87%) of the loans and advances portfolio is categorized in the top two grades of the
internal rating system;

•

86% (2017 – 78%) of the portfolio is backed by collateral in the form of mortgage debentures, legal
mortgages, life and comprehensive insurances, bills of sale, cash and guarantees;

•

73% (2017 - 71%) of the total loans and advances portfolio is considered to be neither past due nor
impaired;

•

The Bank continues to grant loans and advances in accordance with its lending policies and
guidelines; and

•

12% (2017 – 5.4%) of investments are rated above A-; no investments were rated CariA (2017 72%); 36% (2017 – 24.7%) are rated above B- and below BBB+; 34% (2017 - 57.8%) are above
CariBBB and below CariA. Many issuers are not rated but only 17% (2017 - 12%) of investments
in the portfolio are not rated and 2% (2017 – nil) are selective default.

4.2.5 Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarized as follows:
2018
$

2017
$

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired
Gross
Less: allowance for impairment (Notes 11 and 12)

381,541,200
91,744,124
52,723,920
526,009,244
(23,902,099)

290,099,609
64,917,855
54,077,583
409,095,047
(24,255,747)

Net

502,107,145

384,839,300

-

23,971,139

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Neither past due nor impaired (Note 10)
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273,621,486
16,100,849
348,450
28,824
290,099,609

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2018
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

85,049,271
10,917,537
95,966,808

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2.5 Loans and advances (cont’d)
(a)

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired (cont’d)
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to financial institutions were graded as Pass as at December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.

(b)

62

6,040,841
6,040,841
167,727,668
5,069,781
172,797,449
1,718,863
1,718,863
13,084,843
113,531
348,450
28,824
13,575,648

December 31, 2017
Loans and advances to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss
Total

Overdrafts

Credit Cards Demand loans

Mortgages

Total loans
and advances
to customers
Promissory
notes

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal
rating system adopted by the Bank.
Total loans
Promissory
and advances
December 31, 2018
Overdrafts Credit Cards Demand loans
notes
Mortgages to customers
$
$
$
$
$
Loans and advances to customers
$
Grades
1. Stage 1 - pass
10,093,619
1,666,924
246,963,145
7,026,980
101,601,847
367,352,515
2. Stage 2 - special mention
295,621
7,008,016
12,100
6,872,948
14,188,685
3. Stage 3 - Sub-standard
4. Stage 3 - Doubtful
5. Stage 3 - Loss
Total
10,389,240
1,666,924
253,971,161
7,039,080
108,474,795
381,541,200
(a)

Credit risk (cont’d)
4.2

4.2.5 Loans and advances (cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)
4.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018
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Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other
information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances by
class to customers net of unearned interest that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due over 90 days

Credit
cards
$
511,917
290,077
97,078
-

Demand Promissory
loans
notes
$
$
48,013,915
1,061,795
1,196,556
241,942
5,432,963
195,669
-

Mortgages
$
28,907,905
3,292,241
2,502,066
-

Total loans and
advances to
customers
$
78,495,532
5,020,816
8,227,776
-

Total

899,072

54,643,434

1,499,406

34,702,212

91,744,124

- 122,282,535

1,886,894

86,653,710

210,823,139

December 31, 2018

Fair value of collateral

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due over 90 days

Credit
cards
$
190,825
35,049
23,278

Demand Promissory
loans
notes
$
$
24,508,184
1,006,709
3,072,455
106,383
4,596,813
39,222
-

Mortgages
$
23,267,907
4,100,262
3,970,768
-

Total loans and
advances to
customers
$
48,973,625
7,279,100
8,641,852
23,278

Total

249,152

32,177,452

1,152,314

31,338,937

64,917,855

- 116,046,559

3,433,162

90,879,783

210,359,504

December 31, 2017

Fair value of collateral
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2

Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2.5 Loans and advances (cont’d)
(c)

4.2.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills

Loans and advances individually impaired
The table below shows the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances to customers
by grades before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held.
2018
$
52,723,920
-

2017
$
242,091
168,290
29,620,242
13,596,530
10,450,430

Total

52,723,920

54,077,583

Fair value collateral

97,908,236

103,942,928

Individual impaired loans
1. Stage 3 - Sub-standard, doubtful, loss
2. Pass
3. Special mention
4. Sub-standard
5. Doubtful
6. Loss

(d)

Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management
plans, modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue
customer account is reset to normal status and managed together with other similar accounts.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of
local management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans, in particular customer
finance loans. Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired as at December
31, 2018 amounted to $6,964,579 (2017 - $1,830,299).

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating
agency designation at December 31, 2018 and 2017, based on Caricris or their equivalent:
Investment securities
Debt
Debt
Instruments at Instruments at
FVOCI Amortised Cost
$
$
17,644,775
15,593,734
22,340,548
7,680,366
6,565,343
31,179,680
9,481,369

A- to A+
BBB- to BBB+
BB- to BB+
CariBBB+
CariBBB
SD (selective default)
Unrated

Treasury
bills
$
6,984,129
11,695,354
2,984,488
14,758,965

Total

36,422,936

33,238,509

77,247,306

146,908,751

Treasury
bills
$
28,745,443
2,987,956
31,733,399

Investment securities
Held-toAvailablematurity
for-sale
$
$
5,485,412
14,158,666
5,111,534
5,809,271
9,078,853
20,771,686
8,973,537
341,033
43,935,610
25,794,382

Total
$
5,485,412
14,158,666
10,920,805
9,078,853
49,517,129
12,302,526
101,463,391

At December 31, 2018

At December 31, 2017

A- to A+
BBB- to BBB+
BB- to BB+
CariBBB+
CariBBB
Unrated
Total

Total
$
$
17,644,775
37,934,282
14,664,495
6,565,343
42,875,034
2,984,488
24,240,334

4.2.7 Repossessed collateral
During 2018, the Bank obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as follows:
Carrying amount
$
608,576

Nature of assets
Vehicles

Repossessed vehicles are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding
indebtedness.
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Credit risk (cont’d)

4.2

5,459,919
39,109,295
142,132,092
2,797,138

5,065,463
207,463

31,733,399

Tourism Government
$
$

-

Professional
and other
services
$

-

Personal
$

6,513,905
590,405
76,487,298
41,222
46,704,918
-

Other
industries
$

13,321,624
1,968,015
216,532,407
7,158,139
145,859,115
23,971,139
53,739,498
31,733,399

Total
$

66

Manufacturing
$

-

-

1,082,301
1,377,610
76,744,276
6,969,130
90,099,998

25,794,383
43,935,610
5,134,489
569,147,818

15,718,125

217,532,877

-

856,847
1,514,173
101,034,195
8,220,763
105,906,899

Financial
institutions
$

-

-

2,965,152
24,885,867
30,272
4,666,119

9,908,800
103,575
140,350,123

66,801,507

18,330,286

37,719,976

-

2,563,030
28,269,476
21,609
6,865,861

-

9,191,329

102,147
176,729,469

16,263,262

5,584,773
648,931
106,377,301
51,824
47,701,231

-

46,625,548

77,247,306
5,554,989
682,574,605

33,238,509

10,980,992
2,163,104
316,103,997
8,294,196
164,564,856

28,003,720
36,422,936

381,207

61,139,942
-

1,292,116
2,099,089
1,674,258

-

-

17,343,598

-

683,377
16,048,252
611,969

36,422,936

-

Industry sectors (cont’d)

53,739,498
-

-

1,021,207
31,415,327
-

32,547,410 176,273,315

29,137,299

4.

Credit risk (cont’d)
Financial risk management (cont’d)
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.2

4.2.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (cont’d)

(b)

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial
institutions

1,576,462
1,624,079
1,812,221

6,051,736
25,883,219
96,104,888

28,131,385

Credit commitments

38,035,864
5,554,989
86,051,130

11,515,328

849
1,135,742
1,804,638

-

5,918,358

Loans and advances to customers:
- Overdraft
- Credit cards
- Demand loans
- Promissory notes
- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- Debt instruments at FVOCI
- Debt instruments at amortised
costs
Other assets
As at December 31, 2018

28,003,720
-

162,597
5,375,560
117,515
642,328

5,012,762

2,970,295

Due from other banks
Treasury bills

Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorized by the industry sectors of
counterparties.
Professional
Financial
and other
Other
institutions Manufacturing
Tourism Government
services
Personal industries
Total
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

23,971,139

6,298,000

94,170

(b)

Geographical sectors
The Bank operates primarily in Saint Lucia and the exposure to credit risk is concentrated there.

Loans and advances to customers:
Overdraft
Credit cards
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages
1,933,531
Investment securities:
available-for-sale
9,833,847
held-to-maturity
17,948,816
Other assets
5,134,489
As at December 31, 2017
112,561,320

550,000

(a)

4.2.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
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GBP
$
3.4490
3.6453
-
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Total

140 1st

46,625,548

The following table summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at
December 31, 2018 and 2017. Included in the table, are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying
amount, categorized by currency.

1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

EUR
$
3.0937
3.2330

Notes to the Financial Statements

TTD

183,129 57,859,437
356,437 28,003,720
- 36,422,936
- 502,107,145

CAD
$
1.9834
2.1541

For the year ended December 31, 2018

GBP

172,098
-

- 33,238,509
- 77,247,306
5,554,989
539,566 740,434,042

BBD
$
1.3517
1.3517

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

USD

171,803
1,190,071
-

172,098

- 645,176,129
- 23,368,014
- 668,544,143
539,566 71,889,899

At December 31, 2018
At December 31, 2017

USD
$
2.7000
2.7000

Financial risk management (cont’d)

EURO

2,514,666
12,226,907
-

1,361,874

172,098

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are held in United States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$)
to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1976. The
rate of exchange of EC$1 for relevant major currencies was as follows:

4.

CAD

546,080
386,806
-

33,238,509
3,286,811
51,266,893

1,361,874

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure
by currency, and in total, which are monitored daily.

Market risk (cont’d)

ECD

198,823
385,219
-

932,886

7,221,300
7,221,300
44,045,593

4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk

4.3

54,244,936
13,286,182
36,422,936
502,107,145

584,042

960
960
931,926

At December 31, 2018, if equity securities prices had been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $145,359 higher/lower (2017 -$145,336
higher/lower) as a result of a reasonably possible increase/decrease in fair value of available-for-sale
equity securities at the reporting date.

69

The Bank is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Bank and
classified in the statement of financial position as available-for-sale. To manage its price risk arising
from investments in equity securities, the Bank diversifies its portfolio.

Concentration of currency risk - on and off balance sheet financial instruments

73,960,495
5,554,989
685,576,683

584,042

4.3.1 Other price risk

BD

As at December 31, 2018
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
- Debt instruments at FVOCI
- Debt instruments at amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets

637,953,869
23,368,014
661,321,883
24,254,800

The Bank’s exposures to market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank’s
retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities and equity risks arising from the Bank’s availablefor-sale investments.

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net on-balance sheet positions

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices - e.g. equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit
spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) - will affect the Bank’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of the Bank’s market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters to ensure
the bank’s solvency while optimizing the return on risk.

-

Market risk

-

4.3

-

Financial risk management (cont’d)

-

4.

-

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

46,625,548

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Credit commitments

Financial risk management (cont’d)
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4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)
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Market risk (cont’d)

576,228,860
5,220,816
581,449,676
(18,849,242)
66,974,515

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net on-balance sheet positions
Credit commitments

735,606
-

-

70

1,294
2,567,953
-

1,294
-

4,726,591
75,769,132
-

4,726,591
-

Concentration of currency risk - on and off balance sheet financial instruments (cont’d)
ECD
CAD
EURO
USD
As at December 31, 2017
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central
Bank
76,230,247
232,896
527,796
1,884,256
Due from other banks
(3,396,390)
502,710
2,041,451 52,969,724
Treasury bills
31,733,399
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
23,971,139
Loans and advances to customers
384,839,300
Investment securities:
available-for-sale
152,640
- 25,641,743
held-to-maturity
43,935,610
Other assets
5,134,489
Total financial assets
562,600,434
735,606
2,569,247 80,495,723

4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

4.3

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
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1,486,658
-

-

1,486,658

-

15,441
1,471,217
-

GBP

58,202
-

-

58,202

-

58,202
-

TTD

78,896,834
53,739,498
31,733,399

Total

- 586,177,561
98,782 61,867,091
- 66,974,515

- 580,956,745
5,220,816

- 25,794,383
- 43,935,610
5,134,489
98,782 648,044,652

- 23,971,139
- 384,839,300

6,198
92,584
-

BD
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4.
Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.3
Market risk (cont’d)

4.3.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on
exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair
value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce
losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.
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Market risk (cont’d)

4.3

9,112,330
20,995,314
13,147,472
13,147,472
7,847,842

33,238,509
3,789,156
87,260,735
437,211,879
437,211,879
(349,951,144)

52,538,190
19,992,032
72,530,222
215,217
215,217
72,315,005

12,022,194
4,940,597
34,705,845
51,668,636
122,371,089
122,371,089
(70,702,453)

52,623,475
8,344,219
Up to 1 month
$

5,645,544
2,031,745
6,108,901
1-3 months
$

152,638
16,245,422
18,325,595
15,366,949
17,280,279
3-12 months
$

60,713,115
18,794,082
41,919,033
-

313,924,424
5,068,837
308,855,587
-

1-5 years Over 5 years
$
$

51,703,257
5,220,816
56,924,073
28,223,273
85,147,346
5,134,489
78,896,834
1,116,023
Non-interest
bearing
$

580,956,745
5,220,816
586,177,561
61,867,091
648,044,652
25,794,383
43,935,610
5,134,489
23,971,139
384,839,300
78,896,834
53,739,498
31,733,399
Total
$

72

11,067,396
815,588

18,608,122
13,333,346
18,291,602

16,665,986

188,395
3,075,677
-

67,370,883

313,924,424

Total interest repricing gap

Total financial liabilities

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

As at December 31, 2018
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
- Debt instruments at FVOCI
- Debt instruments at amortised cost
Other assets

1-5 years
$

3-12 months
$

25,453,350
751,592
-

17,050,262

111,602
111,602
60,601,513

435,169,111

-

-

435,169,111

9,647,943
-

425,521,168

Over 5
years
$

Total
$

33,238,509
77,247,306
5,554,989

(22,788,462)

71,889,899

95,598,486 668,544,143

72,230,472 645,176,129
23,368,014 23,368,014

72,810,024 740,434,042

5,554,989

57,859,437 57,859,437
9,395,598 28,003,720
- 36,422,936
- 502,107,145

Non-interest
bearing
$

1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

1-3 months
$

Financial risk management (cont’d)

103,838,622

14,529,121 117,672,676
14,529,121 117,672,676
2,521,141 (50,301,793)

396,940,089
396,940,089
(293,101,467)

Up to 1
month
$

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts,
categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates.

4.3.3 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
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4.

Market risk (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.3

4.3.3 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

As at December 31, 2017
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
available-for-sale
held-to-maturity
Other assets

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Total interest repricing gap

National Bank Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.3

Market risk (cont’d)

4.4

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

4.3.3 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

4.4.2 Non-derivative cash flows

The Bank’s fair value interest rate risk arises from debt securities classified as available-for-sale debt. At
December 31, 2018, if market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all variables held
constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $1,717,947 higher/$66,863 lower. At
December 31, 2017, if the same scenario was applied debt securities available for sale, comprehensive
income would be $832,563 higher and $792,823 lower as a result of the decrease/increase in fair value
of available-for-sale debt securities.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At December 31,
2018, if variable interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been $3,303,918 higher/lower (2017 - $2,318,593).
4.4

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

4.4.1 Liquidity risk management process
The Board of Directors establishes the strategy and policy for the management of liquidity risk. The Bank's
liquidity is managed by the Finance Department. The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure,
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due,
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Bank’s reputation. While a significant proportion of the Bank’s liabilities fall within the current category,
the Bank maintains approximately 31% (2017 - 42%) of assets to manage any payment obligations as
history has shown that the assets maintained to manage these outflows is adequate.
The key elements of the liquidity management process are as follows:

•

146 1st

Daily and weekly monitoring to ensure that requirements are met. This includes the replenishment of
funds as they mature or as borrowed by customers. The Bank ensures that sufficient funds are held in
the one to thirty day maturity bucket to satisfy liquidity requirements.

•

Maintaining a portfolio of marketable assets that can easily be liquidated, as protection against any
unforeseen liquidity problems. Additionally, the investment portfolio is fairly diversified by currency,
geography, provider, product and term.

•

Weekly monitoring of the statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and
regulatory requirements.

•

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

•

Reviewing sources of liquidity regularly to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography,
provider, product and term.
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The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities and
assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows; the Bank manages the inherent
liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.
Up to 1
month 1-3 months 3-12 months
$
$
$

As at December 31, 2018
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
509,762,030
Other liabilities
23,368,014
Total financial liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates) 533,130,044
Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates) 162,571,524

As at December 31, 2017
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates)
Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates)

1-5 years Over 5 years
$
$

Non-interest
bearing
$

13,385,954 124,726,412
-

220,542
-

-

648,094,938
23,368,014

13,385,954 124,726,412

220,542

-

671,462,952

51,668,636 72,530,222 436,690,044

744,455,740

20,995,314

Up to 1
month 1-3 months 3-12 months
$
$
$

1-5 years Over 5 years
$
$

Non-interest
bearing
$

448,655,598 14,600,999 119,274,394
5,220,816
-

114,227
-

-

582,645,218
5,220,816

453,876,414 14,600,999 119,274,394

114,227

-

587,866,034

131,130,826 17,050,260 67,370,884 60,713,116 313,924,422

590,189,508
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4

Financial risk management (cont’d)

4.4

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

4.5

Operational risk (cont’d)
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Bank policy
requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

4.4.3 Assets held for managing liquidity risk
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash,
Central Bank balances, items in the course of collection, and treasury and other eligible bills, loans and
advances to financial institutions, and loans and advances to customers. In the normal course of business,
a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be extended. The Bank would
also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities and accessing additional funding
sources.

The Board of Directors has oversight of the operational risk management strategy and processes of the
Bank, delegated to the credit risk committee and the managing director. This responsibility is supported
by the development of overall standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

•

4.4.4 Off-balance sheet items
(a)

Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that
commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 35), are summarized in the table
below.

(b)

Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
Financial guarantees (Note 35) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity
date.
As at December 31, 2018
Loan commitments
Guarantees, acceptances and
other financial facilities
Total
As at December 31, 2017
Loan commitments
Guarantees, acceptances and
other financial facilities
Total

4.5

1 year
$
45,521,020

1-5 years Over 5 years
$
$
268,532
147,988

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Total
$
45,937,540

688,008

-

-

688,008

46,209,028

268,532

147,988

46,625,548

65,917,412

884,095

-

66,801,507

173,008

-

-

173,008

66,090,420

884,095

-

66,974,515

Operational risk

Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of
transaction;
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
Documentation of controls and procedures;
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and
procedures to address the risks identified;
Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
Development of contingency plans;
Training and development;
Ethical and business standards; and
Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective.

Compliance with the Bank’s standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by
Internal Audit, which reports direct to the Audit Committee.
5.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its
non-performance risk. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of
financial instruments.
The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and due to
other banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature.

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market, and liquidity risks - e.g. those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5.

5.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(i)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and
advances represent the discounted amount of estimated future cash flow expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rate to determine fair value.

Carrying amount
2018
2017
$
$

Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions.
Where observable market transactions are not available, fair value is estimated using valuation
models such as discounted cash flow techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes the
expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or secondary
market spreads. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair value is measured based on the
underlying collateral. Input into the models may include data from third party brokers and
information obtained from other market participants, which includes observed primary and
secondary transactions. To improve the accuracy of the valuation estimates, loans are grouped into
portfolios with similar characteristics such as the quality of collateral, repayment and delinquency
rates.
(ii)

-

Prior to January 1, 2018, the investment securities were classified per IAS 39. The categories are
explained in Note 3(e)(ii).

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and
liabilities not presented on the Bank’s statement of financial position at their fair value:

-

Financial liabilities
Due to customers:
- Time deposits
- Savings accounts
- Demand accounts

-

Investment securities
Investment securities include only interest-bearing debt assets at amortised cost and FVOCI; assets
classified as FVOCI are measured at fair value except for unlisted equity securities which are carried
at cost. The fair value of equity securities carried at cost is not disclosed as it cannot be reliably
estimated (Note 13). The fair value for amortised cost assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer
price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market
prices for securities with similar credit maturity and yield characteristics.

(iii) Due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date are at rates which
reflect market conditions and are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values.

-

Financial assets
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers:
Overdrafts
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages
Credit cards
Investment securities:
- Treasury bills
- Debt instruments at amortised
costs
Held to maturity

Fair value
2018
$

2017
$

28,003,720

23,971,139
53,739,498

28,003,720

23,971,139
53,739,498

10,980,992
316,103,997
8,294,196
164,564,856
2,163,104

13,321,624
216,532,407
7,158,139
145,859,115
1,968,015

10,980,992
312,846,970
9,699,007
163,263,212
2,163,104

13,321,624
238,588,095
8,453,237
140,173,943
1,968,015

36,422,936

31,733,399

36,422,936

31,733,399

77,247,306
-

43,935,610

74,629,356
-

42,766,795

153,044,073
388,434,952
103,697,104

148,855,290
353,749,692
78,351,763

150,830,197
388,434,952
103,697,104

146,835,996
353,749,692
78,351,763

Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.
These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
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•

Level 1 - Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments. This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.

•

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using:
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar
79
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5.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

5.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy (cont’d)

5.2

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

•

5.1

Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (not based on observable market data). This category includes
all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between instruments.

Assets measured at fair value
Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

December 31, 2018
Investment securities
- Debt instruments at FVOCI
- Equity instruments at FVOCI

33,238,509
-

2,932,180

-

33,238,509
2,932,180

Total assets

33,238,509

2,932,180

-

36,170,689

December 31, 2017
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

22,412,529
-

4,133,446
1,831,720

-

26,545,975
1,831,720

Total assets

22,412,529

5,965,166

-

28,377,695

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value, and analyses
them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized.

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total fair
values
$

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debt instruments at amortised cost

-

57,859,437
36,422,936
28,003,720
498,953,285
74,629,356

-

57,859,437
36,422,936
28,003,720
498,953,285
74,629,356

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

-

642,962,252
23,368,014
1,362,199,000
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57,859,437
36,422,936
28,003,720
502,107,145
77,247,306

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Held to maturity investment securities
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

152 1st

Total
carrying
amounts
$

- 642,962,252 645,176,129
23,368,014
23,368,014
- 1,362,199,000 1,370,184,687
Total
carrying
amounts
$

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total fair
values
$

-

78,896,834
31,733,399
53,739,498

-

78,896,834
31,733,399
53,739,498

78,896,834
31,733,399
53,739,498

-

23,971,139
402,504,914
42,766,795

-

23,971,139
402,504,914
42,766,795

23,971,139
384,839,300
43,935,610

-

578,937,450
5,220,816
1,217,770,845

81

- 578,937,450 580,956,745
5,220,816
5,220,816
- 1,217,770,845 1,203,293,341
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6.

6.

Capital management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of
the statement of financial position, are:

•

to comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

•

to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•

to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (“the
Central Bank”) for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Central Bank on a
quarterly basis.
The Central Bank requires every bank within its regulatory jurisdiction to: (a) hold the minimum level of
paid up capital of $20,000,000, and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets
(the “Basel ratio”) at or above the minimum indicated in the prudential guidelines.

Capital management (cont’d)
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. During those two years, the Bank complied with all of the externally
imposed capital requirements.

Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Retained earnings
Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

2018
$
20,000,000
10,666,264
51,479,921
82,146,185

2017
$
20,000,000
8,680,478
48,160,670
76,841,148

Tier 2 capital
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve – FVOCI (2017: AFS) investments
Revaluation reserve – property and equipment
Total qualifying Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

9,570,810
(214,191)
1,427,166
10,783,785
92,929,970

3,217,260
945,363
3,708,673
7,871,296
84,712,444

487,745,900
9,388,000
497,133,900

382,945,100
13,074,600
396,019,700

Capital adequacy ratio - required
Capital adequacy ratio - actual

8%
17%

8%
19%

Basel ratio - required
Basel ratio - actual

8%
19%

8%
21%

The Bank’s regulatory capital, as managed by management, is divided into two tiers:

•

Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained
earnings.

•

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealized
gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according
to t e nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated it
eac asset
and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for
off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential
losses.

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet
Total risk-weighted assets

The capital adequacy ratio is calculated as total qualifying Tier 1 capital divided by total risk-weighted
assets. The Basel ratio is calculated as total regulatory capital divided by total risk-weighted assets. It is in
compliance with the Banking Act.
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7.

Cash and balances with Central Bank

10.

Cash in hand
Balances with Central Bank other than mandatory reserve
deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 16)
Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank

2018
$
14,277,365

2017
$
13,711,357

5,366,377
19,643,742

9,770,191
23,481,548

38,215,695
57,859,437

55,415,286
78,896,834

8.

Due from other banks

Items in the course of collection from other banks
Placements with other banks
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 16)

2018
$
3,784,173
24,219,547
28,003,720

2017
$
(4,576,773)
58,316,271
53,739,498

The weighted average effective interest rate in respect of interest bearing deposits at December 31, 2018
was 1.3% (2017 - 0.1%).
9.

2018
$
-

Reverse repos (Note 13)

Allowance account for losses on loans and advances to financial institutions as at December 31, 2018 and
2017 was nil.
11.

Loans and advances to customers

Overdrafts
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages
Credit cards
Less: Deferred fees
Less: Interest earned not collected
Less: Impairment allowance on loans and advances (Note 12)

Treasury bills
2018
$
36,422,936

Treasury bills (Note 13)

2017
$
31,733,399

The Bank has invested in treasury bills issued by the Government of Saint Lucia. The weighted average
effective interest rate of the treasury bills in 2018 was 3.61% (2017 – 4.64%). All treasury bills have fixed
interest rates, and they mature within one year of the end of the financial year.

2017
$
23,971,139

Reverse repos are securities that have been purchased under agreements to resell. The weighted average
effective interest rate of the reverse repos in 2018 was nil (2017 - 2.46%). Reverse repos mature within one
year. These investments were transferred to debt instruments at amortised cost from January 1, 2018.

The Bank is required to maintain in cash and deposits with the Central Bank, reserve balances in relation
to the deposit liabilities of the institution.
Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The balances
with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

Loans and advances to financial institutions

Current
Non-current

2018
$
13,796,014
329,812,450
11,428,663
172,749,497
2,635,005
530,421,629
(2,058,076)

2017
$
13,575,647
232,124,882
9,552,118
155,373,512
1,968,015
412,594,174
(1,482,115)

(2,354,309)
526,009,244
(23,902,099)

(2,017,012)
409,095,047
(24,255,747)

502,107,145

384,839,300

24,047,785
478,059,360

34,064,680
350,774,620

502,107,145

384,839,300

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans measured at amortised cost at December
31, 2018 was 6.93% (2017 - 7.68%) and the rate on productive overdrafts measured at amortised cost was
10.34% (2017 - 10.24%).

The December 31, 2018 balance includes ECL of $68,316 (2017: nil).
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

12.

12.

Provision for impairment of loans and advances
Reconciliation of the allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:
Credit
Cards

Overdraft
$
254,023

Balance at January 1, 2018
Effect of adopting IFRS 9 at January 1,
2018
Provision for ECL (Note 30)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2018
Balance at January 1, 2017
Provision for loan impairment (Note 30)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2017

-

Demand Promissory
Loans
Notes
$
$
14,440,290
532,053

Provision for impairment of loans and advances (cont’d)
A breakdown of the staging of advances and the related ECLs for loans and advances is illustrated below
(cont’d)

Mortgage
$
9,029,381

Total
$
24,255,747

1,110,581
1,450,418
2,815,022

806,717 (2,929,043)
(334,817)
876,483
(227,186)
471,900 12,160,544

12,880 (2,799,266) (3,798,131)
254,327
2,620,621
4,867,032
- (1,195,363) (1,422,549)
799,260
7,655,373 23,902,099

226,466
27,557
254,023

- 14,384,424
4,792,162
- (4,736,296)
- 14,440,290

420,171
9,516,839 24,547,900
175,295
2,703,279
7,698,293
(63,413) (3,190,737) (7,990,446)
532,053
9,029,381 24,255,747

Demand
$

Mortgages
$

Promissory
Notes
$

Overdrafts
$

Credit
Cards
$

Total
$

230,262,956
(751,252)

154,888,494
(181,458)

8,399,935
(150,177)

13,575,647
(417,864)

1,968,015
(86,307)

409,095,047
(1,587,058)

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL

(1,902,358)

(1,198,953)

(50,860)

(519,802)

(243,317)

(3,915,290)

Stage 3: Credit impaired

(8,834,916)

(4,849,703)

(343,896)

(449,660)

(477,094)

(14,955,269)

218,774,429

148,658,380

7,855,001

12,188,321

1,161,297

388,637,430

751,252

181,458

150,177

417,864

86,307

1,587,058

596,301

97,286

77,825

548,829

162,206

1,482,447

1,347,553

278,744

228,002

966,693

248,512

3,069,504

1,902,358

1,198,953

50,860

519,802

243,317

3,915,290

Loans, repayments, etc.

1,618,294

1,721,455

124,990

(340,430)

(88,935)

3,035,374

As at December 31, 2018

3,520,652

2,920,408

175,850

179,372

154,381

6,950,664

8,834,916

4,849,703

343,896

449,660

477,094

14,955,269

(1,625,096)

801,879

51,512

1,529,003

(408,086)

349,212

Charge-offs and write-offs

(227,186)

(1,195,363)

-

-

-

(1,422,549)

As at December 31, 2018

6,982,634

4,456,219

395,408

1,978,663

69,008

13,881,932

11,850,841

7,655,370

799,260

3,124,728

471,900

23,902,099

Gross loans as at January 1, 2018
Stage 1: 12 month ECL

Financial assets - lifetime ECL
Stage 1: 12 month ECL
ECL allowance as at:

The total impairment provision for loans and advances to customers is $23,902,099 (2017 - $24,255,747)
of which $13,881,933 (2017 - $16,827,524) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining
amount of $10,020,166 (2017 - $7,428,223) represents the general portfolio provision.

January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9
Credit loss movements, new
Loans, repayments, etc.
As at December 31, 2018

A breakdown of the staging of advances and the related ECLs for loans and advances is illustrated below:
Demand
$

Mortgages

Promissory
Notes

Overdrafts

Credit
Cards

Total

$

$

$

$

$

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
ECL allowance as at:
January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9

December 31, 2018
Net loans before provision
Stage 1: 12 month ECL

327,954,837
(1,347,553)

172,220,226

9,093,457

14,105,720

2,635,004

526,009,244

(278,744)

(228,002)

(966,693)

(248,512)

(3,069,504)

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
Stage 3: Credit Impaired

(3,520,652)
(6,982,635)

(2,920,408)
(4,456,218)

(175,850)
(395,409)

(179,372)
(1,978,663)

(154,381)
(69,007)

(6,950,663)
(13,881,932)

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL

Financial Assets - Lifetime ECL

316,103,998

164,564,856

8,294,196

10,980,992

2,163,104

502,107,145

ECL allowance as at:

Credit loss movements, new

January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9

Demand

Mortgages

Promissory

Overdrafts

Credit
Cards

Total

January 1, 2018
Gross loans and advances
Allowance for ECL
Net advances

158 1st

230,262,956

154,888,494

8,399,935

13,575,647

1,968,015

409,095,047

(11,488,527)
218,774,429

(6,230,114)
148,658,380

(544,933)
7,855,002

(1,387,326)
12,188,321

(806,717)
1,161,298

(20,457,617)
388,637,430
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

13.

Investment securities
2018
$
2,932,180
2,273,588
5,205,768

2017
$
-

Total securities: FVOCI

33,279,104
(40,595)
33,238,509
38,444,277

-

Amortised cost
Debt securities - Listed
Debt securities - Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
Total securities: amortised cost

48,756,995
28,788,073
(297,762)
77,247,306

-

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Equity securities – Listed
Equity securities – Unlisted

Debt securities - Listed
Debt securities - Unlisted
Allowance for impairment

Equity securities - Listed
Equity securities - Unlisted

-

1,544,588
4,451,308

Total securities: available-for-sale

-

22,412,529
3,575,618
(193,764)
25,794,383
30,245,691

Held-to-maturity
Debt securities - at amortised cost
- Listed
- Unlisted
Total securities: held-to-maturity

-

34,962,073
8,973,537
43,935,610

Total investment securities

115,691,583

74,181,301

Current
Non-current

86,051,608
29,639,975
115,691,583

50,318,383
23,862,918
74,181,301

Debt securities - at fair value
- Listed
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment

Unlisted equity securities totaling $2,273,588 (2017: $1,544,588) are carried at cost. The Bank is unable to
reliably measure the fair value of these equity securities since the shares are not traded in an active market
and the future cash flows relating to the securities cannot be reliably estimated. These securities were
previously classified as available-for-sale. Effective January 1, 2018, these were transferred to equity
securities designated as at FVOCI.
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate on debt securities stated at amortised cost at December 31, 2018
was nil (2017 - 5.06%).

13.

Investment securities (cont’d)
2018
$
-

Available-for sale
160 1st
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2017
$
2,906,720
89
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33,703,060
11,816,140
(1,583,590)
43,935,610

-

-

(43,935,610)
-

43,935,610

For the year ended December 31, 2018

10,207,001
22,212,237
(2,442,231)
290,938
(22,254)
30,245,691

Investment securities (cont’d)
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s
credit rating system and year end stage classification for investments.

-

-

-

13.

Stage 1

$
December 31, 2018
Gross exposure
ECL

152,521,191
(406,673)

–
–

–
–

152,521,191
(406,673)

Net exposure

152,114,517

–

–

152,114,517

14,924
36,422,936

-

48,696
77,247,306

-

(1,159,554)
1,787
38,444,277

90

13,255,127
(8,497,274)
18,665,144
(12,336,170)

Stage 1

January 1, 2018
Gross exposure
ECL
Net exposure

Lifetime ECL

Total

$

$

Stage 3
Credit Impaired
Financial Assets

$

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
$

129,885,837
(472,079)
129,413,758

–
–
–

–
–
–

129,885,837
(472,079)
129,413,758

472,079
–

–
–

–
–

472,079
–

200,447

–

–

200,447

(265,853)
406,673

–
–

–
–

(265,853)
406,673

12 Month ECL

-

Stage 3
Credit Impaired
Financial Assets

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
$

12 Month ECL

13,608,511
(1,094,195)

(83,240) (23,971,139) (30,245,691)
31,650,159
70,869,636
70,869,636
27,087,728
27,087,728

-

-

31,733,399

23,971,139

30,245,691

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Lifetime ECL

Total

$

$

At January 1, 2017
Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Gain from changes in fair value
Loss on disposal
At December 31, 2017

Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Loss from changes in fair value (debt
FVOCI securities)
Loss on disposal
Allowance for expected credit losses
At December 31, 2018

ECL allowance as at January 1, 2018

At January 1, 2018
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at January 1,
2018
Restated balance at January 1, 2018

Amortised
cost
Fair value
through OCI

The movements in investment securities financial assets during the year are as follows:

Investment securities (cont’d)

Notes to the Financial Statements

under IFRS 9
Translation adjustments
ECL on new instruments issued during
the year
Other credit loss movements,
Repayments and maturities
At December 31, 2018

The gross exposure and ECL balance as at December 31, 2018 above includes investment securities of
$115,691,583 [ECL - $338,357] as included in Note 13 and treasury bills of $36,422,936 [ECL - $68,316] as
included in Note 9.

13.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

Treasury
Bills

Loans to
Financial
Institutions

AvailableFor-sale

Held-tomaturity
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

14.

14.

Property and equipment
Land and
building
$

Furniture
and
Fixtures
$

The historical cost of land and buildings are:

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicles
$

Work in
progress
$

630,166
153,712

2,646,981
1,307,096

198,811
-

96,511
2,026,340

(531,724)
17,420
460,214
(576,422)

-

95,107
554,310
(338,727)

(39,259)
29,434
(69,560)

(36,313)

(112,527)
-

12,854,092
3,592,639
(2,829,142)
(570,983)
489,648
554,310
(1,021,022)

6,868,662

704,493

3,323,565

162,498

2,010,324

13,069,542

Total
$

Year ended December 31, 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions
Revaluation adjustment
Disposals
Transfers
Depreciation on disposals
Revaluation adjustment
Depreciation (Note 27)
Closing net book amount
At December 31, 2018
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Adjustment for cost written off
Depreciation on disposals
Adjustment for depreciation
written off
Depreciation (Note 27)
Closing net book amount
At December 31, 2017
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

164 1st

9,281,623
105,491
(2,829,142)

9,562,023
(2,693,361)
6,868,662

9,572,995
62,978
(354,350)
9,281,623

12,190,567
(2,908,944)
9,281,623

National Bank Annual Report 2018

1,580,908

9,701,052

285,000

2,010,324

(876,415) (6,377,487)

(122,502)

704,493

162,498

638,356
61,027
(12,476)
9,339

3,323,565

2,010,324

2,611,454
425,456
(163,977)
(468,962)
124,707

25,987
199,000

(66,080)

559,201
(440,898)

(26,176)

630,166

2,646,981

198,811

1,466,455
8,908,260
(836,289) (6,261,279)
630,166

92

2,646,981

-

-

23,139,307
(10,069,765)
13,069,542

68,227
28,284
-

12,917,019
776,745
(176,453)
(468,962)
134,046

-

559,201
(887,504)

96,511

Property and equipment (cont’d)

Cost
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost
Depreciated historical cost
Valuation techniques

Significant
inputs

Market based approach:
The approach is based on the
principle
of
substitution
whereby the purchaser with
perfect knowledge of the
property market pays no more
for the subject property than the
cost of acquiring an existing
comparable property, assuming
no cost delay in making the
substitution.

•
•
•

2018
$
6,640,276
(3,531,991)
3,108,285

2017
$
6,590,171
(3,457,749)
3,132,422

unobservable Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement
Details
of
sales
of The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if:
comparable properties.
Conditions influencing the • Sale value of comparable
properties
were
sale of the comparable
higher/(lower)
properties.
• Comparability adjustment
Comparability adjustment.
were added/ (deducted).

The
approach
requires
comparison of the subject
property with others of inter alia
similar design and utility, which
were sold in the recent past.
However, as no two properties
are exactly alike, adjustment is
made for the difference between
property subject to valuation
and comparable properties.

12,854,092

285,000
(86,189)

96,511
-

22,946,793
(10,092,701)

198,811

96,511

12,854,092

The Bank’s lands and buildings located in Castries and Vieux Fort were revalued by EMC Ltd in
December 2018. The Managing Valuer is Mr. Egbert L Louis who is a RICS Register Valuer, Fellow of
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (FRICS), Member of Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
(MCIArb).
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

15.

17.

Intangible assets

Other assets

Software
$
Year ended December 31, 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions for the year
Adjustment for cost written off
Adjustment for depreciation written off
Amortization (Note 26)
Closing net book amount

531,863
233,029
(150,610)
614,282

As at December 31, 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Accounts receivable
Inventories of stationery and supplies
Deferred expenditure
Prepayments

18.

3,329,721
(2,715,439)
614,282

Year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book amount
Additions for the year
Adjustment for cost written off
Adjustment for depreciation written off
Amortization (Note 26)
Closing net book amount
As at December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Interest payable

Current
Non-current

3,096,692
(2,564,829)
531,863

2017
$
5,134,489
277,773
2,476,539
7,888,801

2018
$
151,851,703
388,434,945
103,695,704
643,982,352
1,193,777
645,176,129

2017
$
147,401,650
353,749,685
78,351,585
579,502,920
1,453,825
580,956,745

644,960,912
215,217
645,176,129

580,845,143
111,602
580,956,745

Due to customers

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Demand amounts

682,468
99,478
464,024
(558,670)
(155,437)
531,863

2018
$
5,554,989
246,810
521,911
1,732,045
8,055,755

All deposits bear fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at December 31, 2018 was 1.86%
(2017 - 1.96%).

16.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following
balances with less than 3 months maturity:
2018
$
19,643,742
28,003,720
47,647,462

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 7)
Due from other banks (Note 8)

166 1st
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2017
$
23,481,548
53,739,498
77,221,046

19.

Other liabilities
2018
$
8,797,683
13,710,072
860,259
23,368,014

Manager’s cheques outstanding
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Dividends payable on ordinary shares

95

2017
$
1,397,803
3,114,929
708,084
5,220,816
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

20.

21.

Provisions
2018
$
39,131
39,131

Provision for undrawn loan commitments

2017
$
-

The Bank is required to allocate a provision for expected credit losses related to loan commitments issued
as a result of the implementation of IFRS 9. There was no such provision in the previous year.
21.

Defined benefit asset
Net Asset in Statement of Financial Position
The amount recognized in the statement of financial position at the reporting date is determined as
follows:
2018
$
4,918,000
(7,661,000)
(2,743,000)

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefit asset

2017
$
4,445,000
(6,991,000)
(2,546,000)

Defined benefit asset (cont’d)
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period was
10.4 years (2017 - 11.0 years). 99% (2017 - 99%) of the benefits for active members are vested. 17%
(2017 - 20%) of the defined benefit obligation for active members is conditional on future salary
increases.
Movement in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of Plan Assets at start of year
Interest income
Return on Plan Assets, excluding interest income
Bank’s contributions
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Actual return on plan assets

Defined benefit obligation at start of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Experience adjustments
Benefits paid
Defined benefit obligation at end of year

2017
$
4,174,000
123,000
291,000
56,000
(153,000)
(46,000)
4,445,000

168 1st

Active members
Deferred members
Pensioners
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10%
8%
96

2018
$
850,000
5,522,000
1,134,000
155,000
7,661,000

2017
$
850,000
5,612,000
501,000
28,000
6,991,000

Locally listed equities
Government issued bonds
Corporate Bonds
Treasury Bills
Cash and cash equivalents
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

All asset values as at 31 December 2018 were provided by the Bank. Government bonds have been
calculated on fair value basis.
The Plan’s assets are invested in a strategy agreed with the Plan’s Trustees, which is largely driven by
the statutory constraints and asset availability. There are no asset-liability matching strategies used by
the Plan.

The defined benefit obligation is allocated between the Plan’s members as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

2017
$
6,108,000
434,000
259,000
180,000
56,000
(46,000)
6,991,000
693,000

Allocation of plan assets

Movement in defined benefit obligations
2018
$
4,445,000
135,000
309,000
65,000
20,000
(56,000)
4,918,000

2018
$
6,991,000
496,000
(31,000)
196,000
65,000
(56,000)
7,661,000
465,000

81%
10%
9%
97
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

21.

21.

Defined benefit asset (cont’d)

Summary of principal actuarial assumptions as at December 31 (cont’d)
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The life expectancies
underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Income
2018
$
135,000
(187,000)
(52,000)

Current service cost
Net interest on net defined benefit asset
Net pension income (Note 29)

2017
$
123,000
(143,000)
(20,000)

Re-measurements recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
2018
$
51,000

Experience losses/(gains)

2017
$
(412,000)

Net defined benefit asset at January 1
Unrecognized gain charged to retained earnings
Opening defined benefit asset
Net pension (income)/expense
Re-measurements recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Bank contributions paid
Net defined benefit asset at December 31

2017
$
(1,934,000)
(1,934,000)
(20,000)
(412,000)
(180,000)
(2,546,000)

2018
%
7
2
0
4

2017
%
7
2
0
4

21.0
25.1

21.0
25.1

Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
- Male
- Female

21.4
25.4

21.4
25.4

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following
table summarizes how the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2018 would have changed as a
result of a change in assumptions used.
1% p.a.
1% p.a.
decrease
increase
- Discount rate
521,000
(437,000)
- Future salary increases
(260,000)
315,000
An increase of 1 year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would have increased the defined
benefit obligation at December 31, 2018 by $51,000 (2017 - $45,000).
Funding
The Bank meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit pension plan and the Bank must
pay contributions at least equal to those paid by members, which are fixed. The funding requirements
are based on regular (at least every 4 years) actuarial valuations of the Plan and the assumptions used to
determine the funding required may differ from those set out above. The Bank expects to pay $197,000
(2017 - $190,000) to the Pension Plan during 2019.

Summary of principal actuarial assumptions as at December 31

Discount rate
Future NIC earnings increases
Future Pension increases
Future salary increases

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years
- Male
- Female

Sensitivity analysis

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position amounts
2018
$
(2,546,000)
(2,546,000)
(52,000)
51,000
(196,000)
(2,743,000)

Defined benefit asset (cont’d)

22.

Deferred income tax liability
Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences between amounts for financial reporting
purposes and those for tax purposes, using a principal tax rate of 30%.
2018
$
(797,594)
488,195
(309,399)

At beginning of year
Recovery/(Charge) for the year (Note 31)
Deferred income tax liability at end of year
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2017
$
(643,466)
(154,128)
(797,594)
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22.

24.

Deferred income tax liability (cont’d)

Reserves

The deferred income tax liability comprises the following temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances
Defined benefit asset
Deferred tax liability at income tax rate of 30%

2018
$
1,711,670
(2,743,000)
(1,031,330)
(309,399)

2017
$
(112,646)
(2,546,000)
(2,658,646)
(797,594)

Statutory reserve
Revaluation reserve - property and equipment
Revaluation reserve for interest on non-performing loans
Revaluation reserve for loan impairment
Revaluation reserve – investment securities

2018
$
10,666,264
1,427,166
4,563,142
5,007,668
(214,191)
21,450,049

2017
$
8,680,478
3,708,673
3,217,260
945,363
16,551,774

Statutory reserve
23.

Authorized:
7,000,000 ordinary shares of no
par value
Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of year
Bonus Share Issue
New Share Issue
Transfer from retained earnings
At end of year

No. of
Shares

2018
$

No. of
Shares

2017
$

6,372,452
6,372,452
6,372,452

20,000,000
20,000,000
20,000,000

4,999,966
999,994
372,492
6,372,452
6,372,452

7,971,454
3,000,000
3,724,920
14,696,374
5,303,626
20,000,000

In accordance with the provisions of Section 44 (1)(a) of the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 3 of 2015,
the Bank is required to hold a minimum level of paid up capital of $20,000,000. During 2017, in order
to be in compliance with this requirement, the Bank temporarily transferred an amount of $12,028,546
from retained earnings to paid-up capital. $3,000,000 of this amount was issued as bonus shares on
September 1, 2017, giving each existing shareholder one share for every five shares held.
Further to this, the Bank sought and received approval from shareholders at a Special Meeting dated
December 17, 2016 to pursue an additional public offering (‘APO’) of 1,000,000 shares at $10.00 per
share to augment its capital base. At the same time, shareholders also approved the transfer of $9,028,546
from paid up capital back to retained earnings upon the sale of these 1,000,000 shares.
During 2017, 372,492 shares, equating to capital of $3,724,920 were sold over the subscription period
of September 4th to November 13th 2017. However, 627,508 shares currently remain unsubscribed
further to the completion of the process. A plan to address these shares has been agreed by the Board of
Directors and will be tabled at a special meeting of shareholders during the 2019 financial year.
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2018
$
8,680,478
1,985,786
10,666,264

Share capital
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Balance at beginning of year
Transfer from profit after taxation
Balance at end of year

2017
$
7,971,454
709,024
8,680,478

Section 45 (1) of the Banking Act #3 of 2015, which was enacted in November 2015, requires all
banks to maintain a reserve fund - Every licensed financial institution shall maintain a reserve fund and
shall, out of its net profits of each year, transfer to that fund a sum equal to not less than twenty per cent
of profits whenever the amount of the reserve fund is less than a hundred per cent of the paid-up or,
as the case may be, assigned capital of the licensed financial institution.
Revaluation reserve - Property and equipment

Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation transfer
Decline in reserve due to revaluation of land and buildings
Balance at end of year

2018
$
3,708,673
(6,675)
(2,274,832)
1,427,166

2017
$
3,715,427
(6,754)
3,708,673

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property and equipment above its previous
carrying amount. The Bank transfers a portion of the reserve to retained earnings annually as the asset
is used by the Bank. The value of the transfer is the difference between depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
Any declines in value upon revaluation are initially applied to the existing reserve amount and any
amounts in excess are taken to profit or loss.
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24.

Reserves (cont’d)
25.

Net interest income

Revaluation reserve for interest on non-performing loans

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) in reserve for regulatory purposes
Balance at end of year

2018
$
3,217,260
1,345,882
4,563,142

2017
$
4,382,764
(1,165,504)
3,217,260

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities

This reserve is created to set aside interest accrued on non-performing loans where certain conditions are
met in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank, however, does not allow for the accrual of such interest. The interest is therefore set aside in a
reserve and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.

Interest expense and similar charges
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Demand deposits

Reserve for loan impairment

Balance at beginning of year
Increase/(decrease) in reserve for regulatory purposes
Balance at end of year

2018
$
5,007,668
5,007,668

2017
$
1,216,353
(1,216,353)
-

Net interest income

26.

This reserve is created to set aside the amount by which the loan loss provision calculated under the
Prudential Guidelines of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank exceeds the loan loss provision
calculated in accordance with IFRS 9 (2017: IAS 39). The excess is therefore set aside in a reserve
and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.

Balance at beginning of year
(Decrease)/Increase in market value of FVOCI (2017: AFS)
securities
Balance at end of year

2018
$
945,363

2017
$
654,425

(1,159,554)
(214,191)

290,938
945,363

At the end of 2017, this reserve comprised the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-forsale financial assets until the assets were derecognized or impaired. For the financial year commencing
January 1, 2018, this reserve comprises the fair value reserve related to financial assets measured at
FVOCI.
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27.

2017
$

31,972,028
430,645
5,938,522
38,341,195

28,195,419
270,829
4,493,882
32,960,130

2,663,665
8,201,934
131,474
10,997,073
27,344,122

3,612,588
7,308,168
74,475
10,995,231
21,964,899

2018
$
6,706,259
3,483,712
(79,985)
2,831,717
162,243
13,103,946

2017
$
6,432,615
3,754,423
(42,192)
(22,254)
559,995
226,582
10,909,169

2018
$
10,712,464
8,748,325
1,171,632
1,249,389
21,881,810

2017
$
10,522,509
7,634,481
1,042,941
1,111,093
20,311,024

Other operating income

Commission and other income
Foreign exchange
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Loss on disposal of investment
Fee income
Dividend income

Revaluation reserve - FVOCI securities (2018) & Available-for-sale securities (2017)

2018
$

Other expenses

Administrative expenses (Note 28)
Staff costs (Note 29)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 14 and 15)
Operating lease rental
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28.

Administrative expenses

31.

Card services expense
Computer expense
Other operating expenses
Postage, telephone and telexes
Security expenses
Utilities
Repairs and maintenance
Advertising
Other professional fees
Bank charges
Directors’ fees and expenses
Stationery
Audit fees
Insurance
Bank license
Rates and taxes
Total administrative expenses

29.

2018
$
2,156,412
1,530,674
1,234,803
815,718
506,792
606,404
502,870
702,981
757,972
793,657
248,481
235,972
203,424
185,988
200,000
30,316
10,712,464

2017
$
1,746,166
1,013,296
1,132,325
709,115
580,879
543,540
589,633
199,574
2,102,146
696,159
328,983
233,953
236,783
172,001
200,000
37,956
10,522,509

2018
$
7,225,393
1,283,487
291,445
(52,000)
8,748,325

2017
$
6,191,999
1,202,436
260,046
(20,000)
7,634,481

Income tax expense
2018
$
4,401,598
(488,195)
3,913,403

Current tax
Deferred tax (recovery)/charge (Note 22)

Tax on the Bank’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the statutory tax rate of 30% (2017 - 30%) as follows:
2018
$
13,842,333
4,152,700
(1,888,764)
2,617,174
(967,707)
3,913,403

Profit before income tax
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 30%
Tax effect of exempt income
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax incentives

Effective tax rate

32.

28.3%

27.1%

2018
$
6,372,452
9,928,930

2017
$
5,410,030
3,545,122

1.56

0.66

Earnings per share

Weighted average no. of shares
Profit for the year
Earnings per share

Impairment losses

Impairment losses from loans and advances (Note 12)
Recovery of impairment on investments (Note 13)
Recovery of impairment on undrawn loan commitments
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2017
$
4,864,751
1,459,425
(1,657,617)
1,662,571
(144,750)
1,319,629

Staff costs

Salaries and wages
Other employee benefits
Social security costs
Pension income (Note 21)

30.

2017
$
1,165,501
154,128
1,319,629
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2018
$
4,867,032
(65,407)
(77,700)
4,723,925

2017
$
7,698,293
7,698,293
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32.

34.

Earnings per share (cont’d)
Basic and diluted

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

Earnings per share of $1.56 (2017: $0.66) for the year ended December 31, 2018 is calculated by dividing
the net profit for the year attributable to shareholders of $9,928,930 (2017: $3,545,122) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year of 6,372,452 (2017 - 5,410,030). The weighted
average number of shares for the year is calculated as follows:
2018
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year
Effect of shares issued during the year – bonus issue
Effect of shares issued during the year – APO
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year
33.

34.

Related party balances and transactions (cont’d)

6,372,452
6,372,452

2017
4,999,966
331,507
78,557
5,410,030

Dividends

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Bank
or an entity related to the Bank.
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the Bank or is a member of the
key management personnel of the Bank (or of a parent of the Bank).
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides key management
personnel services to the Bank or its parent.
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

During the year, a total of $1,274,490 (2017- $549,996) representing $0.20 per share, was appropriated
from retained earnings relating to dividends declared in respect of the year ended December 31, 2017.
As at December 31, 2018, $1,122,315 (2017 - $518,440) of this amount had been paid.

The related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year-end and related expenses and income for
the year are as follows:

The dividend proposed in respect of the 2018 financial year end is $1,593,113
for unit
eachof
unit
of up
paid
up
$0.25 for each
paid
share
share
or EC$0.25.The
Thefinancial
financial
statements
ended
December
31, 2018
not
capital,capital,
or EC$1,593,113.
statements
for for
the the
yearyear
ended
December
31, 2018
do notdo
reflect
reflect
this proposed
dividend
which,
if ratified,
will be accounted
for inasequity
as an appropriation
of
this
proposed
dividend
which, if
ratified,
will be accounted
for in equity
an appropriation
of retained
retained earnings
the year
ending December
31, Board
2019. also
The proposed
Board also
proposed a of
distribution
of
earnings
in the yearinending
December
31, 2019. The
a distribution
shares in lieu
shares
in dividend
lieu of a cash
dividend
at a ratio of 1:36.
of
a cash
at a ratio
of 1:36.

Loans and advances to Directors and related entities

Related party balances and transactions

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans (repaid)/issued during the year
Loans outstanding at end of year
Interest income earned

Related party definition
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Bank.
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Bank if that person:

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank or of a parent of the Bank.
(b) An entity is related to the Bank if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the Bank are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
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2017
$
4,381,897
164,586
4,546,483

90,067

250,684

Loans and advances to key management personnel
2018
$
3,229,612
(1,952,333)
1,277,279
158,317

(i) has control or joint control over the Bank;
(ii) has significant influence over the Bank; or

2018
$
4,546,483
(2,835,084)
1,711,399

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans repaid during the year
Loans outstanding at end of year
Interest income earned

2017
$
3,580,682
(351,070)
3,229,612
160,843

The loans and advances to directors and other key management personnel are secured over property of
the respective borrowers.
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34.

35.

Related party balances and transactions (cont’d)

Contingent liabilities and commitments

Loans and advances to key management personnel (cont’d)

Loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities

No specific allowance has been made for impairment losses on balances with directors or key
management personnel and their immediate relatives at the reporting date (2017: nil).

At December 31, 2018, the Bank had contractual off-balance sheet financial instruments in respect of (i)
commitments to extend credit to customers, (ii) guarantees, and (iii) other facilities, as follows:

Deposits from Directors and related entities

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits received/(withdrawals) during the year
Deposits outstanding at end of year
Interest expense on deposits

2018
$
7,545,516
171,650
7,717,166
73,150

2017
$
9,904,006
(2,358,490)
7,545,516
129,289

Undrawn loan commitments
Guarantees and standby letters of credit

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits received during the year
Deposits outstanding at end of year
Interest expense on deposits

2017
$
126,808
444,023
570,831
9,167

Key management personnel compensation

36.

Operating leases
The Bank leases a number of branches and other office facilities under operating leases. Lease payments
are renegotiated when the previous lease term has expired and typically run for a period of 5 years. Some
leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices. At the year
end, several operating lease agreements were under negotiation. At December 31, 2018 the future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were as follows:
2018
$
986,338
1,686,423
2,672,761

Key management personnel are those persons that have authority and responsibility for directly or
indirectly planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank.
2018
$
1,632,709
225,121
1,857,830

Salaries and other short-term benefits
Post and other employment benefits

2017
$
1,125,635
147,063
1,272,698

2017
$
66,801,507
173,008
66,974,515

A matter related to the Bank’s previous tax filings has been raised by the Inland Revenue Department of
Saint Lucia (IRD) and the Bank is currently in discussions with the IRD on the matter. The outcome is
subject to a final assessment by the IRD and cannot be determined at this stage. Accordingly, no
provisions have been made in these financial statements for any likely liability which may arise. Any
additional amounts due will be charged against income in the year in which they are determined.

Deposits from key management personnel
2018
$
570,831
706,449
1,277,280
102,518

2018
$
45,937,540
688,008
46,625,548

Within one year
Within two to five years

2017
$
1,111,093
3,099,296
4,210,389

At the end of the financial year, directors’ holding of shares totaled 64,796 (2017 - 65,546) or 1.02%
(2017 - 0.97%) of shares outstanding.
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